Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Planning, Housing and Economic

Development Policy Development
and Scrutiny Panel

Date: Tuesday, 6th November, 2018
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Kaposvar Room - Guildhall, Bath

Councillors:

Councillor Will Sandry
Councillor Barry Macrae
Councillor Rob Appleyard
Councillor Colin Blackburn
Councillor Lisa O'Brien
Councillor David Veale
Councillor Liz Richardson

Chief Executive and other appropriate officer
Press and Public

Mark Durnford
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG

Telephone: 01225 394458
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk




NOTES:
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows:

Council’'s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1

Paper copies are available for inspection at the Public Access points:- Reception: Civic
Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies - Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and
Midsomer Norton public libraries.

2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by
contacting as above.

3. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording
by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or
part of the meeting is to be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please
make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or guardians
before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to the camera
operator.

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

4. Public Speaking at Meetings

The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings.
They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. They may also
present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a group. They may also ask a question to which a
written answer will be given. Advance notice is required not less than two full working days
before the meeting. This means that for meetings held on Thursdays notice must be
received in Democratic Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday. Further details of the
scheme:

https://democracy.bathnes.qgov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942

5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted.
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.

6. Supplementary information for meetings
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505



https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505

Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel -
Tuesday, 6th November, 2018

at 2.00 pm in the Kaposvar Room - Guildhall, Bath

AGENDA

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

2. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out
under Note 6.

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to
indicate:

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.
(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN

6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS,
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF
THIS MEETING

At the time of publication no notifications had been received.

7. MINUTES - 11TH SEPTEMBER 2018 (Pages 7 - 28)



8. CABINET MEMBER UPDATE

The Cabinet Member(s) will update the Panel on any relevant issues. Panel members
may ask questions on the update(s) provided.

9. BANES NEW LOCAL PLAN OPTIONS CONSULTATION (Pages 29 - 218)

The review of the adopted Core Strategy/Placemaking Plan is now underway in order
to ensure the District’s policy framework is up-to-date and to reflect the requirements
of the West of England Joint Spatial Plan. The views of the Scrutiny Panel are sought
on the options to help inform the preparation of the draft Plan.

10. HOMELESSNESS & ROUGH SLEEPING (Pages 219 - 224)

The Council delivers support and assistance to people at risk of becoming homeless
and people who are homeless by commissioning services, developing effective
partnerships with the voluntary sector and having an effective Housing Options &
Homelessness Team. This report provides an update on these services including
some proposed enhancements.

11. PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 225 - 226)
This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel. Any suggestions for further

items or amendments to the current programme will be logged and scheduled in
consultation with the Panel’s Chair and supporting officers.

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Mark Durnford who can be contacted on
01225 394458.



Agenda Item 7
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET

PLANNING, HOUSING AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT POLICY DEVELOPMENT
AND SCRUTINY PANEL

Tuesday, 11th September, 2018

Present:- Councillors Will Sandry (Chair), Peter Turner (in place of Barry Macrae),
Rob Appleyard, Colin Blackburn, Lisa O'Brien, David Veale and Liz Richardson

Also in attendance: John Wilkinson (Director of Economy and Growth), Louise Davidson
(Team Manager (Enabling & Development)) and Richard Stott (Team Manager - Planning
& Enforcement)

11 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting.
12 EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chairman drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure.

13  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

Councillor Barry Macrae had sent his apologies to the Panel, Councillor Peter Turner
was present as his substitute for the duration of the meeting.

At the request of the Chairman, Councillor Liz Richardson acted as Vice-Chair for
the duration of the meeting.

14 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none.

15 TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN
There was none.

16 ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS,
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF
THIS MEETING

David Redgewell, South West Transport Network addressed the Panel. He spoke
about how consultation on the Joint Spatial Strategy was due to commence in
November and said that the Council should consider making representations
regarding public transport movements around new housing developments, bus
services in general and transport corridors.

16
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 5



He said that he was also concerned over possible rural transport cuts.
17 MINUTES - 3RD JULY 2018

The Panel confirmed the minutes of the previous meeting as a true record and they
were duly signed by the Chairman.

18 CABINET MEMBER UPDATE

Councillor Paul Myers, Cabinet Member for Economic and Community Regeneration
addressed the Panel, a summary of his update is set out below.

Broadband

e The Director for Economy & Growth informed the Panel that he was to attend
a meeting of the Connecting Devon & Somerset Board on 13t September to
find out the latest details of the project. He said that further information on the
rollout plan was available on Gigaclear’s website.

Housing

e The Cabinet approved the Additional HMO Licensing Scheme at its meeting
on 5t September 2018.

e Home Improvement Agency Contract - West of England Care and Repair
have been provisionally awarded the Bath and North East Somerset and
Bristol City Council Home Improvement Agency contract following an OJEU
procurement process. The contract supports older and vulnerable residents
undertake adaptations to assist independent living, carryout essential home
repairs and energy efficiency improvements and access funding for these.

e Funding of Supported Housing - In December 2017, the government
consulted nationally on proposals to change the way supported housing is
paid for. The outline proposal put forward included plans for all short term
accommodation to be commissioned by the local authority using a ring-fenced
pot under a Supported Housing Strategy and for all costs, including rent, to be
paid from this pot. Long term accommodation, such as sheltered housing for
older people, was to remain as currently, with Housing Benefit being claimed
where needed.

On reviewing the feedback from agencies and local authorities nationally, the
government announced that it intended to withdraw the proposals and to
retain the current structure for all supported housing. This means people in
short term supported housing will continue to claim Housing Benefit to pay
their rent. Many providers of supported housing have welcomed this
announcement, as the proposal was perceived as introducing an element of
uncertainty both for services already in place and any future service
developments.

17
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 6



Bath Enterprise Zone

e Bath Quays North - Delegated decision to approve granted by Planning
Committee 1st August 2018, subject to agreement of planning conditions and
s106.

e Development partner procurement progresses, with Final Tender submission
date set for mid-October.

e Bath Quays South - Strong market response received during soft marketing
phases for Council delivered commercial office. Commercial Estate
Investment SMD paper approved.

e Bath Quays Bridge - Tenders returned for works associated with BQS sub-
structure and river wall delivery, and steel tonnage order relating to super-
structure fabrication.

Economy & Culture

e We have received confirmation of a grant of £74,500 to promote
apprenticeships to B&NES residents and businesses.

e Business Growth team have been visiting the traders in and around Orange
Grove to understand the issues being faced due to the Abbey’s Archway
project, and providing business support solutions to overcome them.

e Business Growth team is now working with the WECA on the development of
the Local Industrial Strategy, which will set the strategic direction of the region
in terms of innovation and enterprise. It will also provide the basis of future
funding agreements with Government.

Heritage Services

e Heritage Services has made it through to the finals of the cross-sector
‘Finance for the Future’ awards.

Strategic Housing and Regeneration

e Somer Valley Enterprise Zone - Key Stakeholder Group (Ward and Parish
Member) meeting 21 August 2018 agreed that project team will arrange an
away day to visit similar sites and business centres to inform the vision for the
site;

» Jones Lang LaSalle Commercial Delivery Plan in progress, and will
present delivery options to the Steering Group in September and
November;

+ Consultation on mix of uses and site boundary to be co-ordinated with
New Local Plan public consultation in November 2018.

» Transport LEP outline business case submission in the Autumn.

18
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 7



e Market Towns

« MSN High Street Core: landowners and Regeneration working together
to influence vision for the area;

+ Keynsham High Street: Outline Business Case approved subject to
minor clarifications. Concept designs, further public consultation
and full business case to commence once next tranche of B&NES
capital funding approved by Officer Delegated Decision;

* Radstock Healthy Living Centre: NHS funding and B&NES Single
Member Decision confirmed enabling detailed design to commence.

Councillor Rob Appleyard asked how the £74,500 to promote apprenticeships will be
used.

The Director for Economy & Growth replied that the Council has good relationship
with the City of Bath College on this matter and will look to raise awareness through
other learning partnerships and industries.

Councillor Peter Turner thanked him for visiting the businesses within Orange Grove.
He asked if an update regarding rents had been progressed.

Councillor Paul Myers replied that discussions were ongoing with the Cabinet
Member for Finance and Efficiency, Councillor Charles Gerrish.

Councillor Bob Goodman, Cabinet Member for Development and Neighbourhoods
addressed the Panel, a summary of his update is set out below.

Joint Spatial Plan — Consultation will commence in October 2018 and it has been
agreed that the examination in public will take place after the Local Elections in May
2019.

Local Development Plan — Consulting on amendments in October 2018. Welcome
input from as many people as possible.

Housing Figures — The figures have increased considerably, 1,245 homes built

across the Council, an increase of 450 from the previous year. 220 of these are
affordable homes through 11 providers. The Council is fortunate to have current
brownfield sites.

Awards — The Living Waterways project has been nominated for an award. Highly
commend this achievement.

Councillor Colin Blackburn asked if he could give more of an overview of the housing
figures stated.

The Team Manager - Enabling & Development replied that 337 (mainly new build)
affordable housing units are forecast for completion in 2018/19 with 794 units in the
pipeline for completion in 2019/20 and beyond (obtained / expecting planning
permission)

19

Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 8



She explained that the affordable homes cannot be delivered as a result of all
housing permissions and are not delivered in line with open market completions, so
a direct percentage comparison of delivery against total completions in any one year
is an inaccurate reflection of performance.

She added these completions were almost all occurring across sites delivering a fully
policy compliant affordable housing provision.

Councillor Rob Appleyard asked what element of the housing in Bath Quays North
would be designated affordable.

Councillor Bob Goodman replied that he did not have that information to hand and
would reply at a later date to the Panel.

The Chairman thanked both Cabinet Members for their updates on behalf of the
Panel.

19 SHORT TERM RENTALS - POLICY DEVELOPMENT
The Chairman introduced this item to the Panel. He said that he was pleased that
many members of the public were present and had registered to speak. He added
that he hoped that the Panel would hear a balanced view on how this issue is
affecting residents and businesses in Bath & North East Somerset.

Harry Tedstome

He said that he was speaking as a resident and as someone who was mindful of
those that live, work and visit the City. He stated that noise and anti-social behaviour
is a concern attributed to some properties of this nature and that the ability to enforce
matters of health and safety is a problem.

He said that he was concerned over the lack of general rentable properties there are
for residents / would be residents and that he was aware of a case recently where
following a bidding war one family had agreed to rent a property for £2,400 a month.

Councillor Peter Turner commented that for enforcement to be carried out that
officers rely on complaints.

Harry Tedstome replied that he acknowledged that and the need for evidence to be
consistently logged.

John Turner, CEO of Visit Somerset

He said that there are many issues facing our accommodation sector including
online travel agents, up skilling of the accommodation sector in a very technically
savvy environment and of course AirBnB.

He stated that one of his major concerns relating to AirBnB is their pricing strategy.
With over 1100 AirBnB's alone in Bath there is a real danger that the whole
convenience angle that AirBnB push in their marketing might overshadow 'a greater

20
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 9



issue'. He explained that in marketing terms this is called 'Price Penetration
Strategy’, where businesses or retailers in essence will lower their prices to destroy
traditional markets or competition.

He added that what we have with AirBnB (as has been reported) is the unfairness of
their trading environment, allowing AirBnB to get away without paying rates and
regulatory costs.

He said that working in the way AirBnB works supports a constructive 'price elasticity
of demand' strategy, meaning AirBnB unlike other accommodation providers can not
only promote technology and flexibility but also lower their prices and keep them
artificially low against industry norms, due to low overheads. This is a lethal
concoction.

If this is allowed to continue we will not be able to sustain a traditional
accommodation economy in the region. We should learn lessons very quickly from
the demise of the high street.

Finally we are looking at a proactive way of working against disruption and are
supporting our members throughout the region in up skilling to engage with a more
technically equipped customer that literally wants to book through their mobile phone
and with quick and convenient viewing and booking.

Councillor Peter Turner asked if he had seen the governance documents of AirBnB.

John Turner replied that he had and that he considered them to be fair and proper
and acknowledged that they provide a portal for complaints. He added though from a
Government perspective it was a case of how the appropriate legislation be
enforced.

Councillor Colin Blackburn asked if it was single bed lettings or whole property ones
that he saw as the main problem.

John Turner replied he felt the issue was across the board. He said that a number of
establishments were up to 15 years behind the customer and reiterated the need for
them to be technically upskilled.

Damian Johnson, The Cedars B&B

He informed the Panel that he owned a three bedroom B&B and that while two years
ago he was able to charge £100 for a room he had now had to reduce his price to
£75 to compete with the current market.

He acknowledged that people were now able to make a living from short term rentals
but said that he considered it to be unfair in terms of elements such as not having to
gain any planning permission, installation of fire alarms and provision of a fire
evacuation route.

He stated that he was now considering leaving the business due to the difficulties in
making in profitable.

21

Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 10



Councillor Colin Blackburn asked how he felt about the scenario of a family simply
letting out their spare room on occasions.

Damian Johnson replied that that so much was not the problem, it was the larger
properties and that he really was concerned for people’s safety.

Councillor Peter Turner commented that Avon Fire & Rescue will carry out checks on
properties, but they do rely on these being reported to them.

Damian Johnson replied that he believed that 9/10 properties would not have the
appropriate regulations in place.

Alison Curran, Chairman of the Bath Area Self-Catering Association

She informed the Panel that holiday let properties ARE regulated. As soon as you

take money for accommodation, you are covered by exactly the same regulations

(fire safety, gas safety, etc) as any other accommodation business. So please let’s
stop talking about “unregulated short term rentals” — they don'’t exist.

She stated that the issue is not one of regulation but of enforcement, and the
difference is important.

She said that regulations are pointless unless they can be enforced and they can
only be enforced if you can identify the regulated properties. She added that a
registration scheme would make this easier and personally she was in favour of this,
but it is not within the Council’s powers currently.

She stated that there are no reliable figures for the number of holiday let properties
at all and the figures widely quoted are incorrect. She explained that the new study
on accommodation provision will confirm that it is extremely difficult to arrive at an
accurate figure, but the numbers quoted in existing Council reports are simply not
accurate because of the methodology used.

She said that holiday let properties do pay tax — income tax and business rates. She
added that some holiday let properties are sufficiently small that their rateable value
is inside the small business rates relief zone, but then so are many B&Bs. She said
that she pays business rates for 4 rooms, but knew of B&Bs with more rooms than
her who do not pay business rates.

She stated that there actually is an exception to the business rates requirement and
that is student housing developments who have been given a “letter of comfort” by
the Council to excuse them from applying for change of use and allowing them to
operate rooms as holiday lets. She said that these accommodation businesses are
paying neither council tax nor business rates and that is unfair competition and is an
issue which could be addressed by the Council.

She said that she hadn’t been able to find any evidence that the number of holiday
let properties in Bath had caused rents for shorthold tenancies to rise, in fact she had

22
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 11



been told by several local rental agents and landlords that rents are actually starting
to drop.

She asked what issues we are trying to solve here. Is it noise disruption? Is it anti-
social behaviour? Let us be absolutely clear on what and how big the problem
actually is before action is taken.

Councillor Lisa O’Brien asked if she could explain why she felt the figures quoted
were inaccurate.

Alison Curran replied that taking figures from AirBnB and AirDNA are likely to be
inaccurate as you are able to list single rooms in properties separately and that
therefore the actual figure will be lower than quoted.

Councillor Rob Appleyard asked if she felt that the industry would in some way part
fund a registration scheme.

Alison Curran replied that possibly they might. She added that a low fee registration
scheme could fund some enforcement action.

Councillor Appleyard asked if local memberships could help with data collection.

Alison Curran replied that she had collated some, but recognised that it did not cover
the full range of the market.

The Chairman asked how many members were there in the Bath Area Self-Catering
Association.

Alison Curran replied that there were 50.

The Chairman asked how she dealt with the issues of waste management and noise
at her properties and how she advertised them to be rented.

Alison Curran replied that her two properties, both two bedroom apartments in Bath
had large communal waste bins that were provided by a management company. She
added that if any noise issues were to occur that the management company has
both her home and mobile numbers and so do the neighbouring residents of her
properties.

She said that the apartments were advertised on a number of websites, including
AirBnB, Holiday Lettings, Visit Bath and Owners Direct.

Jonathan Stapleton, General Manager, Royal Crescent Hotel & Spa

David Munn read out a statement on behalf of Jonathan Stapleton, a summary is set
out below.

Bath has grown from having some 2,000 Accommodation units in 2014 to almost
5,000 by January 2019, with even Bath University unrestrictedly selling 400 rooms
online.

23
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 12



What is needed by the City, is to take greater responsibility and therefore
accountability for the decisions being taken, i.e no more additional Hotel Capacity for
the next 10 years.

The lack of decision making that has been evident, whereby the City has failed to
address in a timely way, the explosion of AirBnB in Bath, by not taking appropriate
steps to create a level playing field, by implementing much needed Licensing with
Health & Safety checks, and even a AirBnB Exclusion Zones, not to mention
restricted selling to a maximum of 90 nights in any one year and of course Business
Rates, which should be levied and taxes paid on all income.

As a result of the absence of a long term Vision for Bath and therefore a clear
Strategy to address much needed Yield Tourism, as well as other Tourism related
priorities, Bath is sadly headed backwards as a destination, for Bath today can only
be described as ‘Good’ , when it should be regarded as one of the World’s ‘Great’
Cities.

Bath suffers from an overpopulation of day visitors and an under-population of
stayers (at just over 1 million staying nights per year spending an average of over
£200 per person or 57% of the total Tourism income).

This is further exaggerated by the gross oversupply of not only, too many Hotel
Rooms in the City, up from 1097 in 2014 to 1801 rooms today, a considerable
increase of 64% capacity, with still a further 343 additional rooms to open within the
next six months, but more importantly perhaps , the onset of no fewer than 1800
Accommodation Units in AirBnB.

As felt by many concerned businesses in the city, the time has perhaps come for a
Destination Management Company (DMC) to be formed in Bath, a Private / Public
Sector partnership, led by the Private Sector, which manages all aspects of Tourism
for Bath.

Ashley Baker, Queensberry Estates

He informed the Panel he and his wife came to Bath in 2003 and ran a 13 bedroom
guest house until 2015. He said that they saw the market changing and converted
the building to 9 flats which are now let on Assured Short-term tenancies of 1 year.
In 2008 we started a self-catering flat and found that many people preferred the
flexibility of self-catering and expanded our offering to 5 properties 1 of which we
manage on behalf of friends abroad. 2 of our properties might be described as party
houses as one sleeps 14 and the other 8 or 22 if combined and let as one unit.

He stated that for the last 12 months we have found that bookings are coming much
more last minute for the smaller flats (1-2 bedrooms) and for the larger properties we
have has several unsold week ends - even mid-summer. This suggests to us there
is a lot more available in the S/C market for all property sizes. He said that revenue
has been flat for the last 3 years but costs are rising as they do. He added that they
still make a decent living and can pay the mortgages and TAX. He explained that on
the 4 properties they own they pay Business rates - over £20k a year. They pay

24
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 13



company tax, PAYE for our employee, collect VAT and of course pay income tax on
their earnings.

He said that party houses can be managed by responsible operators and that they
have had no complaints from their townhouse property where 50% of bookings are
hen groups and the rest are family party groups. They spend money in pubs, shops,
restaurants, taxis and night clubs and council car parks. He added that well
managed party houses are good for businesses in Bath.

He said that the original Air B&B proposal was to allow home owners to let a spare
room occasionally or their flat or house for a couple of weeks when they went on
holiday to make a bit of extra cash. He added that everyone else offering a flat or
house which is not their main home, should come under the term professional
(including second homes, or properties that may have been let on ASTs). He said
that he thought the Scrutiny Panel needs to focus on these properties.

He explained that the problem as we see it at the moment is that there is not level
playing field for professional operators. He said that he knew of many S/C properties
advertised that are not registered for business rates and they should be. He added
that there is a regulation that says one does not pay business rates if one offers the
property for less than 140 days per year, but this rule is largely ignored.

He said that the other issue is how well managed the properties are in terms on
guest safety — gas certificates, fire alarms and servicing of them as so on.

He suggested that any property that does not have a full time resident registered for
council tax should pay business rates. He added that there should be no small
business rates relief for any self-catering properties, maybe the Council should argue
the case with Government that all residential properties should pay rates to the
Council be it council tax or business rates.

He said that he would support a good licensing scheme if it were well managed and
applied to all properties. He added that as most properties are run by agents maybe
it would be best to licence the agents and make them responsible for showing that
the properties they manage have the appropriate H&S and fire protection and risk
assessments in place and that their landlords are paying the relevant council tax or
business rates.

Mary Hayward

She informed the Panel that she has been an AirBnB host since 2014. She said that
she only lets the room when she is present at the property herself and that guests
normally stay for around two nights.

She agreed with comments made previously about safety and said that in her
property there were alarms for fire / smoke, carbon monoxide, fire blankets and
extinguishers.

She said that she had never received any complaints in terms of noise or refuse.

25
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 14



She stated she was proud to have received many good reviews for the property and
that she had been awarded ‘Super Host’ status by Air BnB. She said that she felt
that she contributes to the local economy and tourism by giving recommendations
and information regarding local places to visitors when they stay.

Councillor Liz Richardson commented that she felt that this was a prime example of
what AirBnB was created for.

Councillor Lisa O’'Brien asked if the limit of 140 days per year was a factor for her.
Mary Hayward replied that they averaged at around 30 bookings a year and that this

was plenty for her.

Marcus Whittington, Bath Boutiqgue Stays

He explained to the Panel that he was a Bath resident and that he had four
properties in the company’s portfolio available for short term letting, including 1 Hot
Bath Street which was purchased from the Council.

He stated that the company operates a Good Neighbouring Policy in terms of any
noise complaints should they occur.

He said that all guests are met on arrival and that they promote local businesses to
them.

Councillor Lisa O’Brien asked how it was possible to meet all guests at the various
properties.

Marcus Whittington replied that there was a team of 10 within the company and that
guests were addressed of their responsibilities during their stay. He added that
digital key safe codes were used to gain access to the properties rather than keys so
that all members of a party could return should they become separated.

The Chairman asked what types of wages were paid to the staff.
Marcus Whittington replied that they were paid the living wage and that as a team

they share the profits of the business. He added that there was a mix of full / part
time staff.

Amanda Rigby

She explained to the Panel that she wished to concentrate on AirBnBs used for hen
and stag parties. She said that she appreciated the legal difference required to make
these fall under HMO rules and acknowledged that in order to fully regulate them,
lobbying for a change in legislation was required.

She said that about this time of year, full time residents in those areas of Bath which
have a lot of student houses are anxiously waiting to find out which 4 or more adults

26
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 15



will be moving in to each of the houses along their road for the next 9-10 months. In
parts of the city centre every Friday full time residents are anxiously waiting for 12 or
more adults to move into the house next door for the next 48 hours.

She stated that this flat or house which otherwise could be in the stock available to
those working in Bath, and wishing to live here, is creating many demands on
Council services, little contribution, and not operating on a level playing field with our
guest houses and hotels. She added that this is neither fair, safe, nor appropriate.

She said that someone renting a room out via AirBnB to help make ends meet is a
very different proposition from an investor taking a property out of the local market,
and creating a business in all but name.

She stated that there were issues around any kind of enforcement for anti- social
noise as the turnover of people is too fast. She proposed whether this Committee
could maybe look additionally to lobby for powers to hold those making money from
this activity responsible for their client’s anti-social behaviour.

William Close, Weston Lawn B&B

He explained to the Panel that he and his wife have run a small B&B at home in
Weston since 2003 and also have a self-catering apartment in Bath.

He said that they use Airbnb as a booking site for both their B&B and self-catering
apartment, similar to the way they use Booking.com, Laterooms and Trip Advisor for
instance. He added they like Airbnb as payment is guaranteed and guests can be
reviewed, encouraging them to behave appropriately.

He stated though that there are issues, mainly due to the fact that Airbnb hosts do
not need to be regulated. He added therefore that there may be an increased safety
risk and lower costs than those that are regulated, creating an uneven playing field.
He said there are additional potential problems where the host is absent and the
property is not supervised.

He proposed the following measures to tackle the issues.

e Properties that advertise accommodation for payment should have a degree
of inspection, be registered and have 3rd party insurance.

e The Council appoints a Regulator, which could be Bath Tourism, who would
be paid by the Council for providing the service. The Regulator would compile
a list of all Airbnb hosts operating in Bath. The Regulator would be given basic
training on fire and safety hazards and community responsibility matters — the
last particularly relevant to unsupervised properties.

e There would be an initial inspection and fee, perhaps £100.

e Any basic failings to be corrected before guests can be accepted.

27

Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 16



e Repeat complaints from neighbours about anti-social behaviour should result
in closing the accommodation.

Councillor Rob Appleyard asked if the Council would have to pick up the costs of
running such a scheme.

William Close replied that it would be beneficial if the scheme were to be self-
financing.

Aline Tayar

She said that there are approx. 800 AirBnB lettings in the centre of Bath, whether a
single room or a whole house.
e The owners are running a business but how many are paying business rates?
e How many are operating with planning consent?
e How many have had fire safety inspections or been issued with certificates?
e How many have the necessary electrical and gas safety certificates?

She stated that in addition there are 68 so-called party houses in Bath advertising
more than 10 bed spaces each, with an aggregate of almost 900 bed spaces and
generally letting to hen or stag parties just at weekends.

She said that many older buildings in the city have no fire escape and usually only a
single staircase and asked how quickly could an evacuation be carried out? She
added that multiple occupants renting a house for a party often generate a great deal
of rubbish and this is sometimes left in bags in front basements, an attraction for
seagulls and rats.

She explained to the Panel that a flat in my Georgian building was rented on most
occasions for less than a week at a time, without consultation with the permanent
residents and, more crucially, in breach of the terms of the lease of this flat which
specifically prohibit lets of less than six months. She said that this activity has now
ceased but for a period of over a year there were on average 20 days a month in
which the flat was occupied for one or two days at a time. She stated that incidents
occurred with almost every letting, from visitors setting off the fire alarm to damage
being done to the communal areas. She explained that only after seeking legal
advice did the permanent householders at my address discover that the mere fact of
having one flat in breach of its lease invalidated the building insurance for the house
as a whole so that in the event of a fire, for example, no one would have been
compensated.

She said that there seems to be an anomaly in the local regulations insofar as
AirBnB and party house rentals, which are run as businesses, are exempt from
business tax.

She concluded by saying that people renting for a few days at a time tend not to be
concerned about the disruptions they cause within a single building and/or in the
neighbourhood. She added that the 68 houses mentioned above (and no doubt there
others with fewer than 10 bed spaces) are effectively unavailable for ordinary local

28
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 17



citizens, thus hollowing out the community, a phenomenon so pervasive that it has
even been given a name, "the doughnut effect."

Mark Cole

He informed the Panel that he ran two B&Bs in Bath and that he would like to see
regulations and enforcement similar to those required by HMOs be put in place.

He said that a number of points he would have made had been made by other
speakers.

Tamsin Egan

She informed the Panel that she rents out her family home through AirBnB to other
families and has had 67 bookings over the past five years. She said that she takes
the time to tell visitors the things that make Bath special. She added that she
believed that small homes can help bring tourists to the City.

She said that AirBnB did need to take some responsibility with regard the number of
days in which a property can be let for. She stated that she knew of properties that
were rented out for as long as they possibly can.

Councillor Rob Appleyard asked if she felt that some properties were being taken out
of the general market for use solely as a short term let.

Tamsin Egan replied that indeed this was a concern as she wants to be able to see
her own children able to live near her in the future.

Councillor Colin Blackburn asked if she had ever rejected a booking through AirBnB.
Tamsin Egan replied that there is an option on the website to allow customers to
book immediately, but she has never activated this setting. She added she chooses
to have a conversation with potential guests.

The Chairman asked what her neighbours think when guests stay.

Tamsin Egan replied that both sets of neighbours were retired and had initially been
a little nervous. She added that having talked through the situation with them they

are now happy and regularly chat to visitors.

David Weston, Chairman, The Bed and Breakfast Association

He explained to the Panel that he began in this work area in 2005 when safety
regulations were introduced.

He said that he agreed with earlier speakers about public safety and that AirBnB’s
own safety leaflet was found to be non-compliant.

Councillor Rob Appleyard asked if he would be willing to come on board if the
Council were to commence with a policy forming process.

29
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 18



David Weston replied that he would be willing to help and that he had recently given
evidence in Westminster to the All-Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) on Tourism
(chaired by Gordon Marsden MP) in its investigation of the "Sharing Economy".

He added that he had previously given evidence to similar enquiries in the last 2-3
years by the House of Lords and the Scottish Government.

Councillor Liz Richardson commented that she felt that a licensing system would be
welcome as in some way this would begin to address safety concerns. She asked
whether in terms of the types of property in Bath, with accommodation on differing
levels, how an unregulated top floor flat would affect the rest of the building.

David Weston replied that it does have an impact on premises below it and that
insurance would be an issue.

Councillor Peter Turner asked if he had lobbied James Brokenshire MP, the
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government.

David Weston replied that he had not. He said that he sits on the Government's
"Tourism Industry Council', chaired by the Minister of Tourism Michael Ellis MP.

Julie Green

She explained that she is an Airbnb host and lives on Widcombe Hill, where she lets
out a self-contained studio that’s part of her home, but with its own entrance off a
shared balcony on the property. She added that she has been a host for nearly three
years, it is her main source of income and that she works very hard at her job and
take enormous pride in it.

She said that she has every sympathy with concerns about the so-called party
houses, where the entire house is given over to Airbnb guests, the host doesn’t live
on the property, and so benefits from the income, whilst not having to put up with any
noise or disruption.

She explained that she offers a different style of guest accommodation, effectively
welcoming guests into our home. She said that our communication with our guests
before and during their stay is more akin to having a family friend to stay, except that
we review guests once they have left and vice versa.

She stated that concerns have been expressed about Airbnb reducing the availability
of rental homes, but would argue that hosts who give up a room or self-contained
space in their own homes for short lets are unlikely to affect the availability of long
term rentals; a sector with very different requirements.

She said she was very concerned about the idea of limiting the number of days hosts
can let out their property as this would severely limit the choice of accommodation
available in Bath, not to mention the effect on local host’s income.

30
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 19



She explained that whilst Airbnb properties may not be regulated in the same way as
hotels, we're asked to specify safety features such as smoke and carbon monoxide
detectors, fire extinguishers etc and I, for one, would be quite happy to be inspected
by the Council.

She asked the Council to please think carefully and at least discriminate between the
different types of Airbnb property before introducing blanket restrictions or penalties
that will affect tourists, visitors and hosts alike.

Councillor Colin Blackburn asked if she would be willing to pay for a licensing
scheme.

Julie Green replied that she would as she would be happy for properties to be
regulated.

Councillor Lisa O’Brien asked if guests were left to stay alone at her property.
Julie Green replied that this occurred very rarely.
David Munn

He said that he believed that an overcapacity of rooms to stay in Bath was now in
existence and that this pressure was pushing down the prices those establishments
could offer.

He stared that the matter needed to be addressed sooner rather than later.

The Chairman thanked all the speakers for their comments and said that he was
pleased to have received such a cross-section of views.

The Team Manager, Planning & Enforcement introduced his report to the Panel. He
explained that the most recent Visitor Accommodation Study (2016) indicated that
there were around 880 properties registered as being available on various booking
websites in the Bath & North East Somerset area (including whole properties and
spare rooms).

He stated that research is currently being undertaken by the Council to update the
Visitor Accommodation Strategy in order to establish an accurate assessment of the
scale of the issue and the potential impacts. He added that an analysis of open
source data available on www.airdna.co indicates there are currently 1108 active
rentals within Bath (note the 2016 study covered the whole district not just Bath).

He said that a small dwelling (less than 6 unrelated individuals) in use as a short
term rental is still classified as a dwelling house. He added that according to
www.airdna.co 991 of the total 1108 available properties in Bath (90% of the total)
offer 3 or fewer rooms indicating that the vast majority of short term rentals in Bath
do not constitute a material change of use.

31
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 20



He explained that the use of larger properties (more than 6 unrelated individuals) can
still fall into Use Class C3 but can also trigger a change of use depending on the mix
and relationship of occupants; the material characteristics of the use; and any
material harm caused by the use.

He said that the use of larger properties tends to be the greatest cause of complaint
and are often referred to as “party houses”. He said that according to www.airdna.co
117 of the total 1108 available properties in Bath (10% of the total) offer 4 or more
rooms. He added that of those larger properties, the Planning Department has
received complaints regarding the use of 8 properties district wide, 6 of which are
located in Bath.

He explained that the introduction of a new use class could mean anyone wishing to
operate a house as a short term holiday let may require planning permission,
however it is likely that any new use class would be accompanied by permitted
development provisions under the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO).

He said that any new use class could not be applied retrospectively to any property
currently in use as a short term holiday let prior to the date of the new legislation (or
prior to an Article 4 Direction taking effect — if necessary). He added that the ¢.1100
properties identified via www.airdna.co would be unaffected by a new use class and
such a change would not control or deal with the existing situation.

He stated that the benefits of a new use class could be limited, but it could give the
Council the control to direct where such properties are located in the future.

He said that if a new use class were introduced, it would be likely to have a
significant resource implication for the Development Management service in terms of
the creation of an Article 4 Direction, change to Policy, administering planning
applications and investigating reported planning breaches.

He added that appropriate resources would need to be made available and the
implications would need to be carefully considered against any potential benefit.

He acknowledged that there has been discussion regarding the “90 day limit” that is
in force in London and whether a similar limit could be introduced in Bath & North
East Somerset. He said that to gain a similar power in Bath & North East Somerset
would likely require a further amendment to the Devolution Act however this may be
better lobbied via WECA at a devolved level. He added that a 90 day limit could still
see a property rented for up to 45 weekends per year; this would not significantly
address any potential disturbance/nuisance issues currently experienced.

He explained that in their inquiry, the All Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) noted
anecdotal evidence concerning whether the correct level of tax was being paid by
users of the sharing economy and whether the appropriate level of VAT was being
applied, however concluded there was little compelling evidence to suggest
appropriate tax was not being paid. He added that the HMRC have launched a
consultation on this matter, however the findings of that consultation are yet to be
published.

32
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 21



20

He stated that the recommendations of the APPG inquiry could pave the way for a
licensing scheme for short-term lets set at a local level, however at this stage this is
only a recommendation and would need a new Act of Parliament (or amendment to
existing).

Councillor Liz Richardson commented that she felt that the recommendations from
the inquiry were likely to be in line with the thoughts of the Panel.

Councillor Lisa O’Brien said that she acknowledged the need for accommodation to
be safety / insurance compliant. She added that there is a distinct difference
between renting a room within a home, running a business and letting out a whole
property and not being on site to deal with any problems.

Councillor Rob Appleyard suggested that the booking platforms be tasked with
administering safety accreditation when allowing properties to register with them. He
added that he would like the B&B’s and Guest Houses within Bath to work with the
Council on this issue.

Councillor Bob Goodman informed the Panel that a study on hotel room numbers
had been carried out and found that there are enough and that this information would
be included in the future Local Plan.

The Team Manager, Planning & Enforcement said that he was aware that some
units of student accommodation were rented out within the summer holidays, but that
this does not affect their primary use class. He added that conditions to prevent this
could be imposed on future developments.

The Chairman thanked everyone for their contributions to the debate and said that
he looked forward to possible future work on this matter.

SOCIAL HOUSING AFFORDABILITY

The Team Manager, Enabling & Development introduced this report to the Panel.
She explained that a briefing paper on this issue was presented initially to the Local
Development Framework Steering Group and was now being presented to the Panel
for their information.

She said that it should be noted the NPPF definition of Affordable housing has now
been revised but that this makes little impact on the delivery of affordable rented
tenures in B&NES.

She stated that consultation following the Housing White Paper was carried out
earlier this year and a softening from a prescribed level of starter home delivery has
resulted instead in a fixed % requirement for low cost home ownership delivery.

She informed the Panel that social rented homes are the Council’s preferred rented
tenure and the majority of affordable housing delivery remains for social rent.

She said that sometimes our housing association partners deliver homes as
Affordable Rent Tenure (ART) which was introduced in 2011/12 by the Government

33

Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018

Page 22



as its preferred rented tenure. She said that ART homes have a rent of no more
than 80% of market rent and include all service and estate charges. She added that
most rented homes delivered with government funding or that the housing
association puts into their Homes England (HE) programme will be ART, but here in
B&NES we require ART rents to be delivered below Local Housing Allowance levels
or 80% of market rent whichever is the lower, and housing associations can
sometimes achieve ART rents at similar affordability to social rent levels plus service
charge.

She stated that the biggest issue faced by households on lower incomes and in
receipt of welfare benefit, is the challenge faced by households seeking to meet their
family’s housing and other needs within the £20,000 benefit cap (£13,400 for single
person households).

She said that in Bath particularly, new larger family homes for rent do cause
concerns around affordability and there is also a significant issue arising with
housing for single people, whose housing options are limited due to supply and
affordability.

She stated that the challenge for the affordable housing sector is how to address this
affordability concern in a way that fits within regulation, expectations on value for
money, development viability and growing need.

She said however that greater affordability comes at greater cost - the lower the rent,
the lower the amount of borrowing that can be supported and the higher level of
subsidy required.

She said that officers will continue to work with developers and our housing
association partners to address affordability concerns, looking at innovation, funding,
making best use of housing stock and will be using the opportunities provided by the
New Local Plan and resulting SPD to re-establish affordability parameters in light of
the welfare benefit caps.

She stated that members of the LDF Steering Group have asked what they can do at
Party and Central Government level to help address the affordability issues in the
District. She said that two key suggestions to lobby on were:

e Weighting of benefits caps in high value Districts outside of London
e Recognition of the increased subsidy costs of delivering affordable housing in
high value areas when it comes to Homes England ‘value for money’ tests.

Councillor Rob Appleyard commented that this area of work is hugely complex and
asked what the Council could do regarding high land values in Bath.

The Team Manager, Enabling & Development replied that the Council only have
control over the value of their own land.

Councillor Lisa O’Brien said that at a recent conference she had been made aware
of a pension fund company who were specialising in short term lease properties (3
years) for the 25-30 year old market.

34
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 23



21

She also queried whether older residents remaining in three bedroomed properties
and the ‘Right to Buy’ were affecting the Council’s plans.

The Team Manager, Enabling & Development replied that build to rent models are
being delivered in Bath at BWR and Roseberry Place. She added that affordable
rented homes secured through planning policy without any need for Government
subsidy are being declared off limits for the ‘Right to Buy or Acquire’.

She said that the issue of ‘downsizing’ often proves difficult as residents are seeking
the perfect alternative. She added that a piece of work could be carried out in the
future to see what can be delivered.

Councillor Lisa O’Brien said that some residents have seized the opportunities of the
development within the Chocolate Quarter, Keynsham.

The Chairman referred the Panel as to the actions they can take on this matter eg.
Lobbying.

Councillor Liz Richardson asked if she knew of the cost gap between the loss of a
Council House and the building of a new one. She added that she would like to see
the ‘value for money test’ be pushed.

The Team Manager, Enabling & Development replied that promotion of Micro Units
was being pursued, for example at the Banglo development on the Lower Bristol
Road. She added that this development was due to comprise of 4 units of 26m
squared and 1 unit of 36m squared.

She said that she did not know the gap figure in response to the other question.

Councillor Lisa O’Brien commented that purpose built accommodation for older
people should have common space within it.

The Team Manager, Enabling & Development said that developments are
encouraged to have spaces that have multiple uses to reduce service charges.

The Panel RESOLVED to note the report and the measures being explored to
maximise affordability in new rented housing.

PANEL WORKPLAN

The Chairman introduced this item to the Panel. He confirmed the reports expected
for November and January and said that they could expect to also have Service Plan

reports in January.

He suggested whether the Panel wanted to hear further information on a piece of
work from the University Students Union regarding ‘house shares’.

35

Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018

Page 24



Councillor Liz Richardson suggested that the Panel receive a report on the Joint
Spatial Plan in March 2019.

Councillor Rob Appleyard suggested the Panel receive information on the provision /
supply of the local retail sector.

The meeting ended at 5.50 pm

Chair(person)

Prepared by Democratic Services

36
Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 11th
September, 2018
Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9

Bath & North East Somerset Council

Planning, Housing and Economic Development Policy Development &

MEETING Scrutiny Panel

II\D/IE'FI;:ING 6t November 2018

TITLE: B&NES Local Plan Options Consultation November-December 2018
WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Attachment 1: B&NES Local Plan Options document November 2018

1 THEISSUE

1.1 The review of the adopted Core Strategy/Placemaking Plan is now underway in
order to ensure the District’s policy framework is up-to-date and to reflect the
requirements of the West of England Joint Spatial Plan. Prior to the preparation of the
draft plan in 2019, a number of options for changes to policy are being considered.
These were agreed by Cabinet for public consultation in November 2018. Views of the
Scrutiny Panel are sought on the options to help inform the preparation of the draft

Plan’

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Panel is asked to consider and comment on the Local Plan Options
document in Attachment 1.

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 The preparation of the Local Plan is resourced through the Council’s LDF budget
(now reduced) and prepared by the Planning Policy Team working with other
services such as Transport, Economy and Growth, Housing, Education and
Recreation. The primary costs in 2019 will be the preparation of the draft plan
and the examination in public.

3.2 The Local Plan has a direct impact on the Council’s income through the level of
New Homes Bonus, CIL receipts, Section 106 agreements, the level of Council
Tax and Business Rates by enabling housing, business and infrastructure
growth which will help continue to fund core Council services.

Printed on recycled paper Page 27




3.3 The allocation and designation of land and the identification of planning
requirements also has an impact on the value of land and buildings in the district.

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by subsequent
Acts, requires that all Local Planning Authorities prepare and maintain an up-to-
date local Plan. The Content and scope of Local Plans is set by the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which was revised in 2018.

4.2 The preparation of the plan is regulated by the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The B&NES Local Plan is
currently at Regulation 18 stage (Plan Preparation). The draft plan is due to be
published in 2019 (Regulation 19) and then submitted for public examination
(Regulation 22) which will include public hearings. The purpose of the
examination is to ascertain whether the Plan is ‘sound’. This means that the Plan
is (in summary):

o Positively prepared — seeks to meet the areas objectively assessed
needs for development;

e Justified — an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable
alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence;

o Effective — deliverable over the plan period, and
e Consistent with national policy

4.3 It is important that the plan is prepared with these requirements in mind. The
decisions on the selection of the most appropriate strategy must also be
informed by a sustainability appraisal.

4.4 The public sector equality duty under s149 of the Equality Act 2010 applies has
being taken into account in the preparation of Plan and in the consultations.
Particular requirements are set out in the Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement (the B&NES Neighbourhood Planning Protocol).

5 THE REPORT

5.1 The Planning Policy framework for B&NES is currently set out in the Core
Strategy (Adopted 2014) and the Placemaking Plan (adopted 2016). These are
supplemented by a number of other policy tools such as supplementary planning
documents, Article 4 Directions and guidance notes. National Policy requires that
Plans are reviewed at least every five years and hence the Core Strategy review
is now underway.

5.2 The extent of this review is made more significant by the publication of the
revised NPPF which changes some national policies, and the publication of the
West of England Joint Spatial Plan which sets new housing and jobs targets for
the district as well as a revised strategic spatial strategy. Hence the review of

Printed on recycled paper Page 28



the Core Strategy /Placemaking Plan is being undertaken through the
preparation of a new B&NES Local Plan.

5.3 Preparation and review of plans is governed by the Town and Country Planning
Regulations. Before a draft Plan is published, LPAs are required to consider
alternative options and to engage their communities and stakeholders in order to
decide on the most appropriate strategy. Therefore the purpose of the
consultation in November /December is to highlight the effect of the current
strategy, outline the changes that have occurred since it was adopted, review the
updated evidence, consider the alternatives and select the most suitable options
for public consultation. The draft Plan will be prepared, taking in to account the
outcome of this process.

5.4 The proposed Consultation document is attached. It reflects the Core Strategy/
Placemaking Plan with chapters on the District-wide strategy, Bath, Keynsham,
Somer Valley, The rural areas and Development Management policies.

5.5 The options at this stage are for public engagement and they have no weight in
the planning system. The weight to be afforded to the Plan will increase as it
progresses through the plan making process.

6 RATIONALE

6.1 Maintenance of an up-to-date Local Plan, with at least a 5 yearly review, is a
national requirement on all Local Planning Authorities. Plan preparation also
requires the assessment of reasonable alternative policies and proposals before
a plan is finalised. This consultation document is therefore required to meet
statutory obligations on the Council.

6.2 The Local Plan is also a critical tool in helping the Council deliver its Corporate
Priorities and objectives.

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 The Consultation sets out the policy options for public engagement. These
options are subject to a sustainability appraisal to assist in selecting the
preferred policy. Options are constrained by National Planning Policy, the Joint
Spatial Plan and the Council’s priorities

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 Preparation of the options document reflects both cross-service working and an
ongoing engagement with stakeholders and local communities. This includes
earlier rounds of consultation such as the previous options consultation in 2017
as well as bespoke liaison with community groups and organisations. Under the
Duty to Co-operate, the Council is working with ‘prescribed bodies’ such as
adjoining Local Planning Authorities, statutory undertakers and other service
providers to ensure the most appropriate and deliverable strategy is prepared.

8.2 The November — December consultation is part of a wider community
engagement exercise entailing consultation on further Joint Spatial Plan

Printed on recycled paper Page 29



evidence, Strategic Transport proposals, highlighting the Joint Local Transport
Plan 4 (on which consultation will begin in January 2019), proposals for
Keynsham High Street and proposals for the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone.
There is a parallel report on this agenda setting out the Strategic Transport
Options for consultation.

8.3 The arrangements for the consultation entail local and district wide publicity, mail
outs and four staffed exhibitions around the district. This level of consultation is

commensurate

with the stage of the plan and available resources

8.4 The Council’s s151 and Monitoring Officers have had opportunity to review and
input into this report.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

9.1 Arisk assessment related to the issues and recommendations has been
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management

guidance.

The programme for the preparation of the draft Local Plan will need to take into
account progress on the Joint Spatial Plan.

Contact person

Lisa Bartlett Director, Development & Public Protection 01225
477550

Simon de Beer Planning Policy & Environment Manager 01225
477616

Background
papers

West of England Joint Spatial Plan Publication Nov 2017
B&NES Core Strategy 2014

B&NES Placemaking 2017

National Planning Policy Framework

The Local Plan Options Sustainability Appraisal 2018

Please contact the
alternative format

report author if you need to access this report in an

Printed on recycled paper

Page 30




B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

ATTACHMENT 1

Bath & North East Somerset Council

Local Plan Options Consultation

November 2018

Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Page 31



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

ntents
1. Introduction 1
1.1 Background 1
1.2  Timetable 1
1.3 Purpose and scope of the Options document 2
14 How to get involved 3
2. Vision & Spatial Priorities 5
2.1 Setting the Scene 5
2.2 Vision 4
2.3 Spatial Priorities 6
Spatial Strategy including the rural areas 8
3.1 Setting the scene 8
Housing 8
Job Growth 10
3.2 Planning for new homes in the Somer Valley & Rural Areas 10
Issues arising 11
Development in the 'right places’ 11
Locational Options 12
Emerging approach 13
Focussed approach avoiding the Green Belt 14
More dispersed approach avoiding the Green Belt 16
Other options considered 17
Next steps 19
3.3 Review of existing Rural Areas Site Allocations 20
4, Bath 22
4.1 Context 22
4.2 Strategy, evidence & Policy review 23
Housing Provision 23
University Growth & Student Accommodation 24
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 25
Employment provision 25
Retail and City centre 26
Visitor Accommodation 27
Transport 28
Historic and Natural Environment 29
4.3 Spatial priorities for Bath 31
4.4 Strategy & policy options 31

Page 32



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Employment 32
Housing 33
Retail 34
Visitor Accommodation 35
Bath’s Universities 36
Affordable student accommodation 40
Large-scale purpose-built shared living 41
University of Bath 42
Bath Spa University 44
Transport in Bath 46
Replacement Household Reuse and Recycling - for residents 48
Historic and Natural Environment 49
4.5 Review of existing general policies for Bath 50
5. Keynsham (and North Keynsham Strategic Development Location) 55
5.1 Context 55
5.2 Strategy, Evidence & Policy Review 56
Housing Provision 58
Employment space and jobs 59
Retail and Town Centre 59
Transport 61
Visitor Accommodation 62
Historic Environment 62
5.3 Spatial Priorities for Keynsham 63
5.4 Strategy and Policy Approach Options 64
Vision, Strategy Implications & Policy Approach 63
5.5 Review of existing policies for Keynsham 65
5.6 North Keynsham Strategic Development Location 66
Introduction / Context 66
North Keynsham Strategic Planning Framework 67
Vision and Objectives 67
Feedback from Local Plan consultation December 2017 70
Vision, Strategy Implications & Policy Approaches 71
Opportunity to create a new Garden Community 72
Link Road 74
Pedestrian and Cycle connections 78
Marina 80
Flooding 82
Landscape and Green Infrastructure 83
Zero Carbon Development 85
Avon Valley Adventure and Wildlife Park 87
Community Facilities and Education Provision 88

Page 33



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6. Whitchurch Strategic Development Location 90
6.1 Aims & objectives 90
6.2 Previous Local Plan consultation Dec 2017 - Jan 2018 90
Community Engagement 92
6.3 An Emerging Strategic Planning Framework 92
Conceptual Framework 92
Garden Community Principles 94
Development Area Definition 95
Strategic Design Objectives 96
6.4 Development Options 98
Emerging Proposed Policy Approaches 100
Housing 100
Economic Development & jobs 101
Local Centres 101
Transport 102
Green Infrastructure 104
Education 105
Health facilities 105
Zero Carbon & Heat Networks 106
Flooding, in particular Groundwater and Surface Wate 106
Potential for use of Sustainable Drainage Systems 106
Next Steps 107
6.5 Relocation of Brislington Park & Ride 107
Context 107
Strategic Issues 108
Policy Approach Options 109
7. Somer Valley 110
7.1 Context 110
7.2 Strategy, evidence and policy review 111
Employment land 111
Housing 112
Retail and town centres 113
Historic and Natural Environment 114
Transport 115
7.3 Spatial Priorities for the Somer Valley 115
7.4 Strategy and Policy options 117
7.5 Review of existing Somer Valley policies 120
8. Development Management policies
8.1 Setting the Scene 122
8.2 Climate Change 123

ii
Page 34



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Carbon reduction 123
Harnessing wind energy 126
8.3 Housing 129
Affordable Housing 129
Rural Exceptions Sites 130
Regeneration of Social Housing 132
Self-build (including custom house-building) 134
Extra care housing 135
Housing standards 136
Replacement dwellings outside the Green Belt 138
Housing in Green Belt Villages 138
8.4 Employment 140
8.5 Fast Food takeaways 143
8.6 Parking standards and electric vehicles infrastructure 145
Parking standards 145
Electric vehicles infrastructure 149
8.7 WOoE Green Infrastructure Plan and Local Plans 152
8.8  Viability 153
8.9 Review of existing Development Management policies 153
Glossary 171
iv

Page 35



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Page 36



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

111

1.1.2

1.1.3

114

1.2

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

The B&NES Local Plan will set out a strategy to guide future development, site allocations and
district-wide Development Management policies. Along with the West of England Joint Spatial
Plan, it will be the primary basis for determining planning applications. It will cover the period
from 2016 to 2036. Upon its adoption it will replace the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan.

The Local Plan must deliver the West of England Joint Spatial Plan and respond to changed local
circumstances and new national policy/legislation.

The West of England Joint Spatial Plan also covers the period from 2016 to 2036 and focusses
on establishing the housing requirement for the area and the job growth to be planned for, as
well as a broad spatial strategy for accommodating growth. Alongside the Joint Spatial Plan the
four authorities have prepared a Joint Transport Study to identify key transport infrastructure
measures required to support the growth.

Preparation of the B&NES Local Plan will be supported by a range of evidence and the Council is
working with communities and other stakeholders in preparing the Plan. Public consultation
takes place at each stage of preparation and the issues raised are considered and used to
inform the Local Plan as it progresses. The Council’s response to the key issues raised at each
stage is outlined in a separate consultation statement which will be published alongside the
Draft Plan.

Timetable

Preparation of the Local Plan encompasses a series of stages, accompanied by public
consultation. The Council published a commencement document in November 2016 outlining
the intended scope of the Local Plan. In winter 2017/18 the Council consulted on an Issues &
Options document.

The Issues & Options document started the conversation with communities and stakeholders
on the issues set out below:

Vision & Priorities for the Local Plan

Spatial Strategy — high level options for distribution of housing
Strategic Development Locations at North Keynsham & Whitchurch
Student accommodation — approach options

PR

Since the preparation of the Issues & Options document the proposed subsequent preparation
stages have changed.

Page 37



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

1.2.4 Following consideration of feedback on this Options document and further evidence base work
the Council will prepare and publish a Draft Plan for consultation. The Draft Plan will set out
proposed site allocations and policies. Given the close links with the Joint Spatial Plan the Draft
Plan will not be published for consultation until the four authorities have heard from the
Planning Inspectors that are examining and testing the Joint Spatial Plan.

1.2.5 Once the Draft Local Plan has been consulted upon the Local Plan will be submitted for
Examination before a Planning Inspector and adoption by the Council. The currently envisaged
timetable for this process is set out in the diagram below. However, this may be subject to
change dependent on the progress of the Joint Spatial Plan Examination.

Issues & Options: November 2017 - February 2018

Options: November — December 2018

Draft Plan: Summer 2019

4

Examination: Autumn/winter 2019

Adoption: early 2020

1.3 Purpose and Scope of the Options document

1.3.1 The Local Plan will allocate sites for development and set out a comprehensive policy
framework for determining planning applications across the District. This Options document
focusses on the issues which need review or significant change within the new Local Plan.
Existing policy areas where limited or no change is needed are referenced briefly in this
document. The Options document will outline the emerging proposed policy approaches and
options, rather than policy wording, to address these issues. Its publication will stimulate
further discussion and comment which will be used to inform the Council’s policies and site
allocations proposed in the Draft Local Plan.

1.3.2 The document is divided into the following chapters:

2
Page 38



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)
e Vision and Spatial Priorities
e Spatial Strategy, including non-strategic housing growth
e Bath
e Keynsham, including North Keynsham Strategic Development Location
e Whitchurch Strategic Development Location
e Somer Valley
e Development Management Policies

1.3.3 Alongside the Local Plan the Council is progressing a number of other closely related projects
which are summarised below. Consultation will take place on these projects in parallel with the
Local Plan options consultation.

1.3.4 The four Unitary Authorities are consulting on additional information related to the Joint Spatial
Plan Examination. B&NES Council will also be consulting on options for transport routes
associated with the Strategic Development Locations; transport improvements related to the
Somer Valley Enterprise Zone; and improvements to Keynsham High Street. These projects and
their linkages with the Local Plan are more fully explained in the relevant chapter of this
document

1.3.5 This Options document is supported by Topic Papers explaining the emerging approach for the
key areas it is addressing. A number of evidence studies supporting the document have also
been published, including a Housing & Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA). This
information is available on the Council’s website at www.bathnes.gov.uk/localplan

1.3.6 All Local Plans are subject to an examination in public to ensure that they are ‘Sound’. The draft
new B&NES Local Plan will be prepared taking account of this consultation and is due to be
published in mid-2019. An inspector examining the Local Plan will want to make sure that the
plan is:

e Positively prepared — it should meet the District’s needs for development;

e Justified —an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, and
based on proportionate evidence;

e Effective — deliverable over the plan period; and

e Consistent with national policy

1.4 How to getinvolved

1.4.1 The purpose of this Issues and Options consultation is to facilitate discussion and let you
comment on the options or potential approaches for addressing some of the critical issues
facing Bath and North East Somerset and we would like you to be involved in this process.

1.4.2 The proposed policy approaches and options set out in Chapter 3 - 8 each have a unique
reference number which should be used when making comments.

Page 39


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/localplan

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

143

144

145

1.4.

The Local Plan Options document and other background information can be found on the
Council’s website

www.bathnes.gov.uk/localplan

Hard copies of the document can be viewed at the following locations during opening hours:
Council Offices:

e The One Stop Shop, Manvers Street, Bath
e  Civic Centre One Stop Shop, Temple Street, Keynsham
e The Hollies, Midsomer Norton

All public and community libraries in the District.

Drop-in events

We will also be holding a number of staffed exhibitions throughout the District (details below),
which members of the public are welcome to attend and discuss issues with officers.

Whitchurch Monday 19'" November
Large Hall in Whitchurch Community Centre 3.30 pm - 7.30 pm

Bath Tuesday 20" November
Guildhall, Brunswick Room 3.30 pm -7.30 pm
Keynsham Thursday 22" November
Civic Centre Community Space 3.30pm-7.30 pm
Midsomer Norton Tuesday 27" November
Beauchamp Room, Midsomer Norton Town Hall 3.30pm-7.30 pm
Paulton Friday 30th November
Village Hall 3.30 pm - 7.30 pm

Your comments

Please submit comments online through the consultation portal www.bathnes.gov.uk/localplan
Alternatively

2 local_plan@bathnes.gov.uk

(=] Local Plan Consultation,
Bath & North East Somerset Council, Manvers Street, Bath, BA11JG

Comments on the Local Plan Options document must be received by
Friday 21* December 2018

Page 40


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/localplan
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/localplan
mailto:local_plan@bathnes.gov.uk

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

2. Vision & Spatial Priorities

2.1

2.11

2.1.2

2.13

2.2

2.2.1

Setting the scene

National policy makes it clear that Local Plans have a key role in helping to deliver sustainable
development. In order to ensure that it is clear what the Local Plan is seeking to achieve a set
of spatial priorities is identified that addresses the main challenges affecting the area. The
Plan’s spatial strategy, site allocations and policies must work towards achieving these
priorities.

The adopted Core Strategy sets out a vision for B&NES and a set of strategic objectives for both
the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan. These currently cover the period up to 2029. Through
the Local Plan it is proposed that this vision and objectives is reviewed and re-focussed in light
of changed circumstances, including changes in national context; the key challenges now facing
B&NES; the objectives set by the West of England Joint Spatial Plan (JSP); and the Council’s
principles and priorities.

Within this context and the challenges facing B&NES the Council outlined a proposed vision and
set of spatial priorities for the Local Plan in winter 2017 Issues & Options consultation
document. Responses received to the consultation have been considered in setting out the
Vision and Spatial Priorities below.

Vision

Within the framework of the JSP, which focusses on the area being a fast growing and
prosperous city region with a rising quality of life for all, it was proposed in the Winter 2017
consultation document that the Council’s corporate 2020 vision is taken as the Local Plan vision
for B&NES. Feedback from the consultation did not raise any significant concerns in relation to
using this vision for the Local Plan.

B&NES Vision

Bath and North East Somerset will be internationally renowned as a beautifully
inventive and entrepreneurial 21°* century place with a strong social purpose and a
spirit of wellbeing, where everyone is invited to think big — a ‘connected’ area ready to
create an extraordinary legacy for future generations

Page 41
gs



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

2.3

2.3.1

2.3.2

2.3.3

234

2.3.5

Spatial Priorities

As the Local Plan is able to influence and help shape spatial outcomes (those that result in or
require the use of or changes to places, land and buildings) a set of spatial priorities needs to be
identified. The spatial priorities should be read within the context of the Council’s overall
values, purpose and corporate strategy priorities.

In the Winter 2017 consultation the Council identified seven overarching priorities, each with a
set of more detailed sub-priorities. The response to the public consultation did not raise
fundamental concerns in relation to the overarching seven priorities, comments focussed on
the sub-priorities and ensuring delivery. In addition the sustainability appraisal at the Issues &
Options stage did not suggest that the overarching priorities needed to be changed. Therefore,
it is proposed that the seven overarching spatial priorities previously consulted upon are
retained and these are set out below.

There are inter-relationships between the identified spatial priorities e.g. prioritising greater
walking or cycling helps to address climate change issues, as well as increasing physical activity
thereby addressing health priorities.

Council’s Values and Priorities

Local government is increasingly facing an environment of constrained resources. In order to
prioritise the use of its resources the Council has adopted the key priorities listed below, which
will underpin its corporate planning.

1. Protect and care for our most vulnerable
2. Nurture residents’ health, safety and wellbeing
3. Provide ways for everyone in the community to reach their full potential

The Local Plan’s spatial priorities should be viewed within the context of the Council’s values
and key priorities. The relationship between the spatial priorities and the Council’s key priorities
(as referenced in the table below) demonstrates how the Local Plan and the planning system
will help to deliver the Council’s broader aspirations.

Table 1. Local Plan Spatial Priorities

Spatial Priority Council’s Priorities
Cross cutting objective: Pursue a low carbon and sustainable 2

future in a changing climate

Protect and enhance the District's natural, built and cultural 2

environment and provide green infrastructure

Facilitate a strong, productive, diverse and inclusive economy 3

Page 42
g6



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

2.3.6

Meet housing needs arising from a changing and growing 1,2,3
population

Plan for development that promotes health and well being 2
Deliver well connected places accessible by sustainable means 2,3
of transport

Ensure the timely and efficient provision of infrastructure to 1,2,3
support growing communities

Note Council’s Key Priorities:
1 = Protect and care for our most vulnerable; 2 = Nurture residents health, safety and well-being; 3 =
Provide ways for everyone in the community to reach their full potential

The Local Plan’s policy framework, including development site allocations, will be aimed at
achieving the identified spatial priorities. Where locational or policy approach options are
identified in this document they will need to be tested against the extent to which they achieve
the spatial priorities. In some instances balancing between spatial priorities may be necessary.

Page 43
g7



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.Spatial Strategy including the rural areas

3.1

3.11

3.1.2

3.13

Setting the scene

The Joint Spatial Plan establishes the amount of housing and economic growth that needs to be
planned for up to 2036 and a spatial strategy for where it should be accommodated across the
West of England. The B&NES Local Plan is being prepared within this context and to support
delivery of the Joint Spatial Plan.

Housing

The targets for new housing and its broad distribution for the new Local Plan are largely set by
the Joint Spatial Plan (subject to independent examination). For B&NES, the JSP proposes a
requirement to plan for 14,500 new dwellings by 2036. The components of housing supply are
illustrated in the Diagram 1 and their distribution in Diagram 2 below.

Existing
commitments:
9,840 dwellings

Strategic
Development
Locations: 3,000
dwellings

Small windfall
allowance: 672

dwellings Urban
intensification  Non-strategic
(Bath):300 gp\vth: 700
dwellings .
dwellings

Diagram 1 - Housing supply

As set out in Diagram 1 above and assuming housing on existing committed sites is delivered,
the Local Plan needs to plan for the delivery of around an additional 4,700 new homes. These
homes will be provided at the Strategic Development Locations (at Whitchurch and North
Keynsham), through urban intensification in Bath and what the JSP terms ‘non-strategic’ growth
across the rest of B&NES, principally the Somer Valley and rural areas which is broadly indicated
in Diagram 2.

Page 44



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

- I
L s ,

|/ = i S -\\ |
BRISTOL /—~-—-’ % /

( r~
< WHITCHURCH ~_ KEYNSHAM-"’ r Sy

< ‘ —~
{f’ )’ Ut . 1,400
PrVES
R\”},‘s 203 1,600

/
7
\
AL
o -
BATH ]
\
b
300 \
/
/
A
g
\ s
\\ -4 &
(\

N

RU RAL AREAS

< SOMER VALLEY -
-~ PR a et

b ~r =
N 77 T\ - /
X 7 Ve > % -
e 1,622 L _'" Housing Supply
Green Be\tf N ,' ,’ - at start of ' . JSP Requirement

Built UP Areas P e ~\ Plan period

Diagram 2 - Joint Spatial Plan housing distribution

3.1.4 Consideration of housing provision in existing commitments, strategic development locations
and through urban intensification is set out in the relevant place based chapters. This Local Plan
has a key role in establishing how the ‘non-strategic’ growth of 700 dwellings can be delivered
and it is this element of the strategy that is dealt with in this chapter.

3.1.5 The JSP defines ‘non-strategic growth’ as sites over 10 homes and below 500 homes to be
delivered through Local Plans. It should be noted that the ‘non-strategic growth’ dwelling
figure has yet to be tested through the JSP independent examination and will not be confirmed
until the JSP Inspector’s Report, which is expected to be published during the latter part of
2019. As such it will be prudent, as Local Plan preparation progresses, to plan for a
contingency, which could also address the possibility of potential under delivery on existing
commitments. Therefore, the quantum of 700 homes and distribution options set out in this
chapter may be subject to change.

3.1.6 For reasons of ensuring a diversity of housing supply sources and facilitating delivery the 2018
NPPF also requires that 10% of the total housing requirement is delivered on small sites which
are less than 1 hectare in area. This equates to 1,450 homes. Based on dwelling completions
since 2016, permitted small sites and an allowance for continuing contribution from small sites
it is anticipated a total of around 2,650 dwellings will be provided on small sites (of less than 0.5
hectares in area or a capacity of less than 10) between 2016 and 2036. This is more than
sufficient to meet the NPPF requirement.

Page 45



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.1.9

3.1.10

3.1.11

3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

Job Growth

The Draft JSP requires that across West of England provision is made for 82,500 additional jobs
across the plan period (2016-2036). It identifies key locations where this job growth should
take place. In relation to B&NES this is the Bath City Enterprise Zone, the Somer Valley
Enterprise Zone and the SDLs at North Keynsham and Whitchurch.

The Draft JSP does not specify a job provision requirement or target for B&NES. However,
based on initial analysis of economic growth prospects and the economic ambitions of the
Council it is assumed that around 14% of additional jobs to be provided for across the West of
England should be focussed in B&NES. Having regard to the strategic housing requirement set
by the JSP it is estimated that provision should be made for around 12,500 jobs (net additional)
in B&NES.

Further work needs to be undertaken to support the Draft Local Plan, within the context of
reviewing the B&NES Economic Strategy, to assess the key economic growth sectors in B&NES
and to review employment land supply (existing, permitted and allocated) to ascertain whether
it is sufficient to facilitate this growth.

Initial work suggests in broad terms that sites currently permitted and land allocated in the
Placemaking Plan may be sufficient to support this level of economic and job growth, assuming
that losses of existing employment land are restrained.

More detailed consideration of housing and job growth is set out in the Place based chapters of
this document.

Planning for new homes in the Somer Valley and Rural Areas

The Key Diagram from the Core Strategy reproduced below (Diagram 3) shows the current
spatial strategy for Bath & North East Somerset for the period 2011 - 2029.

Outside Bath and Keynsham the current spatial strategy for the location of new development as
established through the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan is as follows:

e Policy SV1 —around 2,470 homes at Midsomer Norton, Radstock, Westfield, Paulton &
Peasedown St John

e Policy RA1 villages - non-Green Belt villages i.e. those villages with a primary school and at
least 2 of the following key facilities within the village: post office, community meeting place
and convenience shop, and at least a daily Monday-Saturday public transport service to
main centres (around 50 dwellings at each village)

e RA2 villages - non-Green Belt villages outside the scope of RA1 (10 -15 dwellings at each
village)

e Policy GB2 - Green Belt villages (limited infill only)

Pagg 46



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.2.3

3.24

3.25

DIAGRAM 4
BATH & NORTH EAST
SOMERSET: THE KEY
DIAGRAM

KEY
W General extent of Green Belt
11 ACNE

Strategic locations
& & Area of search for location

of Flood Mitigation Measunes
m Showcase Bus Routes
* Strategic Site

SOMER VALLEY

]
| ‘

@ Strategic Green Belt release

4 £ Crown copyright. All rghts reserved
{1000IZZZA) (2000

Diagram 3 - Key Diagram from the Core Strategy (2014)

Issues arising

It is becoming unceasingly evident that the current strategy is leading to the relative dispersal
of development across a wide range of settlements. This is an unintended consequence of the
approach outlined above and has led to a number of issues this Local Plan needs to address, the
most critical of which being primary school capacity. One of the requirements of the current
policy approach is that a village meeting the Policy RA1 criteria has a primary school with
sufficient capacity or ability to expand.

For some village schools there is no projected spare capacity within that school to provide the
further school places that would arise from future development proposals at the settlements or
scope for expansion within the current school site to provide the necessary school places. With
this level of uncertainty the location of the new 700 homes required needs to re-consider
whether further residential development at settlements where there no reasonable prospect of
access to a primary school is guaranteed should be encouraged.

Development in the 'right places’

In establishing the strategy for ‘non-strategic growth’ national planning policy remains clear on
the importance of location to sustainability and that a core role of planning is to ensure that
development is steered towards the 'right places’. These are described as places which support
growth, innovation and the efficient provision of infrastructure, are accessible to a range of
local services, encourage the use of public transport, walking and cycling, and help tackle

Page147



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

3.2.9

climate change. Local Planning Authorities are required to consider these sustainability criteria
when allocating sites within a Local Plan.

As part of the Local Plan consultation last November, the Council started the discussion by
suggesting three broad scenarios for accommodating non-strategic growth:

e Scenario 1 - Hierarchical Approach: continuation of the existing strategy

e Scenario 2 - Focussed Approach: focussing new housing at a more limited range of
settlements.

e Scenario 3 - Dispersed Approach: spreading the development across a wide range of
settlements.

Most of those who responded to the consultation considered Scenarios 1 and 2 to be the most
sustainable solutions for accommodating non-strategic growth. Scenario 3 was felt to be
unsustainable, would increase the need to travel and put excessive pressure on infrastructure.
However, some housing in order to assist in retaining the vitality of communities and their
services/facilities at a range of villages was supported.

Locational Options

The HELAA (Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment) provides the technical basis
and starting point to ascertain the suitability of potential development sites. Based on the
technical outputs of HELAA, the Council will continue to work closely with Parish and Town
Councils on the selection of the most appropriate sites for allocation in the Local Plan.

In deriving the options below the following key factors were assessed:

e Access to services and facilities

The Rural Facilities Audit provides an indication of the level and range of local services and
facilities within or immediately adjacent to each settlement. This provides a broad
indication of the level of key services and facilities at each settlement outside the main
urban areas including access to local schools, employment opportunities, and public
transport provision. It also shows that whilst some settlements are located on or near
routes with a frequent public transport service, much of the District is inadequately served
by public transport and largely car dependent for access to key services and facilities.

e Primary school capacity

As outlined above primary school capacity is a key consideration and there is an obligation
on the Council to provide spaces for pupils. Given the scale of the issue and in order to
avoid pressure on Council resources and unsustainable school travel patterns, the selection
of locations for development is directed towards those settlements where there is potential
school capacity and /or there is potential scope for the expansion, reconfiguration or
redevelopment of a school.

Page 48



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.2.10

3.2.11

3.2.12

3.2.13

e Public transport accessibility

An assessment of public transport provision and frequency serving settlements in the rural
areas was undertaken using a range of benchmark indicators (very frequent, frequent,
moderate, limited and very limited) was used to provide an overview of current public
transport provision in and through the rural areas. This was further refined with an analysis
of the walking distance from the candidate locations (see note on primary school capacity
above) to the nearest primary school, bus stop and to other services and facilities. The
impact of potential development locations on the highway network was also has been
considered.

e Impact on environmental assets

Building on the draft HELAA the impacts on key environmental assets have been reviewed
and refined where necessary. This included landscape sensitivity, heritage assets, ecology,
agricultural land and whether significant flood risk management issues had been identified.

The implications of the options for other issues such as Air Quality, including the newly declared
Farrington Gurney and Temple Cloud Air Quality Management Areas on the A37, will need
further assessment.

Emerging approach

From the above analysis three options have been derived as the basis for consultation.
National policy makes it clear that authorities should seek to accommodate development
requirements without using land in the Green Belt. Land can only be removed from the Green
Belt and allocated for development if ‘exceptional circumstances’ are demonstrated. The JSP
demonstrates ‘exceptional circumstances’ for the strategic removal of land from the Green Belt
at two specific locations with B&NES, at North Keynsham and Whitchurch (see chapters x & x).
These ‘exceptional circumstances’ do not apply to the remainder of the District. In terms of
non-strategic growth ‘exceptional circumstances’ will only exist if the requirement cannot be
met sustainably on land outside the Green Belt. This includes exploring the potential
contribution of land in adjoining authorities through the Duty to Co-operate (see also para x
below).

Within this context two options are suggested for how non-strategic growth could be
accommodated on land outside the Green Belt. Also outlined is a third option which includes
potential areas within the Green Belt if ‘exceptional circumstances’ are demonstrated. All
options suggested will need to provide 700 dwellings plus allowing scope for contingency.

Given the current primary school situation all options involve directing the non-strategic
development to limited key locations at settlements where there is a primary school with
capacity or scope for expansion or redevelopment and includes locations within the Somer
Valley. With this in mind the locations indicated have been derived from a comparative
sustainability led assessment and an analysis of land considered through the HELAA with a focus

Pages349



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

on brownfield sites first in the most sustainable settlements® outside the Green Belt. With
some brownfield sites ruled out as the assessment indicated that development in those
locations was likely to be too harmful, those available greenfield sites with least impacts were
considered.

3.2.14 Whilst the locations identified under the options have the scope/capacity to accommodate
housing development, it is acknowledged nonetheless there could be impacts associated with
housing development in respective locations. The key impacts and issues are outlined after
each option.

3.2.15 Further work will be needed to determine the appropriate level of growth for each settlement
and whether sites can realistically deliver the level of growth suggested for each broad location.
The level of growth proposed will need to be supported by the necessary infrastructure and any
shortfalls in respect of for instance, health facilities, will need to be addressed before sites are
allocated in the Draft Local Plan.

3.2.16 The outcome of this consultation will help to inform the spatial strategy in the Draft Local Plan.
This will provide the basis for defining a housing requirement for neighbourhood plan areas as
required by the new NPPF. Specific sites will then be identified and allocated for housing
development in the Draft Local Plan or can be allocated through Neighbourhood Plans. It
should be noted that the Council is also in discussion with Mendip District Council with regard
to cross-border distribution of growth to the south of Midsomer Norton through the Duty to
Cooperate.

3.2.17 The two non-Green Belt options for accommodating non-strategic growth as expressed below
will have implications for the emerging strategy for the Somer Valley. This is discussed further
in Chapter 7.

Option 1. Focussed approach avoiding the Green Belt

3.2.18 Under this option all non-strategic growth is focussed at a few key locations outside the
Green Belt in the south of the District. These could act as the focal points for future housing
development.

3.2.19 The main benefit of this approach is that it could help to facilitate investment in infrastruc-
ture such as schools, health facilities, or open space. However the impact of these levels of
growth on a settlement could be relatively significant as outlined below in para 3.2.22.

3.2.20 Midsomer Norton, Westfield and Radstock have a good range of services and facilities to
meet the daily needs of residents and workers. Development with appropriate on-site
facilities will improve accessibility for new as well as existing communities. Timsbury has a
lower level of services and facilities and the public transport links are reasonable but not as

Sustainable settlements are those where access to employment opportunities, facilities and services, as well as to public
transport is best. These which could act as the focal points for future housing development without the need to allocate
sites at the smaller less sustainable settlements.

Page 50



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

frequent as some settlements within B&NES. However, it does have a primary school, with
capacity and/or the potential scope to be expanded or redeveloped. It is acknowledged that
without appropriate improvement, cumulative impact of new housing and population growth
will put additional strain on existing facilities and services and the road infrastructure.

3.2.21 The diagram below indicates the potential distribution of development under this scenario
focussing on locations at Midsomer Norton, Radstock and Timsbury but also allowing a
limited number of dwellings (50) to be accommodated in other non-Green Belt villages
during the Plan period. These villages/locations will need to be specified in the draft Local
Plan due to be published next year. This will be subject to further assessment work, including
with the Parish Councils.

The Green Belt

Farmborough

Clutton
Bishop
Sutton

Timsbury
Temple 200 Homes
Cloud High Littleton
Peasedown
Plus smaller sites at St John
other villages totalling
around 50 homes
Farrington
Gurney Paulton 7
-~ / \\
P s Radstock i~ A
o !/ ~ 7
’ \ 250 homes -~ \
i~ RN\- - \
§ \\ \v?‘*‘x ~ L B \\ L
T O ~ i ’
- e W -
/ L™ .
g .
o Midsomer Norton | \ e
e o 200 Homes / A

i « Westfield |
~

\

-~ J -

These are not proposals and the figures are only indicative
Diagram 4 - Option 1

Key impacts and issues
3.2.22 By directing growth to these locations the following issues will need further considerations:

e Suitable mitigation needed to address landscape, ecological and heritage matters
e Flood risk issues for some sites (surface water)

e Delivery of the level of housing proposed at Midsomer Norton is contingent on planning
permission being granted for the proposed primary school at Silver Street

e Safe routes to primary schools will need to be created where lacking

e Transport, highways and access issues including the potential increased traffic level and
congestion through junction of B3355/High Street/Station Road and A362/Radstock Road in
Midsomer Norton; for Radstock, the cumulative impact of development on A362 and A367

Pagesol



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

and in the case of Timsbury, the increase traffic levels on the Hayeswood Road/North Road
(B3115) through Timsbury and other rural areas

e Health facilities would require improvement particularly for Midsomer Norton/Westfield
and if considered necessary, Timsbury.

E Option 2. More dispersed approach avoiding the Green Belt

3.2.23 The alternate approach would be to distribute the growth across a wider (but still limited)
range of settlements. This would result in fewer dwellings at each location. The findings of
the analysis indicate that in addition to locations identified under Option 1 (Midsomer Norton,
Radstock and Timsbury), still taking into account the primary school issue, there is some
potential for further growth at Clutton and Temple Cloud. Under this option, a greater
number of dwellings (100) would also be allowed in other non-Green Belt villages during the

Plan period.
The Green Belt /  Farmborough
1
Bishop Clutton
Sutton
Timsbury
Temple 100 Homes
Cloud High Littleton
N Peasedown
Plus smaller sites at \ R St John
other villages totalling
around 100 homes
Farrington Paulton s
AR o may Radstock -/
B W 200 homes -
S % -
I \ %&ﬁ@, 2 i, ™ \
/ Ty T80 ; - O \
’ W ~_% - - -
g , | |
# : Midsomer Norton . A
100 Homes ¢ )
* o
-~
/
-
=5 Westfield _ _,

~
~J = - -

These are not proposals and the figures are only indicative

Diagram 5 - Option 2

Key impacts and issues

3.2.24 The impacts and issues identified in relation to Option 1 will also apply to this option albeit
there would be a lower level of growth directed to Midsomer Norton, Radstock and Timsbury
resulting in less pressure on infrastructure and services/facilities in these settlements. The
impacts and issues associated with development at Temple Cloud and Clutton are summarised
as follows:

e Take account of landscape, ecological and heritage issues, including providing suitable
mitigation to ensure development does not cause unacceptable harm

Pageg 52



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

e Limited local facilities but could access bus services along A37 corridor public transport to
other centres

e Further investigation is needed to ensure there is sufficient primary school capacity at
Clutton and Cameley school to accommodate the required additional school places or
whether there are other feasible options

e Safe routes to primary schools will need to be created where lacking avoiding areas of
poorer air quality (see below)

e Cumulative effect in developing sites may unacceptably increase traffic levels on the A37

with a resultant impact on air quality especially relevant in the newly declared Farrington
Gurney and Temple Cloud Air Quality Management Areas - see plans below in Diagram 6.

Farrington Gurney Air Quality Management Area 2018 noe N COUMDAT 3ok & Mordh Eae Temple Cloud Alr Quality Management Area 2018 Sothoe o hEN
Nitrogen Dioxide - Annual Mean Objective e s <t Councl Nitrogen Dioxide - Annual Mean and 1-hour Objectives - Sl ¢ Ceuncl

nnnnnn

i 703 \
'7. "+ Farrington .
/ ¢ - Farrington )

= / Gurney

Diagram 6 - Farrington Gurney and Temple Cloud Air Quality Management Areas

Other options considered

E Combination of locations outside and within the Green Belt

3.2.25 If the quantum of development at the locations outlined above is undeliverable or found to be
unsustainable, and if exceptional circumstances are demonstrated, the Draft Local Plan would
identify land to be removed from the Green Belt and allocate sites for development. This
approach would only be considered once all other non-Green Belt options had been fully
explored and would focus on the most sustainable locations including suitable opportunities
around Bath and other of the more sustainable Green Belt settlements but crucially, will also be
dependent on primary school capacity. Diagram 7 illustrates such an approach.

Page753



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.2.26 Under such an option the Council would need to be able to demonstrate that directing
development to these locations would clearly outweigh potential harm to the Green Belt. Given
that sustainable and suitable non-Green Belt options would need to be fully utilised first the
scale of any development that would be directed to Green Belt locations is not known at this

stage.
Failand
Bristol
Long Ashton :
Bitton
Keynsham

Saltford

ol Ajrport ‘ Focus new homes at most Bath
Chew Magna Pensford sustainable locations
including opportunities
around the edge of Bath
Chew Stoke
Farmborough Limpley Stoke
Bishop Sutton
Clutton We
igdon
Temple
— Cloud Timsbury
High Littleton Peasedown St John
Paulton
E
arringten Gurney Radstock
) Norton St Philip
. Some new homes at;
idsomer .
- Midsomer Norton
Green Belt Norton
i - Radstock Rod
. esthel o .
BN Built up area - some smaller sites at villages

=— Existing Committments

These are not proposals - map produced for illustrative purposes only

Diagram 7 - Combination of locations outside and within the Green Belt

3.2.27 It will also be part of the preparation of the Local Plan to assess whether any of the villages
currently ‘washed over’ by the Green Belt still meet the NPPF criteria and whether they could
be removed from the Green Belt.

3.2.28 NPPF, paragraph 140 states:
“If it is necessary to prevent development in a village primarily because of the important
contribution which the open character of the village makes to the openness of the Green Belt,
the village should be included in the Green Belt. If, however, the character of the village needs
to be protected for other reasons, other means should be used, such as conservation area or
normal development management policies, and the village should be excluded from the Green
Belt.”

3.2.29 For villages ‘washed over’ by the Green Belt additional residential development is constrained
to limited infilling only.

Pagg 54



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.2.30

3.2.31

3.2.32

3.2.33

3.2.34

It is intended that this assessment is published alongside the Draft Plan with any ‘inset
boundaries’ defined should it be recommended that one or more villages should be removed
from the Green Belt. The inset boundary to be defined will be influenced by the preferred
spatial strategy i.e. whether some growth of a settlement within the Green Belt is necessary
and exceptional circumstances having been demonstrated.

Next steps

Dependent on the outcome of the JSP examination, which sets the planning framework and
housing/job numbers, and the feedback from the consultation on the Options suggested above,
the preferred approach for ‘non-strategic’ growth in the Somer Valley and Rural Areas will need
to be underpinned by further work on site capacity and whether and how the identified issues
can be mitigated and/or addressed before sites are allocated in the Draft Local Plan.

In respect of the Rural Areas, a separate Rural
Areas chapter is not included in this Options CORE STRATEGY &
document but will form part of the Draft Local PLACEMAKING PLAN

Plan. This will address additional housing
provision required, including both through the Ru ra I
allocation of specific sites (in accordance with

the preferred strategy as discussed above) A

and a review of Housing Development reas
Boundaries for villages. This will be
undertaken within the context of a review of Bach & Norah Ease ———

M Adopted July 2014 Adopted Jul!; 2017
sites already allocated in the Placemaking Plan
(see table at the end of this section).

The Adopted Placemaking Plan Rural Areas volume also addresses other issues, including
identifying designated Local Green Spaces (LGS). As set out in the Development Management
Policies chapter of this document it is considered that Policy LCR6A remains fit for purpose and
the designated LGS also remain appropriate given they have recently been found sound by the
Placemaking Plan Examination Planning Inspector. However, should communities across the
District (including as represented by parish councils) wish to propose additional green spaces
that are ‘demonstrably special’ to the local community for designation as LGS there is an
opportunity for them to do so through responding to the Options document and/or the Draft
Local Plan.

A number of the parishes within B&NES are in the process of preparing, or have already
prepared, a Neighbourhood Plan. Diagram 8 below indicates the current status of each
Neighbourhood Plan. The preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan is led by the Parish or Town
Council and will set out planning policies for a local area. Neighbourhood Plans must have
appropriate regard to national policy, including the NPPF.

Pagegs5



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

3.2.35 Once ‘made’ (or adopted) a Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the Development Plan.
However, for a Neighbourhood Plan to be successful it needs to be in general conformity with

the strategic policies of the existing development plan for the local area.

Chow Valley NDP

Legend

- ‘Made’ Pian being revised - Plan under Examination l:l Plan Area designated

[ Pian has been 'made’ [ Pian formallly submitted to B&NES g'a” A[’;z our for formal Area Designation
. ; g onsultation

D Plan is awaiting to be ‘made : Draft Plan out for consultation D No Neighbourhood Plan Area Designated

Reprodiced fromthe Crdnanca Euvey mapping wih the pemisunaf the Cantralkar ofHar Majsty's St nrary Ofice BCown Copynght. Unithanisad raproduction n¥ingas Crown copyright and maylaad to preae cution of civl procasdings Licance nurrber 1 0002333

Diagram 8 - current status of Neighbourhood Plans in Bath & North East Somerset

3.3 Review of existing Rural Areas Site Allocations

3.3.1 The table below provides an update and review of all the sites currently allocated in the Core
Strategy and the Placemaking Plan. Through this consultation there is opportunity to comment
on the proposed approach for each policy (see note below).

mPlease make sure you specify which site you are commenting on when responding.

Cameley & Temple Cloud

SR24. Land adjacent to Temple Inn Lane Scheme completed, therefore this allocation will
be deleted from the Local Plan.

Compton Martin

SR17. The Former Orchard Planning application for 10 dwellings pending
decision. Retain allocation.

East Harptree

SR5. Pinkers Farm Planning application for 8 dwellings approved but

Pageg 56



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

scheme not started. Retain allocation.

SR6. Water Street

Planning application for 8 dwellings approved but
scheme not started. Retain allocation.

Timsbury

SR14. Wheelers Manufacturing Block Works

Planning application 26 dwellings and office space
pending decision. Retain allocation.

SR15. Land to the East of the St Mary’s School

Planning application yet to be submitted. Retain
allocation.

West Harptree

SR2. Leafield

Scheme for 17 dwellings under construction

Retain allocation until scheme complete.

Whitchurch

RAS. Land at Whitchurch Strategic Site Allocation

Schemes on parts of the allocated site are under
construction. Retain allocation until all schemes
are complete.

Pageg157



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4, Bath

4.1 Context

4.1.1 The Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan set out the strategic policies to facilitate new
development in the city. Bath’s outstanding historic, built and natural environment, and its
sensitive management, is a key component of the identity, sense of place and future
economic, environmental and health and social well-being in Bath.

4.1.2 Bath does not have sufficient land to accommodate all growth pressures in a way that is
compatible with its built/historic environment quality including the World Heritage Site
inscription. The capacity is further constrained by the impacts on transport. Therefore, in a
city with competing pressures on space, priority is given to housing, employment space
and environmental considerations with appropriate transport mitigation measures. The
existing strategy reflects corporate objectives of delivering more homes and jobs.

4.1.3 The diagram below shows the Core Strategy Spatial Strategy.

* Lansdowrr K
............... Park & Ride Sl -
e 27
........... oo S NG

Ale3’

o " %Yy}l eradford.on Avor” .
{ * Newbride . )/ & Trowbridge s
~, 'Park & Ride i 8 R

«\‘

\ e . . . . X ‘;‘/\\ . . /'
gy $ y w
ot > T~

*. DIAGRAM1
BATH SPATIAL
g STRATEGY
S e & v

g o Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty

. Area of Search for East
of Bath Park & Ride Site

...... Bath City Centre
District Boundary
Green Belt

Green Infrastructure Link
(lllustrative)

== Outer Bath Main

mmmo::sm';k::m Heusng Sies
3
Mixed use to the south ~~r == Rail Line
Western Riverside S Safeguarded Sustainable
)
Residential-led regeneration Odd Down (| Routes
= Park & Ride ——— Walking and Cycling Routes

Protect historic character. Broad range of -—~ World Heritage Site

and functional role ® Crown copyright. All rights reserved

100023334 (2015)

4.1.4 Emerging conclusions from updated evidence and monitoring show that the current spatial
strategy which prioritises provision of general housing & employment space in the city is
still broadly appropriate in terms of addressing the spatial priorities identified, but that
some elements of the policy framework need to be strengthened in order to secure
strategy delivery. The strategy and policy framework set by the Local Plan will also

22
Page 58



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.1.5

4.2

4.2.1

4.2.2

4.2.3

continue to be driven by the need to ensure the city’s heritage and environment is
maintained and enhanced.

In this chapter, the Strategy, evidence and policy review section sets out the topic based
current policy framework, key changes since 2011 and key challenges. The key challenges
identified inform the Priorities outlined in section 3.3. Within the context of the key
challenges and priorities for the city, section 3.4 sets out the Suggested Policy Approach.
Where it is considered that reviewing the policies is necessary potential options are also
presented.

Strategy, evidence & policy review

The review of the existing strategy/policy entails monitoring the implementation of the
Core Strategy and updating the evidence base. The analysis below summarises the key
changes that have taken place and updated evidence conclusions to help identify the key
challenges & priorities that the new policies should address.

Housing Provision

The Current Policy:

e Anincrease of 7,000 additional homes between 2011 to 2029 from the existing stock
of around 40,000 to 47,000.

e The need to provide a significant proportion of the District's Core Strategy target of
3,300 affordable homes in Bath.

Changes since 2011:

e By 2018 around 2,000 new homes have been built (e.g. at BWR and MoD sites)
including 434 affordable homes. However, despite allocating sites in the PMP the
overall supply of new homes is projected to be marginally less than the 7,000 required
by the Core Strategy.

e The housing affordability ratio has significantly worsened.

e Continued growth in HMOs and Short Term Lets is placing increased pressure on the
housing stock.

4.2.4 Key challenges:

e Respond to housing shortages including affordable housing and bring forward a
suitable mix of housing types and sizes to meet the range of needs, including from an
ageing population, in a timely manner.

e The JSP requires an additional 300 homes to be provided in the city. (See Chapter 2)

e Manage change of use from general residential to HMOs.

23
Page 59



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Consider how to manage the growth in the use of dwellings as Short Term Lets.

University Growth & Student Accommodation

4.2.5 The Current Policy:

Seek to steer additional student bed spaces to University Campuses.

Restrict student accommodation in the Central Area, Enterprise Zone and former MoD
sites where this would undermine delivery of new homes and jobs. However, there are
fewer controls outside these areas.

Current policy does not seek to control the type of student accommodation provided.

4.2.6 Changes since 2011:

Significant growth in Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA). Currently over
7,500 bedspaces are available on and off campuses and a further 500 bedspaces are in
the development pipeline with planning permission.

Recently built private PBSA is largely studio-type and many are built on former
employment sites in the city.

There seems to be an ongoing demand for HMOs as they generally provide cheaper
accommodation than PBSA.

Both the University of Bath and Bath Spa University are reviewing their growth plans
including their estate management plans and campus Masterplans.

JSP Policy 3 seeks a minimum target of 35% Affordable Housing to be delivered
through self-contained C2 residential developments, including student
accommodation.

4.2.7 Key challenges:

The 2018 Bath SHMA based on the trend based evidence suggests significant student
accommodation growth of 10,300 bedspaces up to 2036.However, the Universities are
indicating lower growth than previously projected.Clear strategy is needed to
accommodate university growth in a way that it doesn’t undermine the delivery of the
plan’s priorities.

Ensure appropriate types of accommodation are provided to address student and other

needs, and contribute towards reducing the pressure on HMOs.

Some cities have started to see an over-supply of PBSAs and resultant change of use
from PBSA to visitor accommodation. It is worth considering how to manage change of
use from PBSAs in case such a situation arises in Bath.

24
Page 60



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)

4.2.8 Current Policy:

Article 4 Direction requires a planning application for change of use from a dwelling
house (C3) to HMO (C4/sui generis).

PMP Policy H2 sets the criteria for change of use - supplemented by the HMO SPD that
sets out the criteria to avoid over concentration of HMOs and address amenity issues
for neighbours (sandwich policy & 10% threshold).

4.2.9 Changes since 2011:

Continued demand for HMOs (student & non-student). More properties that are
suitable for families (some of which are close to schools) are being converted to HMOs.
This is due to affordability and student preferences for living with friends.

Additional Licensing is to be extended to the whole city in January 2019 i.e. all small
and large HMOs will require a license. The licensing regime will help address the safety
and quality of HMO properties, as well as help the Council to better understand exact
locations and number of the HMO properties.

4.2.10 Key challenges:

PMP Policy H2 does not apply to new build HMOs, PBSA or extensions to existing
HMOs.

Continued demand for HMOs reduces the availability of family homes.

Limiting the further availability of HMOs may have a significant impact on certain
sections of society such as young professionals and those working within service
industries.

On-street parking issues need to be investigated (see chapter 8).

Employment provision

4.2.11 The Current Policy:

A net increase of 7,000 jobs and diversifying the economy by focussing on ‘high value’
sectors.

A significant net increase of office premises (40,000m?), focussed mainly in the Central
Area/Enterprise Zone such as Bath Quays North.

Allowing for a managed contraction of industrial floor space (net loss 40,000m?).

4.2.12 Changes since 2011:

Bath Enterprise Area has now been upgraded to an Enterprise Zone with the benefits of
incentives and additional funding to facilitate business creation

25
Page 61



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

e A net loss of office floorspace of over 8,000 m? (largely through permitted
development), but the plan is still on track to deliver 40,000 m? by 2029. However, this
assumes implementation of all existing planning permissions and local plan allocations.

e A net loss of Industrial floorspace at a faster rate than planned. Overall net losses are
forecast to be around 60,000 m?, largely due to losses to student accommodation (net
loss from 2011 — 2016 is about 30,000 m?).

e Employment has increased by 159 jobs (net) between 2011 -2016.

e Continuing buoyant demand for office space and increased demand for industrial space
in the city (than was anticipated at the time of preparing the Core Strategy).

4.2.13 Key challenges:

o Need to investigate whether and how demand for office and industrial space in the city
can be met within the context of competing land uses delivering higher values. The
new Local Plan will need to be aligned with a review of the Economic Strategy.

e Limited opportunities to make further provision for employment space, therefore
protecting both existing & committed office and industrial space in the city will be of
high importance.

Retail and City centre

4.2.14 The Current Policy:

e Ensure that the shopping core successfully absorbs development and change at
Southgate.

e Enable small to medium sized comparison retail development that improves the
shopping offer.

e Focus additional convenience retail floorspace within and on the edge of existing
centres, before considering out-of-centre sites that could improve the spatial pattern of
provison across the city.

4.2.15 Changes since 2011:

e Additional food store floorspace provided along Lower Bristol Road has improved the
range and offer in Bath.

e Some limited additional comparison provision (bulky goods) has been delivered.

e Vacancy rates which remain below the national average have increased in the city
centre.

e Public Realm and Movement Strategy for Bath city centre was adopted in March 2010
which is founded on the historic development of the city and puts forward an
incremental plan for improving the public realm. This is supplemented by the Bath

26
Page 62



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Pattern Book. Within this context some public realm improvement projects have been
delivered e.g. High Street, Stall Street and Saw Close.

4.2.16 Key challenges:

e Capacity for additional retail floorspace is reduced from the previous study, but there is
still some capacity for a small/medium size food store. No qualitative need is identified
given the existing good range of shops.

e Priority should be to retain existing shops and address vacancies.

e Make sure that the shopping experience offered by the city centre is maintained and
enhanced and further redress deterioration of the public realm. The historic built
environment is fundamental to the delivery of effective public realm improvements.

e Maintain the city as an important visitor destination and manage the environmental
impacts of tourism.

e The recent traders survey shows that independent traders are serving a wide
catchment and play an important part in serving the shopping needs of
tourists/visitors. Need to consider how these independent traders could be supported
or protected.

Visitor Accommodation

4.2.17 The Current Policy:

e To manage the provision of 500-750 new hotel bedrooms from 2011 to 2029 to widen
the accommodation offer for the city.

4.2.18 Changes since 2011:

e Around 928 rooms have been built or are committed (greater than the policy target up
to 2029).

e There has been rapid growth in the short-term letting of residential properties placing
pressure on the existing housing stock.

e Short-stay bookings through various booking platforms such as Air B&B are impacting
on traditional B&B/Guest House sector and some short term let properties (particularly
‘group houses) appear to be causing issues including noise and nuisance to the
neighbouring properties.

e Some PBSA are available as short term lets to non-students. This may indicate an
existing or future over supply of PBSA and there might be a need for considering
introducing a policy framework to manage the change.

e Bath hotels generally achieve high occupancy rates with high room rates on
Friday/Saturday. However, midweek occupancy is not full. Hotel sector generally
continues to perform well and there is continued operator demand for further space.

27
Page 63



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Visitor Accommodation Study shows reduced market potential for further hotel
development in Bath. Some limited capacity for budget hotels but not before 2021 and
no more capacity for high end hotels until second half of the Local Plan period

4.2.19 Key challenges:

Continued pressure for further hotel space in the city (especially budget hotels in the
short term) to be considered in the context of scarcity of land in the city and overall
operation of the visitor economy.

Seek to achieve optimal occupancy of hotels in the city e.g. improving mid-week hotel
occupancy by initiatives including encouraging corporate/residential conference
market.

Seek to manage the growth of short term letting of residential properties (although
measures are generally outside the scope of the Local plan).

Transport

4.2.20 Current Policy:

Implement improvements to walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure, as set
out in the Bath Transport Strategy, to improve connectivity to and from areas of
housing, employment and neighbourhood centres.

Deliver the measures identified in the Council’s Transport Strategy that are required to
enable the economic growth aspirations of the city and the environmental
improvements to be achieved (including managing car parking provision in the city
centre and increasing park & ride provision on the edge of Bath).

Implement the Parking Strategy and the Air Quality Action Plan for Bath.

4.2.21 Changes since 2011:

‘Balancing Your Needs: A Parking Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset’ was
adopted by B&NES on 14" September 2017.

Congestion on parts of the road network within Bath has worsened, especially in the
weekday 7:00-10:00am and 3:00-7:00pm periods.

Council has determined not to progress sites at Mill Lane for the provision of a new
park & ride facility to the east of the city and will continue to explore other options

The Air Quality Management Area that was originally designated in 2002 has been most
recently expanded in 2013 and now covers most of the principal road network in
central Bath. To improve air quality by reducing vehicle emissions, the Council has
published an Air Quality Management Plan in 2017 and will be introducing a Clean Air
Zone, which is a designated area in the city centre within which drivers of high emission
vehicles will be charged

28
Page 64



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.2.22 Key challenges:

e The JSP requires the Local Plan to identify and allocate strategic development sites in
North Keynsham and Whitchurch, an additional 300 homes in Bath, plus non-strategic
sites to accommodate around 700 homes. The transport implications will be carefully
considered in assessing potential development sites.

e Managing parking provision within the city. The PMP set parking standards for various
uses but the standards for Residential, Purpose Built Student Accommodation and
Houses in Multiple Occupation need to be reviewed. (Please see Chapter 8a)

e The B&NES highway network remains heavily trafficked, highlighting the need to
undertake transport and access improvements and major capital infrastructure projects
to facilitate growth in housing numbers and jobs, to minimise the adverse effect of
traffic, and to enable environmental improvement particularly in areas of historic
significance to be made.

e The need for new development is balanced with minimising traffic congestion and
making places more accessible by sustainable modes of transport.

o Need to deliver phased expansion of the existing Park and Ride sites and new Park and
Ride provision to the east of the city.

e Improve air quality.
Historic and Natural Environment

4.2.23 Current Policies:

e Sustain and enhance the significance of the city’s heritage assets, including the
Outstanding Universal Value of the City of Bath World Heritage Site and its setting,
Listed buildings, the Bath Conservation Area and their settings, archaeology, scheduled
ancient monuments, and historic parks and gardens, as well as non-designated heritage
assets of local interest and value.

e Core Strategy & PMP policies are supplemented by SPDs and other documents such as
the City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting SPD, Building Heights Strategy, World
Heritage Site Management Plan, and Conservation Area Character Appraisals.

e Bath’s outstanding historic environment, and its sensitive management, is a key
component of the identity, sense of place and future economic, environmental and
health and social well-being in our area, and the delivery of sustainable development.

e Bathis also surrounded (apart from on its south western side) by the Cotswolds Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The current policy framework protects the AONB
and seeks for it to be maintained and enhanced.

e The Bath and Bradford-on-Avon Special Area of Conversation (SAC) which is centred on
the Combe Down Stone Mines is designated in order to protect the significant
population of European protected species of bats. Development and change needs to
avoid a significant effect on the bats, including their roosting and foraging areas.

29
Page 65



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.2.24 Changes since 2011:

Work to complete a character appraisal for Bath Conservation Area is being undertaken
by the Council with input from Bath Preservation Trust, Historic England and other local
organisations.

The new NPPF states that the Plan should set out a positive strategy for the
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage assets
most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats.

The Topic Paper on Bath provides an opportunity to consider the importance of the
historic environment in the Council’s area and the existing & further work by which the
planning system can facilitate its conservation, enhancement and enjoyment by all.

4.2.25 Key challenges:

Continue to assess and protect the significance of all heritage assets, including listed
buildings as part of any proposal.

Sustain and enhance the area’s historic environment in allocations sites, drawing
particular attention to heritage assets and their setting.

Continue to protect and restore scheduled ancient monuments as part of development
proposals and to protect the setting of scheduled ancient monuments.

Maintain a strong presumption against development that would harm the Outstanding
Universal Value of the World Heritage Site, its authenticity or integrity. This
presumption applies equally to development within the setting of the World Heritage
Site.

Continue to work with partners to resolve long standing high profile heritage sites at
risk (for example, the former King Edward’s School and Cleveland Pools in Bath and the
Wansdyke) as well as lower profile heritage at risk sites.

Consider how Design issues (including Building Heights) can be addressed through
guidance to inform the submission and determination of planning applications.

Continue to seek to prepare conservation area character appraisals for Bath
Conservation Area

Greater recognition of local heritage assets.

Ensure development and change avoids any likely significantly effects to the SAC and
the protected population of bats

Manage change and development to ensure it is appropriate within the context of the
Cotswolds AONB

30
Page 66



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.3 Spatial Priorities for Bath

4.3.1 Based on the Core Strategy/ Placemaking Plan and the messages from evidence, the spatial
priorities to be addressed in Bath are set out below. These will help inform a
reviewed/refreshed vision and strategy.

4.3.2 Key priorities underpinning any options include:

e Maintain and enhance natural, historic and built environmental assets and quality
recognising statutory requirements

e Maintain and emphasise the priority for delivering new housing (excluding student
accommodation), especially affordable housing in light of tight supply and worsening
affordability in the city

e Increase the provision of employment space by delivering the planned additional office
floorspace to meet demand and provide greater protection of existing office and
industrial space

e Facilitate the delivery of transport infrastructure improvements needed to encourage
sustainable travel, tackle congestion, reduce emissions from vehicular traffic and to
improve journey time reliability

e Be more directive about on-campus University growth/PBSA and ensure PBSA meets
student demand to help address HMO pressure. Restrict off-campus growth.

e Address parking issues arising from PBSA & HMOs.

e Manage and improve air quality in the city, specifically within the Air Quality
Management Areas.

e No planned provision for further hotel growth in short term and investigate managing
short term holiday lets growth.

e Consider a broader strategy for the City centre and local centres to enable flexibility to
facilitate and encourage a range of uses, including shops, that maintain a healthy city
centre (e.g. child care, community centres, vets, cafes etc) and ascertain demand for
creative space.

e Maintain or provide appropriate social and environmental infrastructure to address
existing deficiency and future requirements.

4.4 Strategy & policy options

4.4.1 The current strategy of prioritising the limited land/sites in Bath for housing (not including
student accommodation) and employment space within the context of the City’s
outstanding natural and built environment continues to be appropriate. However
increasing pressure for PBSA, HMOs and visitor accommodation at the expense of other
uses, justifies strengthening the existing policy framework to support delivery of jobs and
general housing. The section below outlines the proposed policy approach across the
issues outlined above and focusses mainly on the issues that require review.

31
Page 67



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.2

443

44.4

4.4.5

4.4.6

Employment

The amount of growth in employment floorspace outlined in Core Strategy Policies B1 & B2
will be updated in the Draft Local Plan reflecting the overall level of job growth set by the
JSP.

As set out above the plan is still on track to deliver net growth in office space of around
40,000 m? by 2029, but industrial space is being lost at a faster rate than planned largely
due to the construction of student accommodation.

There are limited opportunities to make further provision of employment land within the
city and therefore, protecting both existing and committed office and industrial space in
the city will be of high importance, especially in the context of losses and pressure from
new PBSA development. Provision of industrial land elsewhere in the District is also an
important element of the strategy in helping to meet demand for premises in Bath and this
needs to be considered when proposing development in the North Keynsham SDL, Somer
Valley Enterprise Zone and extensions to exisiting industrial estates in the District.

This would require strengthening of the existing policy framework in terms of protecting
office/industrial space. Please see Chapter 8a Proposed Policy Approach DM11 and DM12
the review on economic development policies.

Policy B3 identifies Newbridge Riverside as Bath’s primary location for industrial uses and
is classified in the PMP as a Strategic Industrial Estate. Therefore there is a presumption in
favour of retaining land and premises in the B1,B2 and B8 use class in this area. However
Twerton Riverside is not identified as a Strategic Industrial Estate and is indicated in Core
Strategy Policy B3 as suitable for a broader range of uses, providing new business premises,
including those displaced from more central areas of the city, and housing. Recently much
industrial land has been lost to PBSAs reducing the flexibility the Policy is intended to
provide.

=01 10 Policy approach Options

1. Amend Policy B3 for Twerton Riverside so that it more strongly protects the remaining
industrial space for industrial uses. This would work in tandem with the proposed
strengthening of Policy ED2B (see proposed policy approach DM11 in the DM chapter

page X)
2. Maintain current Policy B3 approach but with specific reference to excluding

development of PBSA, thereby providing greater flexibility to facilitate a mix of
employment space and housing.

32
Page 68



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.7

4.4.8

4.4.9

4.4.10

Housing

The targets for new housing and its broad distribution for the new Local Plan are largely set
by the Joint Spatial Plan. For B&NES, the JSP proposes a requirement to plan for 14,500
new dwellings by 2036. The JSP proposes that around 300 more dwellings (in addition to
those currently committed in the Placemaking Plan and through planning permissions) are
provided through ‘urban intensification” within Bath.

The table on page 50 shows the progress of allocated sites through the development
process and related review of the associated PMP policy. Comments are welcome in
relation to these sites allocated through the PMP.

The draft B&NES Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 2018 has
identified a number of potential development sites that might be suitable for residential or
mixed use development. Sites that are currently classified as ‘suitability not proven’ in the
HELAA will be the first focus of further assessment to determine whether they should be
allocated for development to include housing. New brownfield opportunities to be
considered could include sites such as Twerton Park Football Ground (if it were to be
promoted for improvement and redevelopment) or the Bath Community Academy (BCA)
site. The future use of the BCA site needs to be considered within the context of its
potential to play a continuing role in terms of education provision within the city.

The current broad assessment of potential development opportunities within Bath
indicates that 300 dwellings can be accommodated through:

33
Page 69



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

e New brownfield sites (not already allocated)

e Existing housing areas including surplus garage sites.

e Reappraisal of previously discounted sites

e Change of use from offices until Article 4 is implemented

e Review and potentially more intensive use of existing allocation sites.

4.4.11 In providing new homes in the city further assessment will also be undertaken regarding
the size, tenure and type of housing that should be provided based on evidence of need.

=174 Proposed Policy approach

The Draft Local Plan will identify and allocate opportunities to provide an additional
300 dwellings in Bath, which might include:

e New brownfield sites (not already allocated)

e Redevelopment or intensification of existing housing areas including surplus
garage sites

e Previously discounted sites

e More intensive use of existing allocations

Due consideration will be given to assessing impact on other elements of the
strategy particularly in relation to protecting employment land.

Retail

4.4.12 The Retail Study 2018 indicates that the level of choice of shops is considered to be good in
Bath.

4.4.13 The Study identified some capacity for additional small/medium size food stores in the
short term, but it is not considered necessary to allocate any specific sites in the Local Plan
due to the good range of stores available in the city. In relation to comparison goods
shopping, the heritage based attributes of the city, including the large volume of visitors,
has enabled the city centre to support a good selection of comparison goods retailers and
the Southgate development has, in recent years, been able to offer large modern retail
premises which have been lacking in other parts of the city centre. In relation to bulky
comparison goods, the Lower Bristol Road area has been seen as a key location for the
provision of retail premises to meet this need. Therefore there is no urgent or significant
gualitative need for new net additional comparison goods floorspace in Bath.

4.4.14 As such it is considered that the existing policies provide an appropriate framework to
facilitate retail development in the city.

34
Page 70



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.15

4.4.16

4.4.17

4.4.18

4.4.19

Retaining existing shops and addressing vacancies are important priorities moving
forwards. In terms of retaining existing shops, Bath has more independent traders than
comparable historic city centres across the country and evidence suggests that the
independent retail sector makes a significant contribution to the overall retail offer and
attractiveness of Bath city centre. Further analysis needs to be undertaken to understand
the interrelationship with small/independent retailers, vacancy rates, rent levels and the
size of available units. From this analysis the Council will consider whether the Local Plan
can assist in their protection.

Visitor Accommodation

Given significant recent growth and schemes in the pipeline there is no short term need for
further hotel development. The Visitor Accommodation Study shows that the market is
unlikely to be able to support additional higher end hotel development before 2027,
however there is likely to be some limited ‘market’ capacity for budget hotels after 2021.

Within the context of recent growth, hotel provision in the pipeline with planning
permission plus the limited space/land available in city, it is not considered necessary or
appropriate to identify and allocate any specific sites for hotel development. The allocation
of city centre sites for development for other higher priority uses such as residential and
offices is a means by which further city centre hotel development can be managed.

Recent growth in properties available as short term holiday lets (both small and large
including party houses) has significant implications for the city such as on availability of
housing for residents, residential amenity and operation of other forms of visitor
accommodation such as guest houses.

There are currently limited ways to manage these short term lets properties, and these lie
outside the planning system. In order to exert planning control against the use of these
properties as short term lets, a change at a national level to the Use Class Order to create a
new use class would be required. More effective ways to manage short term lets would to
introduce a licensing scheme, but such licensing is primarily about ensuring tenants’ safety
rather than controlling the number or location of property type. The Council is unable to
introduce a licencing scheme without a change to national legislation.

=105 Proposed Policy Approach

To not specify hotel bedroom growth targets in the Local Plan policy and to not
identify or allocate sites for further hotel development in the city. This approach
would be reviewed as part of the 5 year review of the Local Plan and in the context
of updated evidence.

35
Page 71



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Bath’s Universities

4.4.20 The University of Bath (UoB) and Bath Spa University (BSU) both play an important role in
the economy and life of the city. Whilst both are beneficial to the city, their recent growth
and future aspirations have significant implications for the city in terms of the pressure on
the existing housing stock through the creation of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs);
impact on the communities where HMOs are concentrated; and demand for the limited
supply of land which is available for development within the city, particularly affecting
employment land.

4.4.21 The previous Local Plan consultation considered various options for responding to the
universities’ growth and student accommodation demand. Responses included:

e Further PBSAs should only be allowed on the campuses. Priority should be given to
creating more jobs and homes for workers, first-time buyers and other aspects of
Bath's own population's housing needs. Need to consider the provision of affordable
accommodation on campus

e PBSA development should make a financial contribution for community facilities and
affordable housing.

e Additional PBSA can help to address the HMO pressure.

e |f PBSA is to be built outside of campus, they should be included in the HMO cap (10%
proportion) — so that areas such as Oldfield Park and east Twerton do not get more
student accommodation. Social imbalance has already reached unacceptable levels.

e Further academic space must be supported by the provision of additional student
accommodation on-campus (including 2nd & 3rd year students) and accommodated
within the existing core campus.

e Student numbers should be capped and student accommodation should be kept on
campus in order to reduce traffic pollution and make roads less congested without
university buses. This will also protect the local community for families and older
people who are long term residents and protect office space.

e No further release of Green Belt land.

e Need to recognise the economic contributions made by universities and the growing
association between universities and businesses in terms of education and research,
and the importance of that relationship in developing a skilled workforce, job creation,
business innovation and growth, and new company formation.

4.4.22 Key challenges are to try to facilitate University success while ensuring the delivery of
planned economic and housing growth, within the context of the environmental capacity.
Understanding the universities strategies, including growth plans and campus estate plans,
is essential to balancing competing needs. The Council has been working closely with both
universities and has received their updated growth plans. Both the growth plans submitted
show lower growth than previously forecast. This reflects the lower undergraduate intakes
in 2018, the difficult operating environment for the Higher Education sector and
demographic changes.

Page 72
9 36



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.23

4.4.24

4.4.25

4.4.26

The table below shows the student forecast and accommodation requirements. The figures
are explained below:

‘Combined student forecast’ is based on both the universities’ growth plans.

‘Combined Housing Need’ - not all students require accommodation as some live at their
family home, taking a year out or undertaking ‘on-line’ courses, therefore it is assumed
that 78% of the UoB students and 56% of BSU students require student accommodation.
‘Total PBSA bedspaces’ takes into account the existing and recently permitted
development.

‘Cumulative residual bedspace demand’ is the cumulative residual figure after taking
‘total PBSA bedspaces’ from the ‘Cumulative combined Housing Needs’. This is presented
as cumulative figures, not the need for each year. In 2018/2019, there are 10,822
bedspaces as the residual bedspaces demand. This is an indicative figure and shows that
10,822 students were accommodated in HMOs or other means of accommodation. It is
important to note that this is based on an assumed (rather than actual known) proportion
of students requiring housing. Even though these figures are agreed by the universities, it is
difficult to be accurate therefore it should be used as indicative only.

‘Cumulative additional bedspaces needed from the 2018/19’ shows cumulative additional
bedspaces needed associated with the student growth. It shows 494 bedspaces needed by
2025. If no further PBSAs are built 494 bedspaces would equate to around an additional
124 HMOs (as 1 HMO = 4 students).

The Topic Paper on the Universities sets out further analysis and explains the universities’
plans separately. But in summary, the priority for the University of Bath is to increase the
size of its postgraduate student population and stabilise the size of its undergraduate
intake and focus on enhancing the student experience. As a result, the University forecast
only modest growth in its undergraduate population reflecting the pipeline effect of
stabilising its undergraduate intake at 2015 levels whilst forecasting growth in its
postgraduate numbers. The University has launched the first Master’s level degree
apprenticeship using a variety of distance-learning techniques and is also working on online
programmes due to be launched in 2019 which will not require full time campus
attendance. i.e. the proportion of students requiring accommdation may need to be
reviewed.

Given the unprecedented levels of uncertainty surrounding the mid to long term future of
UK Higher Education funding and recruitment patterns, the UoB is forecasting minus 1.0%
to plus 1.0% per annum growth beyond 2022/23. Therefore it is agreed that the Local Plan
is based on maintaining numbers at the forecast 2022/23 level through to 2035/36. The
forecast will be revisited as part of the 5 year review after the adoption of the Plan.

For Bath Spa University, the University is reviewing future growth and its estate
management, potentially consolidating its estate & sites presence within the city. Their
growth plan shows a reduction of student numbers in the next few years followed by a
steady increase. The university has indicated an estimated increase of 100 students per
annum from the forecast 2022/23 level through to 2035/36 which equates to additional
560 bedspaces from 2022/23 to 2035/36. As above, the forecast will be revisited as part of

the 5 year review after the adoption of the Plan.
Page 517%



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Combined forecast demand for student accommodation based on the Universities’ Growth Plan.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 /26 2035 /36
/17 /18 /19 /20 /21 /22 /23 /24 /25

Combined Student 25,149 @ 25,971 25,867 26,089 @ 26,608 26,842 27,007 27,100 27,200
Forecast *

28,300

Combined 17,797 18,426 18,362 18,559 18,944 19,099 19,194 19,246 19,302
Cumulative Housing
Need

19,918

Total PBSA 7,176 7,247 7,540 7,633 7,900 8,042 8,042 8,042 8,042
bedspaces

8,042

Cumulative residual 10,822 10,926 11,044 11,057 11,152 11,204 11,260

bedspace demand
T

%umulative 104 222 235 330 382 438
Additional
bedspaces needed
from the 2018/19
baseline

11,876

1,054

Cumulative 26 56 59 82 96 110
additional HMOs
needed if no
further PBSAs are
built (1 dwellings
=4 bedspaces)

264

*This based on the University of Bath modestly growing postgraduate numbers and then maintaining the overall student figures at the 2022/23 level through to 2035/36; and Bath Spa
University remaining broadly static until 2022/23 and then increasing slowly by 100 students per year to 2035/36.

38



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.27

4.4.28

4.4.29

4.4.30

4431

4.4.32

4.4.33

The University Growth Plans submitted are only up to 2022/23, they can only realistically plan
for 5 years and given the medium and long term uncertainty in the Higher Education sector, it is
proposed appropriate to plan for no more than the first 10 years of the Local Plan period as
illustrated in the Table above.

Core Strategy Policy B5 restricts student accommodation within the Central Area, Enterprise
Zone and former MoD sites where this would adversely affect the delivery of jobs and homes
and PMP Policies SB19 and SB20 set out site specific requirements for the UoB and BSU.

The UoB is in the process of preparing a new masterplan for the Claverton Campus. Subject to
further work and evidence demonstrating that environmental impacts (including on AONB) can
be appropriately mitigated there may be sufficient capacity on the Claverton Campus to
accommodate forecast further growth for both academic space and student accommodation.

BSU is also in the process of commencing work on a new masterplan for Newton Park Campus,
to supersede the existing masterplan. The capacity of the Newton Park Campus to
accommodate additional development is not confirmed at this stage.

There are currently over 800 bedspaces provided by private student accommodation providers
in the city and this will increase to about 950 bedspaces once all permitted planning
applications are implemented. These bedspaces are currently occupied by students from both
the UoB and BSU. If additional PBSA is built on the UoB Claverton campus this could ‘“free-up’
some private accommodation bedspaces for nomination and occupation to BSU students.

Given forecast slower future growth rate for both Universities, the initial indications of capacity
work for Claverton Campus to accommodate new student accommodation and the flexibility
provided within the existing and committed private sector accommodation, it is at this stage
considered approprate to prioritise new student accommodation development on campus,
rather than making provision elsewhere in the city. This is reflected in the policy options below,
which would replace Core Strategy Policy B5.

Core Strategy Policy B5 also restricts teaching space within the Central Area, the Enterprise
Zone and former MoD land. It is assumed that much new teaching space will lead to more
students, however both universities also have plans to maintain and upgrade existing buildings.
The redevelopment and upgrading of some existing buildings helps achieve operational and
student experience improvements, but does not necessarily lead to an increase in student
numbers. Understanding whether new academic space improves existing facilities or increases
student numbers is essential in determining whether additional student accommodation is
required. Where it will lead to increased numbers of students it is proposed that an application
for new academic/teaching space must be supported by the provision of additional equivalent
student accommodation on campus.

39
Page 75



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.34

4.4.35

4.4.36

=302 Proposed Policy Options

1. New student accommodation and academic/research space to be facilitated on campuses.
Proposals for new student accommodation and academic/reserach space within the city
outside the university campuses will be refused.

2. New student accommodation to be accommodated on campuses only, but
academic/research space can be accommodated in the city where it does not harm the
other objectives of the Plan.

3. Focus new student accommodation and academic/research space on campus and only allow
such development in the city and elsewhere where it does not harm the other objectives of
the Plan, particularly the delivery of housing & employment.

For all 3 options proposals for new academic/research space will need to demonstrate whether
it results in additional students and, if so, how and where the new students will be
accommodated (within the context of the default option being on the campuses). Also new
PBSAs will need to be directly operated by the University of Bath or Bath Spa University or the
development must have a nomination agreement for occupation by students of these two
universities.

Affordable student accommodation

Affordability of student accommodation is one of the key issues identified through the previous
consultation. Many recently built PBSAs are of the studio type with rental values beyond the
affordability of the majority of home students.

The right types of PBSA with appropriate rental values in the right locations can address general
affordability issues raised by students, as well as help manage the demand for further HMOs. In
general, second and third year students prefer to live in shared housing such as HMOs. This is
partly due to the experience of sharing a house with friends, but also due to the cost which is
generally less than many existing PBSAs. If more affordable student accommodation becomes
available it could start to free up existing HMOs occupied by students to non-students such as
young professionals, key workers and people working in the services industries. Therefore, in
line with the JSP approach, a new policy is proposed to require at least 35% of the
accommodation to be available as affordable rent.

The Visitor Accommodation Study identified that some of the PBSAs are available for non-
students throughout the year. In order to ensure the bedspaces built for students are avilable
for students, the new policy will also set out a relevant criteria in determining an application for
a new PBSA.

40
Page 76



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.37

4.4.38

=307 Proposed Policy approach

New PBSA should provide at least 35% of the accommodation as affordable rent. (The definition
affordable rent is a PBSA bedroom that is provided at a rental cost for the academic year equal
to or below 55% of the maximum maintenance loan, which is the rate for students living away
from home — outside London set by the Government).

New PBSA should be available exclusively for students in term time — (non-student use is only
allowed outside term times.)

Large-scale purpose-built shared living

Evidence suggests that housing affordability has significantly worsened in recent years. The
Council has adopted an Article 4 Direction to remove a permitted development rights for
conversion from residential use class C3 to HMO C4 in July 2013. Placemaking Plan Policy H2,
supplemented by a HMO SPD, sets out criteria and restricts new HMO in areas of high HMO
concentration. This might have some negative impact on the availability of lower priced rental
properties.‘Large-scale purpose built shared living developments’ may provide a housing option
for single person households who cannot or choose not to live in self-contained homes or
HMOs. ‘Large-scale shared living development’ is a purpose built cluster flat similar to PBSA but
built specifically for the general population. The proposed policy approach is required to
ensure that new purpose built shared living developments are of acceptable quality, well
managed, and integrated into their surroundings. To ensure this form of accommodation meets
its specific housing need, it is important that a minimum tenancy is set to avoid operation as a
hostel. (see also the discussion on the policy approach on ‘micro housing’ in chapter 8.)

Another issue is how to manage a change of use from PBSA to other uses. Some other cities
have started to see an over-supply of PBSAs and as a result increased change of use from PBSA
to visitor accommodation. It is not necessarily the case that this will occur in Bath, but given the
extent of housing need in the city it is considered appropriate to encourage a change of use to
general housing rather than to visitor accommodation and to set criteria to assess such
applications.

:30:15) Proposed policy approach:

Establish criteria to determine applications for ‘large-scale purpose-built shared development’
and to facilitate change of use from purpose built student accommodation to appropriate forms
of non-student residential.

41
Page 77



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

University of Bath

4.4.39 The Placemaking Plan Policy SB19 sets out key development principles for Claverton Campus
and Sulis Club.

4.4.40 The diagram above shows the existing policy zones set by SB19.

e Purple Zones (with no hatching) - areas of pre-existing development where intensification
and redevelopment is acceptable in principle

e Purple Zones (hatched) — largely sport related development, pitches, tennis courts and a car
park within the Cotswold AONB where university related development is also acceptable in
principle subject to a full and detailed environmental assessment

e Green Zones — central landscaped area which has an important green infrastructure
function.

e Yellow Zones — areas within which proposals for development will be judged against
national planning policy within the NPPF on AONB and Green Belt.

4.4.41 The Masterplan for Claverton Campus will set out a vision for the University’s long term
development and define key parameters in terms of;

e The location and scale of developments
e The nature of the supporting Infrastructure required

42
Page 78



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

e The enhancement of its Green Infrastructure

4.4.42 The Masterplan is still at an options stage and is not endorsed by the Council, however it helps
understand the broad locations and subject to further assessment the potential capacity for
new development on campus, thereby informing review of the policy requirements set by
Policy SB19. The diagram below indicates the potential development areas and following
diagram shows a compsite Masterplan drawing that highlights the built development
opportunities shown in the Development Framework in the context of the high level Access and
Movement Strategy and Green Infrastructure Strategy.

4.4.43 The Diagram in the emergying Development Framework with potential development areas
identified by the UoB.

Legend
[l 1asterpian Building Projects
©Q 5w CarPark
© St North of Library
@ stte South of Wessex House
@ awest Phase2
[ curent Proposats
@ Sschool of Management
. Academic/Non Residential Bulldings
D Potential Redevelopment Area
[B] residentiai Buildings
[ oecked car Park
Green spaces
[B] Enhanced Arrival Plaza
. Indicative Bus Layover

3G Sports Pitches (inc Training Area, Full size
RugbyiFootball Pitch & UIS/U1E Football Pitch)

INDICATIVE DEVELOPMENT CAPACITY
Academic/Non resid

355 | sws [vasswaso]

= 0 take into account 1053 of 2,000 m? from ramaval of
caisting bullding

Residential

* Bods per floor calculated as approximate area (m’) x 0.8 (i get
appecuimate intemal aroa) and then divided by an approximate
bedroom size of 27.5 m* {based on room size in Quads),

A Composite Masterplan prepared by the UoB

43
Page 79



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

—_— DEFINE

[l 1sterpien Building Projects

[ curcent Proposats

[ AcsdemiciNon Residential Busdings
[ Resicentiol Bucings

[ eckes Cor park

E Green spaces

Enhanced Arrival Plaza

E| Proposed 3G Sports Pitches
{inc Training Area, Full size Rugby/Football Pitch &
UTSAUIS Footbadl Pitchy

@ Existing Green Coridors

@ Existing Green Corridors to be significantly
improved/enhanced to link existing open
spaces and movement corridors within the
campus

Bl 5ot Skyline wek

LB Public Right of Way

I Key Internal Pedestrian Route

BBl Key Existing Pedestrian Link

[ ey Existing Pedestrian Nodes

= Pedestrian Connections that could be
improved {to respond to existing or
anticipated desire lines)

Q  Existing or Proposed Pedestrian Nodes
that could be improved/enhanced

" Pedestrian Access Points

Main Extrance Plaza

] Focal OpenSpaces

B tencmark Lake

0 Vehicular Access to Campus

[ Key Vehicular Route

I Busisyover and loop A

O19F.010 | D5 1o

University of Bath | Crent
Claverton Campus | Project

Composite Masterplan | Tiic
15000843 | Scale

4.4.44 The University is preparing detailed ecology, landscape, heritage and transport assessments of
the campus. Subject to the results of these assessments and agreement between the
University, the Council and key stakeholders of the appropriate capacity of the campus, it is
proposed that the key elements of the masterplan should be embedded in the site
requirements within a reviewed campus policy.

=17/ Proposed policy approach

Maintain broadly the current policy approach to the Claverton Campus but indicate the location
and scale of new development.

Bath Spa University

4.4.45 Bath Spa University (BSU) is reviewing the future growth and management of its estate,
potentially consolidating its estate and sites presence within the city. This includes a current
presence on the Bath Community Academy Site in the south of the city (see Housing section
above). Their growth plan shows a reduction of student numbers in the next few years followed
by a steady increase. The university has indicated an increase of 100 students per annum from
2022/23 through to 2036. However as explained earlier, the Council considers that it is

44
Page 80



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

appropriate to plan for the first 10 years of the Plan period in the context of the current
uncertainty in the Higher Education sector. Policy SB20 in the Placemaking Plan Policy SB20
currently set out site specific requirements for BSU.

4.4.46 The University aspires to consolidate its existing estate and to focus on its Newton Park campus,
which would encourage more sustainable patterns of transport i.e. walking between sites on
campus rather than travelling across the city or District by car.

4.4.47 Consolidating their operations on Newton Park and a few other sites could allow the release of
other university sites in the city over the Plan period for alternative uses such as employment
and housing. Further work is needed in order to inform this strategy and the planning policy
response to it, including whether the policy approach for the Newton Park campus would need
to be reviewed. The campus currently lies within the Green Belt and is subject to heritage and
ecological issues, including being within the setting of the World Heritage Site and a registered
Historic Park & Garden. This means that limited infilling and redevelopment within the campus
is only acceptable if it does not adversely affect the openness of the Green Belt. In order to
remove the campus from the Green Belt ‘exceptional circumstances’ would need to be
demonstrated. This would include a thorough assessment of all reasonable alternatives to
meeting University development needs outside the Green Belt, including brownfield sites

within the city.

3=

=30, Policy Options

1. Maintain the current policy approach to the Newton Park Campus that only allows for
development on campus if it does not harm openness of the Green Belt.

2. Remove the campus from the Green Belt if ‘exceptional circumstances’ are
demonstrated to facilitate development that would be subject to satisfactorily
addressing heritage and environmental issues.

45
Page 81



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Transport in Bath

4.4.48 In order to make places more accessible and help create healthier environments for all, the
Core Strategy and ‘Getting Around Bath — A Transport Strategy for Bath’ emphasise the need to
reduce car dependency and promote sustainable modes of transport. This is also necessary in
order to mitigate and manage the transport implications of accommodating additional
economic growth and housing in the City, as well as improving air quality.

4.4.49 In order to reduce levels of NO, to acceptable National and European limits by 2021, the
Council is proposing to introduce a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) in the centre of Bath, charging
drivers of higher-emission vehicles to drive in a defined zone. A range of other measures is also
proposed that are designed to sit alongside a CAZ to encourage greener modes of travel, and
lessen the impact of a charging zone on residents, businesses and the economy. The
introduction of a CAZ and the complementary measures should reduce the number of vehicles
entering the city centre.

Clean air zone

Royal Crescent

Proposed Clean Air Zone for Bath

4.4.50 Setting appropriate levels of parking also forms an important policy control on the volume of
traffic generated by new development in the city, particularly those acting as trip attractors in
order to discourage additional vehicle trips being made into the congested central area. The
B&NES Parking Strategy supports this, with off-street public parking capacity in central areas
held at the current level or below. Traffic generation analyses in Topic Paper on Bath concludes
that the maximum parking standards for new development set by the Placemaking Plan help to
ensure traffic growth will remain within acceptable thresholds in the weekday peak period in

46
Page 82


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/bath-breathes-2021/proposed-caz-boundaries

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.51

4.4.52

4.4.53

4.4.54

the central area of Bath and along A4-A36 corridor. Restricting parking at the journey
destination encourages a greater proportion of new development trips being made by bus, rail,
cycling or walking. The strategy of limiting the increase in vehicular trips into central Bath also
includes a programme of phased increases and improvements to Park and Ride provision.

In the Local Plan it is proposed to retain the current policy approach included in the Joint Local
Transport Plan and local strategies which facilitates delivery of improvements for walking,
cycling and public transport infrastructure, that will enhance connectivity to and from areas of
housing, employment and neighbourhood centres.

Options for reviewing the parking standards for residential, PBSA and HMOs are discussed in
Chapter 8.

With regard to Park & Ride provision this requires further expansion of the existing Park & Ride
facilities at Odd Down & Lansdown, plus new Park & Ride provision to the east of Bath. In
planning for additional Park & Ride provision the impact of introducing the CAZ and an
increased requirement for spaces will need to be taken into account. Adopted Placemaking Plan
Policy ST6 sets out the criteria used to assess applications for Park and Ride development, both
extensions to existing Park & Ride sites and new provision to the East of Bath. An independent
review of potential sites for a Park and Ride facility to the east of the City was carried out in
2013. The Council has also consulted publically to help identify the most appropriate location.
No final decision has been made on a preferred site and investigation of options is continuing.
The general area under consideration is indicated on the Bath Spatial Strategy diagram for
reference.

Taking into account the important role of the Park and Ride sites in the strategy, the Council is
considering two planning policy options, firstly to maintain the current criteria based policy
approach or alternatively seek to identify and allocate the site(s) through the Local Plan. In
order to identify and allocate land in the Local Plan the impact of options would need to be
thoroughly evaluated, particularly impacts on the Outstanding Universal Value of the World
Heritage Site and its setting, the Cotswolds AONB and the Green Belt. Feasibility assessments to
ensure that the provision of a Park and Ride site is deliverable in highways and road safety
terms would also be necessary. Dependent upon the type of Park & Ride development
proposed this is also likely to require removing land from the Green Belt, but only if
‘exceptional circumstances’ can be demonstrated.

=10 ) Policy Options

1. Maintain the current criteria based policy and progress delivery of new Park & Ride
development solely through submitting a planning application.

2. ldentify specific land for Park and Ride development (expansion of existing sites at
Lansdown & Odd Down and new provision East of Bath) and allocate in the Local Plan.
This is also likely to require removing land from the Green Belt, but only if ‘exceptional

47
Page 83



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.55

4.4.56

4.4.57

circumstances’ exist (at Odd Down this could also encompass land for a household re-
use & recycling facility — see below)

Replacement Household Reuse and Recycling - for residents

The current public household recycling centre at Midland Road is an outdated facility that
needs replacing to provide modern fit for purpose facilities that will improve customer
experience and make reuse & recycling easier for residents. The Council is investigating the
potential to relocate the household reuse and recycling element to land at Odd Down, to the
south of the Park & Ride site. The land-take requirement is approximate at the moment, and a
further need for accommodating welfare and parking for ancillary Transport services within the
same area of land at Odd Down, is also being investigated. Relocating the reuse and recycling
facility to Odd Down would also facilitate release of the Midland Road site which can be
brought forward for residential development, helping to meet the need for additional housing
in the city. Vacating Midland Road also requires the relocation of the Waste and Recycling
operations (domestic collections service and transfer station) and it is proposed that they are
relocated to Pixash Lane in Keynsham.

The land lies within the Green Belt and more detailed assessment of environmental and traffic
impact is necessary in order to ensure that a facility could be acceptably accommodated.
Investigations undertaken so far suggest that the expansion of the Odd Down Park & Ride which
is required to satisfactorily mitigate the impacts of development & traffic growth in the city
(taking into account increased demand arising from the introduction of a Clean Air Zone) can
also be accommodated in this location. Reconfiguration associated with provision of a
replacement reuse and recycling facility could also enable provision of a new access into the
Odd Down P&R site away from the existing roundabout therefore easing congestion at this
junction. Environmental impacts requiring further assessment include effect on the landscape
e.g. to the setting of the World Heritage Site and the Cotswolds AONB, as well as the need to
ensure that it would not significantly harm bats roosting and foraging in the Bath & Bradford-
on-Avon SAC. Subject to the results of this assessment and progression of the proposal through
the planning process it would be anticipated that a new facility would be operational in
2021/22.

The location being considered is illustrated in the diagram below.

48
Page 84



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

4.4.58

4.4.59

4.4.60

Approximate land area proposed
for Household Reuse
and Recycling Centre and

Land required for
Park & Ride expansion

VW=

] 4;1 - =
F [‘ Existing Park & Ride

>’

Progressing provision of the facility through the planning process could be done solely through
submitting a planning application. A waste facility would represent ‘inappropriate development’
in the Green Belt and would therefore to be justified by ‘very special circumstances’. However,
in order to help to facilitate its delivery and expedite the planning process with greater
opportunity for public engagement it is an option for the Local Plan to identify and allocate the
land for the provision of a household reuse and recycling facility. This would require the land to
be removed from the Green Belt and national policy makes it clear that this can only be done if
‘exceptional circumstances’ exist. The 2018 NPPF outlines that ‘exceptional circumstances’
includes examining fully all other reasonable options to meet the need, including on brownfield
sites.

Further work will be needed to address the issues above if the Council considers that it should
seek to facilitate delivery of the facility through the Local Plan. Alternatively progressing the
proposal through the planning system could be undertaken solely through submitting a
planning application.

=301 Options for the Replacement Household Reuse & Recycling Facility - for residents:

1. Seek to demonstrate ‘exceptional circumstances’ to remove land from the Green Belt at
Odd Down and allocate for a waste facility in the Local Plan

2. Progress delivery solely through submitting a planning application for ‘inappropriate
development’ in the Green Belt (which would need to be justified by ‘very special
circumstances’)

Historic and Natural Environment

All of the existing policies and associated guidance remain appropriate and valid. There is the
opportunity to review their promotion, presentation and interrelationships and to consider how
best to bring the different elements together within an adopted framework. The Council will

49
Page 85



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

also assess and identify gaps within the framework and the opportunities to prepare further
guidance as resources permit.

4.4.61 Local Plan policies currently provide and should continue to provide a series of key design
guidelines to inform and steer future development within the city. This is necessary in order to
ensure that development proposals respond appropriately to the historic and natural
environment context and local distinctiveness, including through consideration of location,
scale, design, materials and details. New development should add to the sense of place and
respect and display a positive relationship with heritage assets and their setting. Further
consideration will be given to which elements of the policy framework could be enhanced by
the preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Documents and how this can best be
achieved.

4.5 Review of existing policies for Bath

4.5.1 The table below set out all Bath policies in the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan, indicating in
bold which policies are subject to a review in this document and the proposed approach for the
remaining policies. Where there is no change in circumstances to warrant significant policy
review, it is proposed to take the policies listed forward - some with amendments for the
purposes of clarification (in the light of best practice, updated guidance etc.) as indicated in the
tables below. The policies will be presented in full in the Draft Local Plan and are also likely to
be renumbered at that stage.

=305 B8 please make sure you specify which site you are commenting on when responding.

EXISTING POLICIES PROPOSED APPROACH

Overall Strategy

Policy B1 Bath Spatial Strategy The approach is still effective but it needs to be updated taking
into account the latest evidence and trends.

Revised approach is discussed in on page 32.

Bath Design Policy

BD1 Bath Design Policy No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

The Central Area and Enterprise Zone

B2 Central Area Strategic Policy The approach is still effective but it needs to be updated taking
into account the latest evidence and trends.

Revised approach is discussed in on page 32.

SB1 Cattlemarket Site No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant

50
Page 86



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

EXISTING POLICIES

PROPOSED APPROACH

and fit for purpose.

SB2 Central Riverside & Recreation
Ground

No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

SB3 Manvers Street

The Police Station was bought by Bath University and a change
of use was permitted from Police Station (sui generis) to mixed
office use (Use Class B1) and Non-Residential Education use
(Use Class D1) in June 2015. Therefore the quantum of new
development needs to be reviewed.

SB4 Bath Quays North and Bath
College

Outline planning application for comprehensive mixed use
redevelopment was permitted subject to s.106 agreement in
August 2018.

It is considered that policy remains relevant and fit for purpose
to guide all reserved matters.

SB5 South Quays & Riverside Court

Riverside Court site: Prior approval request for change of use of
the upper two floors in each building from offices (Use Class
B1a) to dwelling houses (Use Class C3) (27no. flats) was
approved in February 2018. Therefore the quantum of office
floorspace and residential development needs to be reviewed
once the permission is implemented.

SB6 South Bank

No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

SB7A Green Park Station West
SB7B Sydenham Park

Pinesgate: Erection of an office building (Use Class B1) totalling
15,348sgm GIA, and a purpose-built educational campus,
comprising academic accommodation (Use Class D1) and
integral student accommodation (Use Class C2) of 16,491sgm
was permitted in May 2016.

Homebase store is due to close in November 2018. Further
engagement with key landowners is necessary to ensure the
Policy provides an effective framework. The policy
requirements also need to be reviewed in light of the
sequential approach to town centre uses and updated evidence
on hotel demand and development in the pipeline set out in
the Updated Visitor Accommodation Study.

Western Riverside

SB8 Western Riverside

722 completed 52 UC (towers) at 31/3/18. 17/02479/ERES
regarding plot B40 (52 pats) was approved in October 2017 for
the last parcel of land within stage 1 of the outline permission
site.

The Midland Road Waste Recycling Centre needs to be

51
Page 87



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

EXISTING POLICIES

PROPOSED APPROACH

relocated in order to facilitate expected housing and also to
improve the waste facilities/services for Bath residents. See
Section 4.4.6 relating to potential relocation to land at Odd
Down.

Twerton and Newbridge Riverside

B3 Twerton and Newbridge Riverside

Twerton Riverside — Strengthen the protection of the
employment uses.

Revised approach is discussed in on page 32.

SB9 the Bath Press

Approval of reserved matters with regard to outline application
06/01733/EOUT for the erection of 97 residential dwellings
(blocks B5 and B16), 750m2 of ground floor commercial uses
was permitted in December 2014. Development scheme is
under construction, however it is proposed to retain this policy
until development of the site is successfully completed.

SB10 Roseberry Place

Mixed-use regeneration comprising the erection of six buildings
to accommodate up to 175 flats, flexible business employment
floorspace (Use Class B1) (up to 4,500 sq m gross), local needs
shopping (up to 1,350 sq m gross) together with all associated
development was permitted in Aug 2016.

It is under construction, however it is proposed to retain this
policy until the site is successfully completed.

Bath’s Neighbourhoods

SB11 Former MoD Foxhill /Mulberry
Park

Outline Planning Permission for up to 700 dwellings, up to 500
sgm retail (Use Class A1, A2, A3, A4, A5) up to 1,000sgm
employment (Use Class B1), up to 3,500 sqm
community/education (Use Class D1), single form entry primary
school, open space and all associated infrastructure was
granted in March 2015 15/02465/RES permitted in Oct 2015.
16/03320/RES permitted in Oct 2016.

No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

SB12 Former MoD Warminster Road

14/02272/EFUL Demolition of existing buildings, erection of 204
no. dwellings was permitted in March 2015. 16/04289/EFUL -
Erection of 6 no. apartment blocks to provide 87 no. new
dwellings (Partial revision of application 14/02272/EFUL).

No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

SB13 Former MoD Ensleigh & Royal

310 dwellings + 72 Extra Care were permitted. Overall 134

52
Page 88



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

EXISTING POLICIES PROPOSED APPROACH

High Playing Field completed at 31/3/18. 13/00734/FUL Erection of 39 residential
dwellings. 16/02706/FUL - Erection of 9 residential apartments.
14/01853/EFUL Full planning permission sought for the
erection of 181 residential units, a neighbourhood retail store
of up to 267 sqgm GIA (Use Class Al), associated highways
works, infrastructure and public open space. Outline planning
permission for a 72 unit Extra Care Facility permitted in April
2015. 17/01449/ERES Reserved Matters for a 72 dwelling Extra
Care facility (subsequent to application 14/01853/EFUL and
16/05360/EVAR) permitted in Aug 2017.

15/03511/EOUT Outline planning permission for a 210 place
primary school (Use Class D1), up to 95 dwellings was
permitted.15/04633/REGO3 (School) 17/00407/ERES
Application for approval of reserved matters of landscaping,
scale, layout and appearance with regard to outline application
15/03511/EOUT for the development of 94 dwellings,
associated infrastructure and open space. Approved June 2017.
No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

SB14 Twerton Park The partial redevelopment of its land is still possible.

Therefore the development principles need to be reviewed to
inform the draft Plan.

SB15 Hartwells Garage No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

SB16 Burlington Street The current allocation allows student accommodation. The
development principles need to be reviewed.

SB17 South of Englishcombe Lane 18/01516/REG04 -Pending decision. Development of 37
residential dwellings including affordable housing. However,
potentially need to lower the capacity due to ecology issues
(the whole site is within a site of nature conservation interest.

SB18 Royal United Hospital No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

Bath’s Universities and private colleges

Policy B5 Strategic Policy for Bath’s Potentially need to be updated.

Universities Revised approach is discussed in on page 36.

Policy SB19 the University of Bath at | The University of Bath has published their growth plan and is
Claverton Down and the Sulis Club progressing the preparation of Masterplan.

Revised approach is discussed on page 42.

53
Page 89



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

EXISTING POLICIES PROPOSED APPROACH
Policy SB20 Bath Spa University, Bath Spa University has published their growth plan and
Newton Park Campus reviewing their estate plan.

Revised approach is discussed on page 44.

Policy B3a Land adjoining Odd Down | Further transport assessment needed in respect of transport
Bath Strategic Site impacts/access arrangements to deliver total of 300 dwellings.

54
Page 90



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

SH

5.1

511

5.1.2

5.1.3

5.1.4

Keynsham

Context

The market town of Keynsham occupies a strategic location between Bath and Bristol in the
north of the District with a population of around 15,500 and is linked to the two cities by the A4
and the mainline railway. The physical geography is influenced by the two rivers that traverse
the area, the Avon and the Chew, which converge to the north of the town at Somerdale.
Keynsham has a rich history. In Roman times the settlement was known as Trajectus and by the
medieval period had evolved into a successful town, dominated by the Abbey. Up until the 18th
century Keynsham remained a relatively small place, focused around the linear High Street, but
over the last century has expanded rapidly. A large proportion of the growth occurred in the
1950s and 1960s when the town greatly increased in size. Keynsham remained a comparable
size until the last decade, when the town has started to grow again.

The existing strategy seeks to enable Keynsham to evolve into a market town fit for the 21st
century, becoming a more significant location for business and a more sustainable, desirable
and well-connected place to live and work. The existing strategy has allowed changes to be
made to the Green Belt boundary surrounding Keynsham to accommodate both employment
floorspace and housing, but maintained the key Green Belt purpose of preventing the town
from merging with Bristol and Saltford, and helping to preserve its individual character, identity
and setting. Attracting more Higher Value Added jobs is a priority of the existing strategy,
aiming to reduce out commuting by groups such as professional workers, managers, senior
officials and administrative workers, allowing better opportunities to live and work in the town.
The important role of the town centre and Somerdale as the main focus for business activity is
complemented by the Broadmead/ Ashmead/Pixash Industrial Estate area.

The new Local Plan proposes an evolution of the existing spatial strategy. The fundamental
priorities are still broadly appropriate, but the town will continue to grow in size and
importance with the introduction of the North Keynsham Strategic Development Location (SDL)
through the West of England Joint Spatial Plan. This new expansion of the town will deliver
around 1,500 new homes, 50,000 sqm of employment floorspace, a new local centre and a new
primary school, with potential for a new mixed tenure marina. This requires the completion of
key transport infrastructure and a development that is of a high quality of design that
contributes positively to local character and distinctiveness. This new development has the
potential to enrich Keynsham and its connections and be a wider catalyst for change for the
town.

In this chapter, the Strategy and Policy review in section 5.2 sets out the topic based current
policy framework, key changes since 2011 and key challenges. These key challenges identified
will inform the Priorities in section 5.3. The chapter also includes the Suggested Policy
Approach to be taken in the Local Plan, or where there are still potential options Strategy
Policy Options.

Pagges91



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.2 Strategy, Evidence & Policy Review

DIAGRAM1
KEYNSHAM SPATIAL
STRATEGY

KEY

= $ Long Distance Cycle and
Walking Links

Bl Regional Cycle Route 10

E 2 Rivers Walking Route

B National Cycle Route 3

n National Cycle Route 4

B River Avon Trail Walking Route
B Monarch's Way Walking Route
“ Strategic Green

Infrastructure Corridor
Cycle Routes
Town and Local Centres

Safeguarded Land

D Development Commitment
Conservation Areas
Landscape Setting
Green Belt

W Transport Infrastructure

Improvements
Playing Fields

Strategic Industrnial Sites

Waste Facility

¢ © Crown copyright. All rights reserved
4 100023334 (2015)

)

Core Strategy / Placemaking Plan Spatial Strategy Diagram

5.2.1 The Core Strategy identified strategic issues and opportunities / objectives for Keynsham,
including the following:

5.2.2 Strategic Issues

e Job losses following closure of Cadbury’s at Somerdale

e Affordable housing shortage

e Ageing population

e Traffic congestion

e Limited public transport

e Lack of allotments

e Insufficient emphasis given to protecting Keynsham’s heritage

e Town ‘coasting’ since the 1970’s, with little development or investment, resulting in
Keynsham losing ground economically to neighbouring areas in Bristol

e Poor overall image of town, mainly due to declining town centre which is in need of
revitalisation

e Strong element of out-commuting, significantly in professional workers, managers, senior
officials and administrative workers

5.2.3 Strategic Opportunities and Objectives
Pags 92



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

524

5.2.5

5.2.6

e Embrace the future, developing Keynsham into a thriving, sustainable and safe 21% century
market town

e Capitalise on Keynsham'’s strategic location between Bristol and Bath, with the town
becoming a more sustainable, desirable and well-connected place to live and work

e Enhance the towns considerable assets and unique identity with physical development

e Improve the economy and create new jobs through development, including a focus on
regenerating the Town Centre and Somerdale, with Keynsham becoming a more significant
location for business

e Remain a proud and independent settlement

e Promote a sense of well-being and community for all, generating pride in the town

e Improve the Memorial Park

The Vision for Keynsham forms the foundation of the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan
(PMP). It was created to describe the kind of place that Keynsham should become, how much
change is needed physically, economically and socially, with realistic objectives for
development. The vision is being tested through the formulation of the new Local Plan, and will
evolve from its current incarnation. There is potential for the new Local Plan and the new
Neighbourhood Plan to contain a shared vision.

The current vision comprises the following:

Keynsham is a historic town that occupies a strategically important location between Bristol
and Bath and is therefore well placed to improve and attract investment. It will continue to
act as a market town and service centre for the surrounding area. In responding to the loss of
a major employer, it will evolve as a more significant business location. Keynsham will
expand to accommodate a growing population, ensuring it retains its independence and its
separate identity within an attractive rural setting. It will become a more sustainable,
desirable and well connected place in which to live and work, with an enhanced town centre
inspired by its heritage, cherished rivers, park and green spaces.

The subsequent spatial strategy for Keynsham set out in Policy KE1 aimed to deliver the vision
for Keynsham and the identified strategic opportunities & objectives. This allowed for changes
to be made to the Green Belt boundary surrounding Keynsham to accommodate both
employment floorspace and housing, but maintaining the key Green Belt purposes of
preventing the town from merging with Bristol and Saltford, and helping to preserve its
individual character, identity and setting. In summary, the strategy for the town as set out in
Policy KE1 is to:

e Maintain the Green Belt surrounding Keynsham, but allowing releases of Green Belt land to
the east and south west to accommodate employment and housing growth

e Make better use of the existing green and blue infrastructure running through and
surrounding the town

e Make provision for around 2,150 new homes (net) and around 1,600 additional jobs (net)
between 2011 and 2029

Pagg793



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

e Enable development which supports the town to continue to function as an independent
market town, with the scale and mix of development helping to increase self-containment
and help to develop the town as a more significant business location

e Retain and extend the Broadmead / Ashmead / Pixash Industrial Estates as an area for
business activity, complementing the role of the town centre

e Provide larger retail units in the town centre to attract a more varied mix of retailers
e Retain and encourage enhancement of Queens Road and Chandag Road as local centres

e Provide for improvements to public transport and enhance connectivity between walking,
cycling and public transport routes

e Implement a reviewed parking strategy

e Enable renewable energy generation opportunities, including a new district heating network
within Keynsham

5.2.7 Policy KE2 encompasses the historic core of the town centred on the High Street, the Memorial
Park, the Civic Centre, Riverside, train station and Somerdale. Change within this policy area
seeks to improve the performance and profile of the town and is focused around establishing
an integrated and sustainable town centre and regenerating Somerdale.

5.2.8 Since the Core Strategy was adopted in 2014, the Council has been monitoring its
implementation and updating the evidence base. The analysis below summarises the existing
strategy/policy approach and key changes that have happened which helps to identify the key
issues that the new Local Plan should address.

Housing Provision

5.2.9 The Current Policy entails:

e Make provision for around 2,150 new homes (net) between 2011 and 2029

e 700 of which to be located within the Town Centre / Somerdale policy area

e Include affordable housing and an appropriate housing mix giving more choice of housing to
meet the needs of the local community

5.2.10 Changes since 2011:

e At 1° April 2018 a total of 1,111 new homes (net) have been completed

e At 1°" April 2018 an additional 1,010 new homes have planning permission

e In total (completions plus permissions), 2,121 dwellings are currently committed

e The current housing policy is therefore proving to be effective and delivery is happening as
expected

5.2.11 Key challenges

e Make further provision for housing development at the North Keynsham Strategic
Development Location (SDL) as identified in the West of England Joint Spatial Plan

Pags 94



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Employment space and jobs

5.2.12 The Current Policy entails:

Make provision for around 1,600 additional jobs (net) between 2011 and 2029

Make provision for a change in office floorspace from around 13,000sqm in 2011 to about
20,200sgm in 2029 (net increase of 7,200sqm)

Make provision for a change in industrial/warehouse floorspace from around 52,000sgm in
2011 to about 60,300sgm in 2029 (net increase of 8,300sqm)

As part of this overall requirement, deliver a new mixed-use quarter at Somerdale to
provide significant employment floorspace, and the redevelopment of Riverside for a mix of
uses

Diversification of the employment base in order to offer greater opportunities for the
resident population, including a focus on attracting more Higher Value Added jobs to help
reduce out-commuting

5.2.13 Changes since 2011:

At 2016 a net increase of around 300 net additional jobs had been created

Of the top five employment sectors in 2011, all experienced growth throughout this period
except for the education sector

At 1°" April 2018 a total increase of 15,000sgm of B1 floorspace has been completed, mainly
as the result of the completion of the office development at the Chocolate Quarter at
Somerdale (now occupied by companies such as Pukka Herbs and Independent Vetcare, as
well as St Augustine’s GP Surgery) and the completion of the Civic Centre

At 1% April 2018 a total loss of 2,327sqm of B2/B8 floorspace has occured, mainly as a result
of the demolition of an industrial unit at Ashmead to build a custody and criminal
investigation centre for Avon and Somerset Police

5.2.14 Key challenges:

Deliver the Core Strategy Employment land allocation at East Keynsham as part of the North
Keynsham SDL

Make further provision for employment development at the North Keynsham Strategic
Development Location (SDL) as identified in the West of England Joint Spatial Plan

Ensuring the delivery of the employment objectives of the Economic Strategy review are
achieved where possible, including delivering more Higher Value Added jobs.

Retail and Town Centre

5.2.15 The Current Policy entails:

Enable development which supports the town to continue to function as an independent
market town

Provide larger retail units in the town centre to attract a more varied mix of retailers
Retain and encourage enhancement of the local centres

Pagg995



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Enhance the town centre to make it a more vibrant and attractive area, enabling all
members of the community to enjoy it over a longer period of the day

5.2.16 Changes since 2011:

The 2018 Retail Study update shows that Keynsham has maintained its place in the sub-
regional rankings of town centres, comparable with centres such as Frome and Wells

At 1% April 2018 a total increase of around 650sqm of retail floorspace has been built,
mainly as a result of the completion of the Civic Centre scheme within the Town Centre
which has delivered new, modern retail units

The town centre now has a slightly higher percentage of convenience floorspace than the
national average, but a slightly lower amount of comparison floorspace.

The amount of vacant units (10%) is comparable, but slightly lower, than the national
average of 11%

Despite the opening of Sainsbury’s in the Civic Centre and the good range of food retail in
the town the 2018 Retail Study update identifies that the convenience goods sector in
Keynsham appears to have lost market share between 2014 and 2018 (with increasing use
of stores in east Bristol including both the Sainsbury’s at Emersons Green and the ASDA at
Longwell Green).

The 2018 Retail Study identifies a number of retailer requirements for floorspace within
Keynsham, but that overall there is no forecast quantitative capacity for additional retail
floorspace

The quality of the convenience stores in Keynsham is not in doubt and instead the leakage
of convenience goods trips is influenced by the close proximity of Bath and Bristol and the
opportunities of combining grocery shopping with commuting and other shopping trips
The range of comparison goods retailers is considered to be good

Completion of the one-way trial of Keynsham High Street has resulted in an overall
reduction of through traffic on the High Street and better air quality (reductions of 22-47%
in particulates),

The identification of North Keynsham as a Strategic Development Location and the
requirement within the JSP Policy 7.1 to provide a new Local Centre to serve the new
community; the 2018 Retail Study recommends a modest sized convenience store alongside
a limited number of other retail units

5.2.17 Key challenges:

Clawing back some of the leakage in expenditure in convenience goods would benefit the
town; the challenge will be how to do this when there is no identified qualitative deficiency
with the existing stores.

The challenge for comparison goods shops will be how to retain existing retailers at a time
when national multiple retailers are generally reducing the number of outlets and
concentrating upon large settlements

The need to concentrate on qualitative improvements to the Town Centre and increasing its
wider attractiveness to people is still important (e.g. environmental/public realm
enhancement)

Pag® 96



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Additionally, the 2018 Retail Study recommends concentrating on encouraging niche goods
sectors within Keynsham (i.e. providing something different to the larger centres)
Integration of the North Keynsham SDL that is connected to,(and therefore benefits, the
Town Centre

Make appropriate provision for a new Local Centre at the North Keynsham Strategic
Development Location (SDL) as identified in the West of England Joint Spatial Plan, including
a modest convenience store that complements but does not compete with the nearby
Waitrose store and Town Centre

Ensure that no other retail floorspace is provided around or near to the Waitrose store (i.e.
between the A4 and railway line) in order to provide the best possible conditions for the
new Local Centre

Deliver Town Centre public realm enhancement scheme which will seek to deliver
gualitative improvements to the High Street, enabling a town centre for Keynsham that is
lively, safe, sustainable and healthy and an enhanced retail environment

Transport

5.2.18 The Current Policy entails:

Improve the management of traffic through the town centre and enhance public transport
provision

Enhance connectivity between walking, cycling and public transport routes

Implement a reviewed parking strategy

5.2.19 Changes since 2011:

Keynsham Transport Strategy published, with priorities identified to mitigate negative
impacts of congestion

High Street one way trial implemented

Junction improvements completed, including at Bath Road/Chandag Road, Keynsham
Road/Somerdale entrance, Charlton Road/Tesco entrance, Charlton Road/Bilbie Green
entrance

Keynsham Railway Station improvements completed; track lowered in advance of
electrification works / MetroWest service upgrade

Pedestrian/cycle infrastructure improvements completed, including on the High Street and
at Somerdale

Joint Transport Study completed at West of England level; Options Assessment Reports
published to define objectives and identify and assess potential interventions to enable the
additional strategic growth proposed through the West of England Joint Spatial Plan

5.2.20 Key challenges:

Transport is fundamental to the successful economy and wellbeing of Keynsham, its
residents and employees. Traffic congestion is causing delays, both within the town and on
the A4, affecting the quality of life for residents and making the town centre a less attractive
place to visit. Traffic travelling through the town to wider destinations exacerbates these

Page197



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

problems, which without mitigation measures will worsen with further development in the
town

Delivering key transport infrastructure to enable and support growth is therefore a priority
in order to avoid/mitigate severe impacts on the road network — this includes individual
schemes as set out in the Keynsham Transport Strategy, Joint Transport Study and Options
Assessment Reports

Opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport will also be a priority,
including provision of high quality walking and cycling networks and supporting facilities
Emphasis on design - ensuring that patterns of movement, streets, parking and other
transport considerations are integral to the design of schemes and contribute to making
high quality places

Visitor Accommodation

5.2.21 The Current Policy entails:

No specific policy on visitor accommodation

5.2.22 Changes since 2011:

Keynsham currently only has two small hotels - the 3-star Old Manor House Hotel (10
bedrooms) and 2-star Grange Hotel (13 bedrooms — although this has now received
planning permission to convert to residential). Grasmere Court is also a sizeable 4-star guest
house in the town with 19 bedrooms.

5.2.23 Key challenges:

The Visitor Accommodation Study highlights that the economic growth planned for
Keynsham (and partly delivered through schemes such as Somerdale) could generate
increased corporate demand for hotel accommodation in Keynsham, depending on the
types of companies that are attracted and how quickly

The SDL at North Keynsham is highlighted as having the potential to meet this demand
through a small budget hotel (which would require a visible location). The recommendation
is that the SDL also includes leisure uses that an associated hotel might complement
However, the Visitor Accommodation Study is cautious about the case for any allocations
within the Local Plan including the town centre

Historic Environment

5.2.24 The Current Policy entails:

Reinforce and enhance the historic character and qualities of the Conservation Area
ensuring local character is strengthened by change. The linear pattern and fine grain of the
High Street should be maintained and enhanced.

Improve the quality of the public realm including provision of a new civic space

5.2.25 Changes since 2011:

Completion of Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan in 2016
Pagr 98



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Completion of Shop Front and Fagade Study (joint project with Historic England and
Keynsham Town Council) in 2017
Completion of new Civic Space (Market Walk) as part of the Civic Centre development

5.2.26 Key challenges:

5.3

53.1

Deliver Town Centre public realm enhancement scheme which will seek to deliver
gualitative improvements to the High Street, and enhances the Conservation Area.
Continue to work with Historic England and Keynsham Town Council to progress detailed
design guidance alongside a funding and delivery plan to improve shop fronts and building
facades and incorporate into the Neighbourhood Plan as appropriate

Spatial Priorities for Keynsham

Key priorities underpinning the Local Plan are suggested to include:

Continue to develop Keynsham into a thriving, sustainable and safe 21° century market
town, building on the achievements since 2011;

Capitalise on Keynsham'’s strategic location between Bristol and Bath, with the town
becoming a more sustainable, desirable and well-connected place to live and work;

Deliver key infrastructure to enable and support growth including strategic transport
infrastructure and improvements within the town, including those set out in the Keynsham
Transport Strategy, Joint Transport Study and Options Assessment Reports;

Successfully incorporate the North Keynsham Strategic Development Location as part of
Keynsham and ensure that it is an exemplar new garden community of high design quality;

Enhance the towns considerable assets and unique identity with physical development;

Improve the economy and create new Higher Value Added jobs through development, with
Keynsham becoming a more significant location for business within the West of England
which delivers a more diverse employment base;

Deliver qualitative improvements to the Town Centre (including the main shopping streets,
the Memorial Park and clearer and better quality routes between them) with a focus on
improving its environmental quality, image and the overall experience of people who live,
work and visit;

As part of this strategy for the Town Centre, seek to accommodate more diverse retailers to
differentiate the Town Centre from nearby competitors, complemented by a greater focus
on leisure, food outlets and the accommodation of events to provide a more distinctive
retail offer and experience;

Remain a proud and independent settlement, utilising the Green Belt to ensure physical
separation from Bristol and Saltford;

Conserve and where possible enhance the landscape setting and natural environment of the
town, focussing on the river valleys and community woodland;

Promote a sense of well-being and community for all, generating pride in the town and a
healthy community.

Page399



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

54

54.1

54.2

Strategy and Policy Approach Options
Vision, Strategy Implications & Policy Approach

The spatial vision will propose the key aims and ideas that will guide the evolution of Keynsham
over the coming years. It will be informed by an analysis of the characteristics of the town, the
challenges it faces and the priorities of the Local Authority and stakeholders. There is the
possibility of developing a shared vision with the Neighbourhood Plan which is being
formulated concurrently with the Local Plan by the Town Council and their Neighbourhood
Development Plan community groups. As part of this, some detailed policy issues more suited
to a Neighbourhood Plan (e.g. local design issues) could be addressed in the Neighbourhood
Plan.

The current spatial strategy as articulated in the Core Strategy / PMP continues to be generally
appropriate. However, the inclusion of the North Keynsham SDL and the strategic infrastructure
required to deliver it is a major change which the spatial strategy (and vision) needs to take
account of. Other changes may be required to take into account the key priorities articulated
above.

\&1)FD Proposed Policy Approach

Update Policy KE1 to include revised housing and employment objectives, and incorporation of
key priorities identified above.

Update Policy KE2 to emphasise approach on delivering qualitative improvements to the Town
Centre.

Create a new Policy to allocate the North Keynsham Strategic Development Site for mixed use
development, including a red line boundary, concept diagram and key development
requirements / placemaking principles. Identify a new Local Centre at North Keynsham in the
hierarchy of centres within the Local Plan.

Update the Keynsham Spatial Strategy Diagram accordingly.
Update key infrastructure requirements.

Consider delegation of some matters of local detail to the Keynsham Neighbourhood Plan.

Page400



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

DIAGRAM1
KEYNSHAM SPATIAL
STRATEGY

KEY

= P Long Distance Cycle and
Walking Links

n Regional Cycle Route 10

a 2 Rivers Walking Route

El nNational Cycle Route 3

n National Cycle Route 4

B River Avon Trail Walking Route
B Monarch's Way Walking Route

4P Strategic Green
Infrastructure Corridor

-= Cycle Routes
Town and Local Centres
Safeguarded Land

D Development Commitment

i i Conservation Areas
Landscape Setting
Green Belt

* Transport Infrastructure

Improvements
Playing Fields
Strategic Industrial Sites

Waste Facility

¢ © Crown copyright. All rights reserved
’/ 100023334 (2015)

Changes Proposed to the Keynsham Spatial Strategy Diagram (lllustrative)

5.5 Review of existing policies for Keynsham

m Please make sure you specify which site you are commenting on when responding.

EXISTING POLICIES ‘ PROPOSED APPROACH

KE2a Somerdale Site is currently being delivered. Policy remains relevant and fit
for purpose, but will need updating to reflect the dwellings
already completed.

KE2b Riverside and Fire Station Redevelopment / refurbishment of the Riverside / Leisure Centre
site has commenced. Amendments required reflecting the
decision to refurbish and extend the Riverside building rather
than demolish and redevelop the site. Further consideration of
the Fire Station site is required in the policy as a result of this.

Development on the edge of Keynsham

KE3a Land adjoining East Keynsham Strategic | The site has achieved planning permission (18/01307/RES and
Site Allocation 18/01308/FUL) and work has now commenced on site for a total
of 261 dwellings. The policy remains relevant and fit for purpose
with the intention to retain it until development has been

Pages101




B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

EXISTING POLICIES ‘ PROPOSED APPROACH

completed to ensure adherence to the placemaking principles.

KE3b Safeguarded Land at East Keynsham This policy is proposed to be deleted as the two safeguarded

sites are proposed to be included within a new site allocation
policy for the North Keynsham Strategic Development Location.

KE4 Land adjoining South West Keynsham The site has achieved planning permission (15/04290/FUL and
Strategic Site Allocation 16/02077/FUL) and work has now commenced on site for a total

of 200 dwellings. The policy remains relevant and fit for purpose
with the intention to retain it until development has been
completed to ensure adherence to the placemaking principles.

K2 South West Keynsham Saved Local Plan Development on these two sites is substantially complete. Policy

Policy is proposed to continue to be saved until final completion of all
required development.

Infrastructure

Table 1: Summary of Key Infrastructure in Table to be updated to reflect the latest Infrastructure Delivery

Keynsham Plan and the strategic infrastructure required to enable and
deliver the North Keynsham Strategic Development Location

5.6 North Keynsham Strategic Development Location (SDL)

5.6.1

5.6.2

Introduction / Context

The site is identified within the West of England Joint Spatial Plan as a Strategic Development
Location, one which is capable of delivering large scale development which supports the spatial
strategy in a sustainable way. Policy 5 of the Joint Spatial Plan outlines key place shaping
principles that should be used to inform the development and delivery of high quality and
sustainable places. Policy 7.1 sets out the bespoke requirements for the site. These policies
form the starting point for detailed assessment of the North Keynsham SDL and allocation
within the Local Plan.

The site lies to the north-east of Keynsham, between the town and the River Avon, and also
includes the land at East Keynsham that was safeguarded for future development in the Core
Strategy. The majority of the site is currently within the Green Belt. The western end of the site
lies within 500m of the train station and extends for 2km eastwards towards Saltford. It lies
close to the urban fringe of the town but the main part of the site is isolated due to severance
caused by the railway line. The site is largely level, sloping downwards to the floodplain and
river. It is largely undeveloped but includes a range of uses such as Broadmead Lane Industrial
Estate, Wessex Water Sewage Treatment Works and Avon Valley Wildlife and Adventure Park.
The site lies in close proximity to the A4 providing direct access to Bath and Bristol by car and
public transport, and close to the Bristol and Bath cycle path to the east.

Paged 02



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.3

5.6.4

5.6.5

In summary the Joint Spatial Plan for North Keynsham requires the development of 1,500 new
homes (including affordable housing provision), 50,000sgm of employment floorspace (which
could provide around 1,600 jobs), a new school, local centre and potential for a new marina.
The development will require the completion of key transport infrastructure before new homes
are completed including the North Keynsham multi modal link road from Avon Mill Lane to the
A4, Keynsham rail station improvements and a Metrobus (high quality public transport) route
from Bristol to Keynsham on the A4 corridor. Other transport requirements include pedestrian
and cycle connections (including to the Bristol to Bath cycle path), a high frequency local bus
service through the site and off site junction improvements.

The development is also required to incorporate a layout and form that produces a

high quality of design, contributes positively to local character and distinctiveness, and that
mitigates impact on sensitive views (including from the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty). This should incorporate a well-integrated, multifunctional green infrastructure
network.

g

v

1%

OVE

KEYNSHAM

WHITCHU,
VILLAGE

QUEEN
CHARLTON
SALTFORD

North Keynsham SDL Location (with Whitchurch SDL location shown for context)

North Keynsham Strategic Planning Framework

A Strategic Planning Framework was produced by Arup in 2017 for the North Keynsham site on
behalf of the Council. The framework demonstrates an urban extension which responds to the
strong landscape setting. The development includes residential-led development of apartments
and family housing focused around a new marina with supporting neighbourhood centre and
primary school. Mixed employment development is included at the western end of the site with
extensive green infrastructure across the site. The scope of the framework is a layout for the
site itself with consideration given to the off-site improvements required.

Page7103



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.6 Taking into account the site context, a maximum development envelope has been defined for

5.6.7

5.6.8

built development. This takes into account the fixed land uses, protected sites and current
floodplain. Access routes, public open space and landscaping may lie outside this area. Within
this area there are additional sensitivities that will affect the site layout:

e High landscape sensitivity at northern and eastern edges
e Proximity to Wessex Water sewage treatment works (400m consultation zone)
e Proposed waste services and recycling centre

e Future extent of floodplain following impact of climate change.
Vision and Objectives

It is important to create a vision for North Keynsham as this will form the foundation of the
Local Plan allocation and the subsequent development and type of place that is created. The
vision describes the kind of place the area should become and what is needed physically,
economically and socially. It will help to shape what happens on the site, giving it coherence
and a real sense of identity and place. The current vision for the site, as consulted upon in 2017,
is as follows:

STRATEGIC PLANNING FRAMEWORK VISION FOR NORTH KEYNSHAM
To open up this currently isolated area to its environs in a sensitive way, creating a new
sustainable urban neighbourhood with increased access to the River Avon and connecting

Keynsham to strategic walking and cycle routes.

This will be a lively, safe, sustainable and healthy place which reinforces the distinctive

character of Keynsham, improves connectivity, enhances our understanding and respect of

nature and creates spaces around which a new community can start to form.

The community will thrive and develop within a well-integrated and multifunctional green
infrastructure network of new wetland features, restored floodplain meadows and new
woodland.

The vision and objectives have been derived from the understanding of the site, its history and
geography and suggests how a sense of place can be created and related to what is already
there. It is important that the vision is not lost during the development of the design, so as it
develops, the plan must be constantly checked against the vision. However, the development of
the vision and objectives is also an iterative process and must be shaped through consultation
with key stakeholders and the wider community; it will therefore evolve through the Local Plan
process.

Paged 04



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.9 A concept framework was produced which responds to the site analysis, vision and objectives
which provides a high-level layout and an indication of site capacity. The framework has been
structured to optimise residential and employment development, balanced against the flood
risk, landscape sensitivity constraints and the limitations of the Health and Safety Executive
(HSE) consultation zones around the National Grid gas pipeline. The concept framework was
further refined with the help of initial stakeholder engagement (for example through
workshops with B&NES Councillors and the Town Council and initial discussions with
landowners) to produce the concept framework for the Local Plan issues and options public
consultation. The main areas of refinement following the stakeholder and landowner
engagement focused around options for the alignment of the link road and incorporating Avon
Valley Wildlife and Adventure Park as an integral part of the overall masterplan.

Create & reinforce public life; people invited to walk and
cycle with high quality public realm and cycle infrastructure Bath & North East

ObJeCtlveS + Somerset Council

A critical mass of people to sustain local services

Create activity with a permeable,
compact and walkable
A neighbourhood with attractive
LIVELY public spaces and mix of uses

Place

Integrate with existing built
up area as far as possibie
+

High quality walking and
Keynsham cycle routes o Bristol-Bath

cycle path, trains station /

S D L town centre and

development to south of A4
+

A A New Avon Mill Lane-A4

highway link which considers
HEALTHY CONNECTED ¢
Place Place needs of all users and with

development fronting onto it

A
SUSTAINABLE Layout and infrastructure to enable high number of trips to
Combating sedentary lifestyles Place take place by foot, bike or public transport
with walking and cycling a +
natural part of the pattern of Incorporation of energy efficient buildings, renewable
daily activities energy generation with aspirations for a zero carbon
development

Pages105



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PEDESTRIAN & CYCLE CONNECTIONS TO BRISTOL & BATH RAILWAY PATH
RELOCATED AVON VALLEY WILDLIFE & ADVENTURE PARK

PROPOSED MULTI MODAL LINK ROAD — ALIGNMENT TO BE CONFIRMED
PEDESTRIAN & CYCLE CONNECTIONS TO TRAIN STATION

EAST KEYNSHAM SAFEGUARDED LAND

GREEN SPINES PROVIDING WATER ATTENUATION

CENTRAL OPEN SPACE LINKING TO PIXASH LANE

POTENTIAL FOR NEW MARINA WITH RESIDENTIAL & LEISURE MOORINGS
9. POTENTIAL HIGHER DENSITY HOUSING

10. PUBLIC ACCESS TO RIVERSIDE

11. EXISTING CORE STRATEGY ALLOCATED SITE

12. POTENTIAL LOWER DENSITY HOUSING

13. POTENTIAL NEW BRIDGE OVER RAILWAY

14. RECREATIONAL FACILITIES — LOCATION TO BE DETERMINED

15. NEW A4 JUNCTION - LOCATION TO BE CONFIRMED

16. HABITAT MANAGEMENT & CREATION

. BRISTOL TO BATH METROBUS

NORTH KEYNSHAM CONCEPT DIAGRAM

B R 0 A N

,,,,,

AND THE POINTS OF CONNECTION TO THE A4 ARE INDICATIVE AND FOR
DISCUSSION. THEY WILL BE THE SUBJECT OF FURTHER ASSESSMENT DURING
2017/18.

Concept Strategic Framework produced for 2017 Local Plan consultation

Feedback from Local Plan consultation December 2017

Snapshot of comments made during Local Plan Issues and Options consultation Dec 2017 to Jan
2018.

There was guarded support for the North Keynsham SDL from many of the respondents, with the
caveat that growth must be accompanied by appropriate infrastructure that benefits the existing town,
as well as enabling the delivery of the new community at the SDL. Some respondents objected to the
principle of development here, and a number of key concerns were raised, but many also identified
positive opportunities that should be considered — briefly summarised below:

Key concerns included:

° Additional traffic congestion and worsening air quality

. Ensure is provision made for cycling, pedestrians, cars & parking — encourage walking/cycling but
balanced & well designed approach needed

. Fragmentation of development by railway line

° Avon Valley Wildlife and Adventure Park — should remain but concerns around noise generation
Green Infrastructure strategy needs to be capable of delivery and maintenance

. The proposed development intrudes too close to the river

° Landscape & ecological impacts

Pagerd 06



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Green Belt must be retained; the SDL reduces the gap between Keynsham and Saltford
Need to address climate change impacts - zero carbon will be a challenging target to achieve
Ensure the archaeological sensitivity of the site is fully considered

Avoid increase leisure boats on Avon

Positive opportunities that were identified included:

Landowner support and integration of the Avon Valley Adventure and Wildlife Park into wider
development

Can create a place that is sustainable; ecologically and environmentally sensitive; safe and
encourages healthy lifestyles (e.g. through walking & cycling)

Deliver a mixed use development with employment land alongside residential — opportunities to
meet range of needs within a development of high design quality

Opportunity to deliver infrastructure, including strategic transport infrastructure , bus priority
measures and Metrobus

Support for the provision of a new river bridge(s) for walking and cycling

Consider the provision of direct commuter cycle routes to key destinations, including the role of
the Bristol-Bath railway path (and links to it) in accommodating sustainable travel

Continue with aim for achieving a ‘net gain’ for the environment delivered through a
comprehensive green infrastructure plan to deliver multi-functional Gl e.g. ecological, recreation
Mitigate impact on landscape as best as possible through design, density and planting;
Opportunities to facilitate river restoration — River could also be part of movement strategy

Any potential marina should be transformed into a series of canals with moorings for houseboats;
this would reinforce the existing community and provide a form of affordable accommodation
Opportunities to deliver zero carbon development e.g. through CHP, solar etc. and combine with
measures such as provision of green roofs and rainwater harvesting

Development should include non-commercial community facilities, including at least one multi-
use community building (with provision for worship)

Vision, Strategy Implications & Policy Approaches

5.6.10 The Strategic Planning Framework and the feedback from the 2017 Local Plan consultation

raised a number of key issues that required further testing, including the following:
e Link Road alignment

e Street network and wider connections that encourage walking and cycling, creating a
healthy neighbourhood

e Landscape impact and green infrastructure provision
e Marina and flood risk

e Potential for a Zero Carbon development

5.6.11 A revised Strategic Planning Framework is in preparation which will be published as evidence to

support the Draft Local Plan. The emerging Framework is illustrated below, and is followed by
options for the key areas identified above.

Page1107



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.12 The Council proposes to work with the local community and stakeholders to test, expand and

5.6.13

5.6.14

5.6.15

refine the vision and objectives for North Keynsham to inform the emerging Strategic Planning
Framework and Draft Local Plan. This should focus not just on the quantum of development
envisaged, but the kind of place that it should become, so that it becomes the foundation for a
more detailed masterplan, Supplementary Planning Document and/or Design Codes.

Opportunity to create a new Garden Community

As part of the focus on placemaking, a key opportunity is emerging to expand the vision for
North Keynsham to create a new community based on Garden City principles. This concept is
supported in the National Planning Policy Framework (para 72c) and by the Town and Country
Planning Association (TCPA). Most of the principles of a Garden City are also applicable to new
communities such as the one being proposed at North Keynsham.

% \0“\\.\.\-\

5

"""

. BB

Emerging Revised Strategic Planning Framework

The Strategic Planning Framework already aligns closely with the Garden City principles as
defined by the TCPA. It is proposed that these principles are embedded in the Local Plan so
that they become part of the policy framework for the proposed development. This has the
advantage of introducing often overlooked elements such as long term stewardship of the land
(a key component of Garden City Principles) as part of the vision, objectives and planning policy
framework.

It is suggested to have a policy that provides an overarching context for both SDLs, and that this
should reflect the Garden City Principles as defined by the Town and Country Planning
Association.

Pagezd108



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

m Proposed Policy Approach

Garden City Principles:

A new garden community of around 1,500 homes will be delivered at North Keynsham (1,400
in the plan period). It will be required to be delivered in accordance with the following
Garden City Principles, as supported by the NPPF:

A Garden Community is a holistically planned new community which enhances the natural
environment and offers high-quality affordable housing and locally accessible work in
beautiful, healthy and sociable communities. The Garden City Principles are an indivisible and
interlocking framework for their delivery, and include:

e Land value capture for the benefit of the community.

e Strong vision, leadership and community engagement.

e Community ownership of land and long-term stewardship of assets.

e Mixed-tenure homes and housing types that are genuinely affordable.

e A wide range of local jobs in the Garden Community within easy commuting distance of
homes.

e Beautifully and imaginatively designed homes with gardens, combining the best of town
and country to create healthy communities, and including opportunities to grow food.

o Development that enhances the natural environment, providing a comprehensive green
infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains, and that uses zero-carbon and energy-
positive technology to ensure climate resilience.

e Strong cultural, recreational and shopping facilities in walkable, vibrant, sociable
neighbourhoods.

e Integrated and accessible transport systems, with walking, cycling and public transport
designed to be the most attractive forms of local transport.

The Value of Garden Communities

= |ocal community has control in planning

= high quality, affordable housing is delivered to
neighbourhoods with character

= both daytime and evening economies offer vibrancy [ Aer,
to the streets ;

= residents and visitors can walk and cycle to local . o s o
facilities RPN il RS

R
5. N0 SN e o

= self-sustainable lifestyles can be encouraged through
community food gardens

= green spaces for people and wildlife are key parts of
the community

Page3109



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.16 The following sections set out emerging conclusions from a number of topic specific pieces of
work which are feeding into the emerging Strategic Planning Framework and outlines proposed
policy approach options.

Link Road

5.6.17 The West of England Joint Transport Study sets out the strategic transport measures required to
address transport issues in the sub-region. Some of the measures were specifically to address
the impact of the Strategic Development Locations from the Joint Spatial Plan across the West
of England. To support the Local Plan and the North Keynsham SDL, further detail was needed
on these measures.

5.6.18 Current traffic congestion in Keynsham is high, journey reliability is poor and the network is
saturated. No more development other than that committed through the Core Strategy and
PMP can be accommodated without transport interventions. The key strategic transport
measure required to support the North Keynsham SDL (including the East Keynsham
safeguarded land) is a new road between the A4174 and the A4, which was illustrated in the
Strategic Planning Framework concept diagram.

5.6.19 An Options Assessment Report (OAR) for the proposed link road connecting the A4175 to the
north of Keynsham with the A4 Bath Road to the east of Keynsham describes the process of
analysing the transport challenges, defining link road-specific objectives and identifying and
assessing potential interventions to tackle these challenges. This report builds upon the findings
of the Joint Transport Study.

m——  Dption 1
Option 2
Option 3
m—  Dption a
=  (Dption b
Opiion c

e Common to all options

Bafh
il

KEYNSHAM

B3116

e Tl

Options Assessment for Link Road

Pagerd10



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.20

5.6.21

5.6.22

5.6.23

The OAR represents a significant step forward in the development of this strategic transport
proposal, but still represents an early stage of option development and assessment. Further
scheme development and public consultation will be undertaken during 2018/19.

The OAR demonstrates that sufficient consideration has been given to the case for intervention,
assessment of options, technical feasibility, costs, benefits, impacts, potential strength of
business case and affordability of the proposed transport scheme. The OARs have been
structured and prepared in accordance with the good practice set out by the Department for
Transport (DfT). A ‘long list’ of nine initial alignments was identified as part of this process, with
three potential junctions identified on the A4 (Options 1 to 3) and three junctions on the A4175
(Options A to C). The following paragraphs summarise conclusions of the OAR, for full details
please refer to the Report.

The DfT Transport Analysis Guidance (TAG) was applied to the nine options, which considered

factors such as physical constraints, current land use, deliverability issues, ability to provide

access to the SDL, highway access and network impacts. Four options progressed through the

initial sifting exercise:

e 2A: Pixash Lane (with new bridge across railway) to Avon Mill Lane

e 2C: Pixash Lane (with new bridge across railway) to new A4175 junction (with new bridge
across River Avon)

e 3A: A4 new junction (with new bridge across railway) to Avon Mill Lane

e 3C: Ad new junction (with new bridge across railway) to new A4175 junction (with new
bridge across River Avon)

The four selected options were modelled using the Keynsham S-Paramics model. This allowed
changes to the highway network to be computer simulated to test the effects on traffic flows,
speed and delays for specific time periods in a future year (in this case 0700-1000 and 1500-
1900, both at 2029). All four options demonstrated a significant saving in overall travel time. In
general, the savings with the ‘C’ alignment to the A4175 performed better than those
connecting via Avon Mill Lane (‘A’ alignment). This is because a new connection to the A4175
avoids interaction with other traffic still using Avon Mill Lane. However, the ‘A’ alignments are
shown to be better value for money. Scheme costs, network speeds, value for money and key
risks are set out below:

Options Assessment: Scheme costs, network speeds, value for money and key risks

Route Estimated Network Value for Key Route-Specific Risks
Cost Average Speed Money
0700-1000
(mph)

Option 2A: £26m 23 High Implications for delivery of SDL as

Pixash Lane to proposed route would render some parcels

Avon Mill Lane of land more difficult to deliver north of
the railway. Bridge construction to be
agreed with Network Rail. Potential to
harm setting of existing Pixash Listed

Pageslll




B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Bridge.
Option 2C: £51m 23 Medium Implications for delivery of SDL as
Pixash to new proposed route would render some parcels
A4175 junction of land more difficult to deliver north of

the railway. Significant proportion of the
alignment through Flood Zones 2 and 3,
which may not be acceptable to
Environment Agency. Bridge construction
to be agreed with Network Rail. Potential
to harm setting of existing Pixash Listed

Bridge.
Option 3A: A4 £25m 23 High Bridge construction to be agreed with
new junction to Network Rail.
Avon Mill Lane
Option 3C: A4 £54m 22 Low Significant proportion of the alignment
new junction to through Flood Zones 2 and 3 which may
new junction on not be acceptable to EA. Bridge
A4175 construction to be agreed with Network
Rail.

Option 3A with Link Road through the SDL

Pagerd 12



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Option 3A with Link Road parallel to railway line

5.6.24 Further work has been undertaken to identify the most appropriate alighment and design
parameters to achieve a best fit for the A4 Link Road with a revised Strategic Planning
Framework which has required the Council to think about what form the road will take,
whether it will run around the development or through it. This exercise has been undertaken
based on Option 3A. Two different alignment options are shown below for the route through
the main body of the SDL. Also shown for reference (with dashed lines) are the other alignment
options which are also being consulted on.

5.6.25 There are benefits and disbenefits to both approaches. The option for the link road through the
SDL was subject to further modelling to test performance. The results showed that the lower
threshold speed with a lesser link standard between Broadmead Lane and the GWML bridge
makes this section unattractive to ‘through’ traffic and reduces the attracted flow here (a
slower threshold speed can be expected to reduce strategic traffic usage along the affected
section by at least 50% and in some cases by nearly 90%). Therefore, although the option for
the link road through the SDL has greater benefits in placemaking and urban design termes, it
does not perform as well in Highway terms. Therefore, the route parallel to the railway line is
proposed to be the preferred alignment within the site.

5.6.26 The preferred option for the link road alignment will be taken following the Local Plan
consultation, after all comments have been taken into account. From a planning and urban
design perspective, the next steps after the preferred route is decided would be to focus in
more detail on how the development should respond to the link road, in order to deliver the
best placemaking outcomes. One suggested approach would be to develop local design

Page7113



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

guidance which encourages high-quality development and the creation of distinctive places
where people want to live.

m Proposed Policy Options

The four shortlisted options for the Link Road alignment contained within the Options
Assessment Report are being consulted upon as proposed options.

Option 3A has been used as an example to show the most appropriate alignment of the road
within the main body of the site north of the railway line, with the route parallel to the
railway line a preferred option.

The Broadmead Lane link under the railway line is proposed to be retained as a one-way
vehicular link. Although this route is not being proposed as one of the four shortlisted options
for the new link road alignment, there are options regarding the direction of traffic (i.e.
north-bound only or south-bound only) which are being consulted upon.

In line with the Joint Spatial Plan, no housing will be completed at the North Keynsham SDL
ahead of the Avon Mill Lane to A4 link being completed.

Develop local design guidance to focus in more detail on how the development should
respond to the link road, in order to deliver the best placemaking outcomes.

Pedestrian and Cycle connections

5.6.27 Consultation feedback showed strong support for creating a healthy neighbourhood by
encouraging walking and cycling. Potential on-site and off-site options to be able to achieve this
include the following:

Off-site

e Avon-Mill Lane to Train Station and access to Somerdale: potential routes from the SDL
along roadside or across land west of Avon Mill Lane, subject to level changes. Potential
enhancements to cycle facilities at the station e.g. bike storage.

e Controlled crossing at Pixash Lane/A4 junction: southbound routes towards community
woodland to be provided as part of KE3B build-out.

e North-south link from Keynsham Road to Bath Hill - potential routes through along Avon
Mill Lane, through Memorial Park (although bylaw currently prohibits this) or along
riverside.

e Unity Road pedestrian/cycle link: enhancement of route to Gaston Avenue — improvement
to railway and A4 tunnels; further improvements through to Bath Road.

e  Cross-river connections to Somerdale: direct route from SDL to south of Sydmead House,
across A4175 and Sydenham Mead to Somerdale, connecting to new bridge at Somerdale
Paged14



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

across to Chequers - would require an additional 2 bridges over River Avon and include part
of route within South Gloucestershire.

High Street / Station Road/ Bath Hill enhancement: pedestrian and cycle access
improvements and public realm enhancements. Partial delivery as part of town centre
regeneration scheme

On-site

East-west cycle route (through SDL from Bristol-Bath Railway Path to Wessex Water site —
meets Link Road cycle route through to Keynsham Road)

Pixash Lane to River Avon route: downgrading existing lane north from Ashmead Road
junction to pedestrian/cycle only route; alterations to ramps/ new ramps down to site level
to create accessible route, may need to cross link road; onward connection created

through site to river; potential footbridge across river — strong network benefit but
maintenance implications

Broadmead Lane: downgrade to one-way; investigate potential to improve

pedestrian/cycle provision (but may be difficult to achieve under the narrow bridge)
[ ]

Development of street hierarchy through SDL and creation of walking and cycling design
standards to ensure that all streets created through the development are attractive for
walking and cycling

5.6.28 These potential pedestrian and cycle connections are illustrated below:

Somerdale

~=
Station

p— ~.

High
Street

Railway

) .,’ Path

: ,' LT TS

] ’ ...__. \
Schools 'u‘ s ‘." Rl DS

\ ry o

\ & ”0‘

¥ vl
East Keynsham

Potential strategic pedestrian and cycle connectivity

Page9115



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

m Proposed Policy Options

The identified off-site and on-site walking and cycling links above are put forward as options
to be considered in order to create a healthy neighbourhood and support modal shift to
active travel modes.

The creation of walking and cycling design standards to ensure that all streets created
through the development are attractive for walking and cycling is proposed as a preferred
option.

5.6.29 The next steps are to review the above routes, identifying preferred options, outline costs and
potential funding mechanisms, and progress with walking and cycling design standards.

Marina

5.6.30 The B&NES Waterspace Study (2017) identifies the benefits of increased mooring opportunities,
specifically on the River Avon, to increase activity, natural surveillance and encourage
navigation and enjoyment of the local waterways. The demand for moorings relates to all types
— 48hr, 14day, trade and residential. Whilst there is no standardised methodology for projecting
mooring demand, there is acknowledgement that there is pressure for moorings, with very few
visitor moorings along the River Avon, and few on-line moorings that have pontoons. The
Waterspace Study shows that the stretch of the River Avon that flows through the North
Keynsham site is an area of search for potential additional moorings.

KEY

©  Murias ane Meomngs  *

AREAS OF SEARCH FOR NEW AND IMPROVED MOORINGS

BRISTOL
4 s\\
i \

0 toce
Moy | [ E— R e
&/ 77 Stvama @ Fotee cmpons
" e PORTAVON MARINA PN S
1 o Rivar ENE)Pumo out (srwage)
Nanst 8 Acen ©@oum
PHOENIX MARINE worms @@
e
prctrprredl®
‘moonng locatons.
a\
S JOHN KNILL
| (RESTRICTED ACCESS)
’ /‘
// r
e
% BATH MARINA
\\/—""‘~\/ BATH ’_’/
\\‘\ - By E\\ "'M// 9
DARLINGTON WHARF [ /\ \ el i
AN N %
- \ Nt Sl @R \
NE - ‘h 128 g . " \
BanChyCenve £ ~—F" ~ \ SN \‘\
/ a7 ( R S Whe
/ 4 17 7~ 5 SIS !
6 /3 J i Y f |
: / i /A \ ‘DIGGERS’ CLAVERTON [y
R f I ] S BATH NARROWBOATS — SYDNEY WHARF /7 7
NSl /
g =T DUNDAS WHARF B
VN SN D AR
X . P |
Ss3 1 ! /\ )
> BRASSKNOCKER BASIN [N
— F———t o N ¢
S Y Y
\\\ // . :
Bt et o o 3 Klomeses e S =] /\TKINS K )

Areas of Search for New and Improved Moorings (Waterspace Study)
Pagesd 16



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.31 Options for a potential marina(s) as part of the North Keynsham site have been assessed,
informed by the findings of the Waterspace Study which identifies that most residential boaters
would prefer on-line moorings or small off-line basins. The study looked at the potential for:

e Smaller off-line basins which could provide moorings parallel to the bankside or as bays.
This has been identified as the most suitable typology for residential users and likely to need
a degree of audio-visual seclusion from the SDL and from passers-by.

e Larger marinas which are likely to consist mainly of fixed bays. These are more suited to
leisure users and more appropriate adjacent to the SDL development, potentially as part of a
local centre.

5.6.32 A number of options have been identified, illustrated in the following plan:

Potential marina locations

Alternative main marina 2

-area3.1ha

Alternative second marina 2.2
-area1ha
Alternative main mfrina 3

> -aread.6h
Alternative second marina 2.3
-area'l ha
=
g -
i

%
5.6.33 The options are summarised as follows:
Option Appropriate Area Bankside Capacity
Typology length (approx.)
Main marina 2 Commercial 3.1ha - 245 moorings
max. (based on capacity of previous
planning application)
Main marina 3 Commercial 4.6 ha - 300 moorings
max. (based on capacity of previous
planning application)
Second marina Small off-line 1 ha 360m 17 moorings

2.2

basin

(based on 60ft craft / 70ft spacing)

Page1117



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Second marina Small off-line 1 ha 434m 20 moorings
2.3 basin (based on 60ft craft / 70ft spacing)
Second marina Small off-line 3.1 ha 1099m 52 moorings
2.4 basin (based on 60ft craft / 70ft spacing)
5.6.34 It appears feasible to provide equivalent and greater volumes of additional flood storage by

5.6.35

5.6.36

5.6.37

providing marina(s) in the location(s) illustrated. In line with previous modelling at-least
equivalent flood risk improvement benefits would be demonstrated, and additional benefits
derived from the additional volumes provided at higher flood stages.

Further consideration needs to be given to the potential for commercial delivery, the impacts
on level change (which may restrict the potential for interaction between the development and
the waterside and require a considered approach to landscaping).

m Proposed Policy Options

The identified marina locations and typologies (i.e. smaller off-line basins for residential users
or larger marinas with fixed bays for leisure users) above are put forward as options to be
considered in order to create new and improved moorings.

Flooding

The 2018 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment’ (SFRA) states that development at Keynsham should
preferably be located outside of areas shown to be at current or future risk of flooding where
possible. The North Keynsham SDL proposes some employment development in Flood Zone 2
towards the east of the site (all residential development is proposed to be outside of the flood
zone areas). A Level 2 SFRA will therefore be produced to support the Draft Local Plan.

The Level 1 SFRA assesses the potential for use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) at
Keynsham. In areas that are at risk of flooding from surface water, development could provide
opportunity to reduce this risk through reduction in impermeable surfaces and use of SuDS. The
infiltration potential mapping indicates that most of Keynsham is probably compatible for
infiltration SuDS. Areas of historic landfill north of the sewage treatment works and to the south
of Stidham lane would require thorough ground investigations as part of a detailed site-specific
Flood Risk Assessment to determine the extent of any contamination and the impact that this
might have on SuDS.

! B&NES Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Update 2018 (JBA Consulting)

Pages118



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

\&1)/7/ Proposed Policy Approach

Incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) into the scheme as part of the green
infrastructure and flood prevention strategies.

Waterside Opportunities: Potential Marina and SuDS locations

Formal leisure marina with.adjacent activity

Informal ‘natural’ inlets
- ‘floating homes!

New watercourses /
surface water capture

Landscape and Green Infrastructure

5.6.38 A full Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) is in preparation which will be completed

when a preferred option for the SDL link road alignment is determined, after the Local Plan
consultation. The assessment will measure and record the potential for impacts on the
character of the local landscape and on views and visual amenity including from the Cotswolds
AONB. Mitigation considered necessary to avoid or minimise landscape or visual effects and to
link into and reinforce the green infrastructure network will be fed back into a revised Strategic
Planning Framework. Character areas, viewpoints etc. to be assessed are summarised in the
following plan:

Pages119



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

LVIA character areas and assessment locations

s 3 T — y = Tegend 1

e (P A 4 3 ;

. PRFAE Y ’;//, 3 e 3 ¢ \ R L B Yot Nerth Keynabam
/L A V4 % - Strategic Planning Framewors,

 Oldiand ; W T . y Yo el

¥ \‘Q/@ -~ 3 / v ] m Study Ares Boundary
ol o | B » “ &, - 3 - Landscape Character Areas (LCA)
fnzeital {.— 3 L gﬁ%% 27 v Ante 1o Fura Landncapes o Hath
] o sie) o . - v < ¢ and North East Somenat A Lndscape
A el v - 3 4 " faracter Aseasment Supplementary
=Y § = & » . U

LCA 2 Chew Valley (BANES)
LCA S Durdry Piateau
(BENES)

LCA 6 Hntan Slewest and
Newion St Loe (BANES)
LCA D Stockwood Vale
(BENES)

LCA 10 Hoks Gate (BANES)
LCA 14 Avon Vistey (BENES)

LCA 16 Comrwolds Pratesux
& Valboys (BANES)

LCA 16 Avon Vasley {South
Gloucesterstire)

= ‘ Viewpant Locatons
o e et

Bath & North East Somerset Cosnc

B

Nors Keynsham
Strategic Plansing Framewso

T e o o e

5.6.39 A number of general themes/opportunities have already started to emerge which should feed
back into the vision and objectives for the site. These will be expanded upon through the LVIA
work and the West of England Green Infrastructure Plan.

Emerging Green Infrastructure Opportunities

Sport / recreation

Pages420



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

* Networks of green and blue spaces, natural and
formal spaces.

* Opportunities for play, relaxation, gathering, exercise,
food production, outdoor education, glamping.

* Opportunities for advanced planting and habitat
creation.

* Integration of relocated Avon Valley Park into
landscape.

Zero Carbon Development

5.6.40 The planning system supports the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. The
NPPF states that planning should help to contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. Plans
are required to provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources, that maximises the
potential for suitable development; consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low
carbon energy sources and supporting infrastructure; and identify opportunities for
development to draw its energy supply from decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy
supply systems and for co-ordinating potential heat customers and suppliers.

5.6.41 In response, the Joint Spatial Plan requires all new development to minimise energy demand
and maximise the use of renewable energy, and where viable meeting all demands for heat and
power without increasing carbon emissions. Through the production of the Local Plan, the
Council will be investigating the potential for development at North Keynsham to be built to a
Zero Carbon standard (net zero emissions from regulated and unregulated heat and power).

5.6.42 A report2 has been prepared to understand the viability of zero or low carbon developments at
the SDLs throughout the West of England. The study models how much carbon dioxide would
be emitted by both the domestic and non-domestic elements of the development on an annual
basis, and investigates the technical routes and associated costs of meeting both definitions of
zero carbon development: zero regulated emissions and ‘zero total emission’. The findings
show that there are routes to zero carbon development that could be applied to each SDL. In
summary, this requires improving the building fabric to the equivalent of Code for Sustainable
Homes Level 4 (a 19% reduction in regulated emissions from a baseline of Part L 2013) and
deploying the maximum possible levels of rooftop solar PV. To achieve the zero carbon aim, the
remaining emissions would need to be addressed by offsite measures, allowable solutions or a
higher level of fabric performance. For North Keynsham, the study puts forward options for

% JSP SDLS: Routes to Zero Carbon (Regen SW January 2018)
Pages121



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

consideration regarding offsite PV, offsite wind or an onsite heat network combined with offsite
PV. The study also noted that there was just under 8.5MVA of grid capacity available which is
sufficient to support the offsite renewables required to meet zero carbon emissions.
Technically, meeting zero carbon through a wind turbine is possible as there is sufficient
unconstrained wind resource within a 2km boundary of Keynsham and Whitchurch.

5.6.43 A District Heating Feasibility Review® has been undertaken to provide a high level assessment of
the potential for district heating for the North Keynsham SDL. Whilst the potential range of uses
across the site make heat demand uncertain at this point, two site specific opportunities for
heat supply were identified in the River Avon (which could act as a heat source for heat pumps),
and the Sewage Treatment Works (where warm sewage could act as a heat source for heat
pumps). Either of these sources could be used to create an ambient temperature heat network,
with heat pumps located at building level. This approach would reduce the high pipe
infrastructure costs and heat losses that are normally problems of heat networks in low density
areas. The study recommends that consideration is given to identifying the North Keynsham
SDL as a District Heating Priority area. This is recommended to focus on development to the
north of the A4, as the development to the south of the A4 might not be able to support a
traditional district heating network.

District Heating Opportunities and Constraints

| 1 Opportunity for river source heat pumps

2 saturated ground and open land area suit ground
source heat pumps

3 WWTP anaerobic digestion opportunity

4 Sewage heat recovery from WWTP

5 Not in an air quality management area — opportunity
for biomass

6 >50dwellings per hectare at heart of site- high heat
density

7 No significant electricity constraints assumed for the
site

8 Opportunity to provide private wire connection to
WWTP if anaerobic digestion used

9 Expansion of Avon Valley Country Park

10 Likely phasing strategy of developing from both
ends to centre does not suite heat networks

11 River is a constraint on future expansion of district
heating

12 Railway is a constraint on future expansion of district
heating

13 Low density adjacent development
14 Unlikely to be significant new development adjacent
to the scheme

15 Coordination will be required with sewage mains
running through site

16 Gas reinforcement will be required for the site

17 Development already granted outline planning
permission so not possible to compel connection to
heat network

5.6.44 Municipal sewage’s temperature is typically between 10°C and 20°C, which, when coupled with
a heat pump, can be an efficient heat source for hot water. Two main methods of heat recovery
could be considered: at the sewage treatment works itself or from the sewage pipework.
Wessex Water have investigated heat recovery at their treatment plants, but have not taken
any schemes forward, partly due to lack of heat demand to supply. Further work will be

* B&NES Energy Services Study Phase 3: JSP Housing Sites Initial District Heating Feasibility Review (Buro Happold Dec 2017)
Pagesd 22



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

required with Wessex Water to determine their openness to schemes that extract heat directly
from a sewer or directly from the treatment works.

vose

BUROHAPPOLD
ENGINEERING

Job Title:
B&NES Energy Services

Job Number:
0040794

e = T - ety
b P s A
- CEPPrs® ° A P
By Heat network
Ve priority area i

. '_44’ ¢ i Sketch Title/Number:
2 "~ | Draft North Keynsham Heat
Priority Area i

Date: Initials:
19/02/18 BS

m Proposed Policy Approach

Identify the area shown above as a Heat Network Priority Area, linked to the relevant District
Heating policy within the Local Plan (Policy CP4)

Avon Valley Adventure and Wildlife Park

5.6.45 Avon Valley Wildlife and Adventure Park is an important local business and tourist attraction
(the 3™ largest tourist attraction in B&NES and the 10" largest in the West of England).
Originally established as a Country park and farm attraction, the park has evolved to offer a
variety of attractions and events. An enhanced and relocated Park will be an integral part of the
North Keynsham site.

5.6.46 The revised Strategic Planning Framework will seek to integrate the future requirements of the
Park with the wider development to provide a cohesive and integrated design. The Park is keen
to expand their offer, have better links to the riverside and railway path, improve their
sustainability credentials, and include more community facilities (some of which could be
‘outside the wire’ of the park and therefore unrestricted by access charges). This expanded
offer could include visitor accommodation in line with the findings of the Visitor

Accommodation Study. The potential for a marina could also be explored.
Pagge7123



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.47 The main facilities are proposed to be relocated to the north-eastern end adjacent to Avon
Valley Farm. These should be laid out to minimise visual impact on views from sensitive
locations. Larger buildings and structures and any features such as parking should be
appropriately screened using planting. Potential impact on residential amenity in terms of noise
disturbance will also need to be assessed. Delivering access to the Bristol to Bath cycle path will
be a key requirement.

Potential area of relocated Avon Valley Adventure and Wildlife Park (hatched)

Formal leisure marina

Mixed use - food and drink, retail, commercial

School

Avon Valley Park entrance area

m Proposed Policy Approach

Progress the Strategic Planning Framework to fully integrate the future requirements of the
Park with the wider development to provide a cohesive and integrated design, ensuring the
visual impact on views from sensitive locations is minimised.

Consider the range of uses to be accommodated within the park, including the potential for
visitor accommodation.

Community Facilities and Education Provision

5.6.48 In addition to the emerging disposition of residential and employment uses across the site, it is
important that residents have access to community, recreational and shopping facilities. The
Strategic Planning Framework identifies a broad location for provision of a new local centre and
a new primary school. This is likely to be a three form entry primary school, which could also be

Pagesd 24



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

5.6.49

5.6.50

an all through facility taking in the needs of Early Education and Childcare for children under
reception age. Existing primary schools in Keynsham may also need to be expanded. The
existing Wellsway Secondary School would need to be expanded in order to provide sufficient
secondary education capacity for the new community.

Feedback from previous consultation demonstrated support for inclusion of community
facilities within the site, with suggestions that this could include the delivery of at least one
multi-use community building. One of the key Garden City principles is to provide strong
cultural facilities in walkable, sociable neighbourhoods to create an appealing and vibrant new
place in which people will want to live.

The proposed policy approach therefore includes provision of education and community

facilities as a site requirement, which needs to be fully integrated into the Strategic Planning
Framework.

m Proposed Policy Approach

Include provision of education and community facilities within the planning policy framework
for North Keynsham as a site requirement.

Progress the Strategic Planning Framework to fully integrate these uses within the site, with a

focus on ensuring the delivery of a walkable, sociable neighbourhood in line with Garden City
principles.

Pagesl25



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6. Whitchurch Strategic Development Location

6.1 Aims & objectives

6.1.1 The Strategic Development Location at Whitchurch has been identified in the West of England
Joint Spatial Plan (JSP) as an appropriate location for delivering new homes and jobs. This is to
be undertaken in a way which also protects and enhances the area’s significant environmental
qualities. It is a challenging task, but with the right commitment and policy framework, it is
achievable.

6.1.2 One of the aims of the Local Plan, is to enable development to be delivered. It will do this by
defining and allocating areas for development (thereby removing the land from the Green Belt
and defining a new Green Belt boundary) and then by setting out the development
requirements and design principles against which future planning applications will be assessed.

6.1.3 However, the Local Plan is not simply about enabling development, it is an important tool in
shaping 6.1.3 the quality of our future communities. The Local Plan is about reconciling a
range of competing requirements to create a great place. It is about providing the conditions
for the communities of the future to flourish; it is about achieving changes that addresses some
of our most pressing needs; enabling a shift to more sustainable modes of travel, responding to
climate change, achieving a range of homes, securing jobs that support a healthy economy,
provision of necessary infrastructure and facilities, ensuring the provision of biodiversity and
environmental enhancements to create enriching and inspiring places.

6.1.4 The objectives of the Local Plan as they relate to Whitchurch are therefore diverse and
complex.

6.2 Previous Local Plan consultation Dec 2017 - Jan 2018

6.2.1 Early stage consultation was undertaken last year on the Local Plan Issues and Options
document. This explored various high level issues and options for development in the
Whitchurch area, included a Concept Diagram (see below) and series of questions about the
potential development. The table below is a snapshot of the key comments made.

6.2.2 It was clear that most respondents do not want to see this scale of development in this
location, with a common response being that there are more appropriate locations to
accommodate housing growth. The Whitchurch location has been selected as part of the
process of producing the JSP and this will be examined by the Planning Inspectors at the
forthcoming hearings. The principle of development in this location is therefore not one that
the Local Plan is exploring. Instead, the Local Plan looks in more detail as to the nature of the
place that is created.

90
Page 126


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-2016-2036

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Concept Diagram from previous consultation:
Diagram 10: Whitchurch Concept Diagram

1. RETAIN OPEN GAP, OR ALLOW
PARTIAL/FULL DEVELOPMENT

2. PROTECT SETTING OF MAES KNOLL
SCHEDULED ANCIENT MONUMENT

3. SETTING OF QUEEN CHARLTON
CONSERVATION AREA

4. POTENTIAL ROUTE OF LINK ROAD
AND JUNCTION ALIGNMENT

5. PROTECTION OF STOCKWOOD VALE
6. RELATIONSHIP OF DEVELOPMENT
TO A37

KEYNSHAM

WHITCHURCH

VILLAGE

BCC
8@ NES

THE BROAD DEVELOPMENT AREA AND THE ALIGNMENT OF THE
LINK ROADS, THE LOCATION OF THE PARK AND RIDE, LOCAL
CENTRES, SCHOOLS AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ETC ARE
INDICATIVE AND FOR DISCUSSION. THEY WILL BE THE SUBJECT
OF FURTHER DISCUSSION DURING 2017/18.

Snapshot of comments made during Local Plan Issues & Options consultation Dec 2017 to Jan 2018.

Key concerns relate to the:

° negative impacts of new road infrastructure

° increased congestion, noise and pollution.

° severe impact on the character of Whitchurch Village
° negative impacts on tranquillity of Stockwood Vale

. loss of green belt

° historic sensitivity of Queen Charlton village

° setting of Maes Knoll

Despite the overwhelming objection to the principle of development, there were some positive
opportunities that were identified:

° The provision of an enhanced network of footpaths and cycle routes connecting to Bristol,
Keynsham and Chew Valley areas.

° That the development would bring with it sustainable local facilities including employment
opportunities

° Important that local centre(s) include a range of facilities e.g. health centre, local shops. Should
try and avoid retail park type development.

91
Page 127



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.2.3

6.2.4

6.3

6.3.1

6.3.2

Supportive of affordable housing and stressed the need for it to enable local younger people to
stay and live locally.

Need for some smaller houses and flats for both ends of the age spectrum; starter homes for the
young and housing into which elderly people could downsize.

Desperate need for new housing in the area, particularly for affordable housing and housing that
was genuinely affordable (not just shared ownership or higher-rent housing association) like
more social housing.

The importance of the orbital route as an alternative to the A37 was referred to, including
ensuring it links well to other elements of South Bristol link to the west.

Importance of biodiversity and green infrastructure

Importance of Stockwood Vale as valued green infrastructure recognised

Community Engagement

During the process of producing the Local Plan, the Council has had a number of meetings with
members of Whitchurch Parish Council and residents who were involved in producing the
Whitchurch Village Neighbourhood Plan. These meeting have been without prejudicing or
compromising their rights to object to the identification of this area as a Strategic Development
Location (SDL) through the JSP examination.

Engagement and consultation with the local community will continue during the production of
the Local Plan and beyond to ensure the delivery of a high quality new community within the
Whitchurch area.

An Emerging Strategic Planning Framework
Conceptual Framework

An Emerging Strategic Planning Framework has been produced to explore appropriate spatial
options and to generate the aspirational policy context that will help to create an exemplar new
community in the Whitchurch area. The Strategic Planning Framework forms an important part
of the evidence base for the allocation of the development area within the Local Plan, and is
available [at the start of the consultation period] via this project website: http://www.bathnes-
gardencommunities.co.uk/. It will be used as the basis of further challenge and exploration
with the local community and other stakeholders to achieve a high quality new development.

The framework started with a thorough understanding of the existing evidence base that was
commissioned for the area, and then explored various conceptual ideas about how
development should best respond to this context and assessed potential high level locational
options for development. The diagrams below show these locational options:

92
Page 128


http://www.bathnes-gardencommunities.co.uk/
http://www.bathnes-gardencommunities.co.uk/

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Option 1 — Extend Bristol Option 2 — Extend Whitchurch Option 3 — Individual settlements

6.3.3 For the purposes of progressing the Emerging Strategic Planning Framework and the Local Plan,
the preferred option that emerged through a consideration of the pros and cons (see Topic
paper X), including the response to the environmental context as well as the emerging
alignment of the link road, is largely based on option 3 and the creation of an separate
settlement. This reflects the previous consultation and would protect the valued gap between
Whitchurch Village and Bristol, help to maintain the village’s separate identity, and allow the
creation of new community, connected but distinct from its surrounding context.

\\'[e k8 Policy Options

Whilst the Strategic Planning Framework is suggesting a potential way forward for delivering
the requirements set out in the JSP, the principle of exploring reasonable alternative options
needs to be explored and tested through the Local Plan process.

The Council has assessed the options below, on which comments are invited. The Council’s
preferred approach is largely based on option 3. The principles and more detailed
alternatives based on this option are progressed further later in this section.

Option 1: Extending Bristol by infilling the existing Green Belt gap between Whitchurch
Village and the Bristol urban area

Option 2: Extending Whitchurch Village to accommodation all the proposed development.

Option 3: The creation of an individual settlement to the south east of Whitchurch Village
itself, complemented with an expansion of Whitchurch Village to the east.

It is important to note that the requirement is to meet the higher level policy context
provided by the JSP, and this includes the level of housing requirement. It may well be that a
combination of the above options is required to enable this policy to be satisfied.

93
Page 129



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.3.4

6.3.5

6.3.6

Garden Community Principles

The preferred approach from the Emerging Strategic Planning Framework aligns closely with
the Garden City principles as defined by the Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA). It
should be noted that most of the principles of a Garden City are also applicable to village
communities such as the one being proposed in the Whitchurch area.

It is proposed that these principles, slightly amended to reflect the size and role of the
development, are embedded in the Local Plan so that they become part of the placemaking
framework for the proposed development.

This approach is supported in the National Planning Policy Framework (para 72c).

\\'[el P2 Ppolicy Options

It is suggested to include a policy that provides an overarching context for the type of
development that could be promoted at the Whitchurch SDL. This will help to define the
qualities of place that are sought, and will influence the delivery and stewardship
arrangements that are required to create successful places. This policy can act as a bridge
between the strategic policies set out in the Joint Spatial Plan and the detailed planning
policy framework that covers the site allocation policy.

Option 1: could reflect the Garden Community Principles as adapted from those proposed by
the Town and Country Planning Association, and which are re-produced below:

Option 2: An alternative option could be to reply on the existing JSP policy framework, and
the site allocation policy that will be developed for the next stage of the Local Plan.

Garden Community Principles:

A Garden Community is a holistically planned new settlement which enhances the natural environment
and offers high-quality affordable housing and locally accessible work in beautiful, healthy and sociable
communities. The Garden Community Principles are an indivisible and interlocking framework for their
delivery, and include:

e Land value capture for the benefit of the community.

e Strong vision, leadership and community engagement.

e Community ownership of land and long-term stewardship of assets.

e Mixed-tenure homes and housing types that are genuinely affordable.

e A wide range of local jobs that are relatively accessible by sustainable travel modes from homes.

Page430



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

e Beautifully and imaginatively designed homes with gardens, combining the best of town and country
to create healthy communities, and including opportunities to grow food.

e Development that enhances the natural environment, providing a comprehensive green
infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains, and that uses zero-carbon and energy-positive
technology to ensure climate resilience.

e Strong cultural, recreational and shopping facilities in vibrant, sociable locations, that are walkable or
easily accessible via sustainable travel modes.

e Integrated and accessible transport systems to access Bristol, Bath and Keynsham, with walking,
cycling and public transport designed to be the most attractive forms of local transport.

Development Area Definition

6.3.7 The Emerging Strategic Planning Framework identified the following key elements that help to
define the development area:

e The broad location of the proposed new orbital route

e The setting of Maes Knoll and Queen Charlton conservation area

e Green Infrastructure link from Stockwood Vale through the development area, via the
hedgerow network, to woodland to the south, and west to Maes Knoll.

e An additional development opportunity to the eastern edge of Whitchurch Village.

¢ A new settlement located south of the new orbital link and east of the A37.

6.3.8 These key elements are in the sequence of diagrams below:

@ Orbital zone @ Green infrastructure © Keylandscape landmarks
~
7
R /
/
=
R /’ . A
N ’ 78 . y Sif<
N VA &y
<+ (/A g 4
2
o g ]
|
=) ,
~ " 4
A movement zone has been safeguarded The strategy is to connect existing pockets Key views to landscape focal points
for the proposed Orbital link route. A of green infrastructure through the SDL via such as Maes Knoll and Stockwood Vale
number of links connecting into Bristol new green links. These links are informed are also retained and enhanced where
are currently being explored. This zone by the topography, location of existing possible.
is illustrative only. green spaces and proximity to the zone of
the proposed Orbital route. The heritage setting of Queen Charlton

will also be a key influence on where
development occurs and how it relates
to the village.

Pages131



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

@ Extending Whitchurch Village

@‘.

There is scope to provide appropriately
scaled infill development at Whitchurch
Village, which retains the existing
character and respects the surrounding
countryside.

© New settlement

A new settlement is proposed east of
the A37. It will be clearly defined on its
northern edge by the Orbital zone and

distinct from neighbouring communities,

yet well connected to its context by

@® The Strategic Framework

| {L\\]’” )

The combination of reshaping the
development area of Whitchurch, and
the proposed development south of the
Orbital zone will form the strategic
framework for development. This will be

pedestrian/cycle friendly routes. underpinned by the green and blue

infrastructure strategy.

Strategic Design Objectives

6.3.9 Strategic Design Objectives have been devised to help guide the formulation of the policy
framework, ensuring that it is effective in delivering the placemaking aspirations for the new
development. They are an evolution of the strategic policies contained in the Joint Spatial Plan,
particularly ‘Policy 5 Place Shaping Principles’ and ‘Policy 7.2 — Whitchurch’ and are more
detailed objectives that would sit within the context of and help to deliver the Garden
Community Principles outlined above.

W[ ES  Proposed Policy Approach

The Strategic Design objectives set out below will be used to guide the development of the new
community. These will inform the planning policy framework of the Local Plan.

A Distinctive Place: Connected to the Landscape:

The new village will contribute positively to
local character and distinctiveness. It will
take clues and cues from Queen Charlton
and Whitchurch Village distinctive
characters, as inspiration, but will form a
contemporary new neighbourhood with its
own character and qualities.

It will have a clear structure with a mixture
of spaces and streets which provide a strong
sense of place.

Design and settlement structure should
work with the landscape and historic
character, and respond appropriately to its
setting.

Building on existing landscape character and
features, a new landscape structure of open
spaces, hedgerows, tree belts and woodland
will be incorporated into the development
to improve the environmental quality,
create wildlife habitat, complement the
landscape setting as well as promoting

Paged 32




B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

It will contain a range of densities across the
village reflecting the types of street and
spaces and reinforcing the urban structure.

It will have a range of homes for all ages and
offer a range of affordable housing.

It will have community and education
facilities offering opportunities for all.

connectivity for people and wildlife through
enhanced walking and wildlife corridors.

Enhance existing limited wetland habitat
and improve hydrological functioning to
increase biodiversity and provide resilience
for extreme weather events

Provide a variety of places to explore and
play including imaginative play, forest and
meadow habitat and formal play areas.

A Sustainable Place:

The village layout and infrastructure will
ensure a high number of journeys take place
on foot, by bike or on public transport.

Development will be expected to be zero
carbon- incorporating energy efficient
buildings and renewable energy
technologies.

Stipulate that all new building conforms to a
sustainable construction code of practice.

Low carbon individual transport options are
to be provided including EV car and EBike
charging. Facilities for bike hire are to be
included in park and ride areas.

Grey and rainwater harvesting is to be
included, in addition to, best practice in
water efficiency measures.

A Connected Place:

The new village will be integrated with the
existing routes to Whitchurch Village, Queen
Charlton and Keynsham.

High-quality walking, and cycling, routes will
be provided within the village also
enhancing links to surrounding settlements,
including the Sustrans Route 3, and new
links eastwards, through Stockwood Vale to
the River Avon.

Connections to the new orbital route, from
the village, to provide access to improved
highway infrastructure and Metrobus
facilities.

Accessibility to new park and ride facilities,
proposed at Whitchurch Village as part of
the orbital package, which may be located
on the new village perimeter, and could be
integrated with the local centre.

Roadways through the site to be designed as
attractive streets with integrated landscape
design, SUDS, parking and services.

A Healthy Place:

To combat sedentary lifestyles, walking and
cycling will be a natural part of the pattern
of daily activities through good
infrastructure.

Encourage healthy living through access to

A Social Place:

Promoting social interaction through
walking and cycling routes within the new
neighbourhood with a high quality public
realm and landscape.

The neighbourhood and existing

Page7133




B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

the outdoors and safe green routes to local communities to sustain local services such as
facilities, schools and amenities and an a primary school, secondary school and a
extending network of public rights of way, local centre.

cycle paths, footpaths and bridleways into
the wider countryside.

Incorporate outdoor growing areas attractive public spaces and a mix of uses.
facilitating healthy eating, community

interaction and environmental education.

Provide sports and leisure facilities scaled
specifically to cater for the needs of local
and surrounding residents e.g.. tennis .

courts, cricket pitch, bowling green, skate community uses within a higher density local
park, stables.

e To increase activity, the neighbourhood will
be permeable, compact and walkable, with

e Provide new employment opportunities
through a mix of uses including small scale
co-working and studio space supported by
high speed digital connectivity and services.

Provide a range of commercial and

centre at an early phase sufficient to create
a vibrant place proportionate to the scale of
the village e.g.. retail units, cafe, and
community centre.

6.4

Development Options

6.4.1 Two broad spatial options have emerged within the preferred locational option.

6.4.2

The first option (1A) seeks to optimise solar gain with roofs facing south so that buildings
can generate as much power as possible from the sun with solar panels. It is more formal in
its layout of streets and spaces, whilst the second option (2A) is based on the concept of
creating neighbourhood clusters and is a more landscape led approach that results in a
more organic, softer urban structure. Both options are intended to stimulate discussion and
test ideas about their implications. It is likely that the future preferred option will blend
elements from both and include other concepts that address other opportunities.
Comments are therefore, invited on these two options and consideration of the following
guestions might help to facilitate or shape comments:

Which aspects of these broad spatial options are important?
What other aspects are missing?
What other options for development could be considered?

What considerations need to be taken into account in considering the distribution of land
uses?

The broad options also include a range of sub-options that principally relate to the distribution
of land uses throughout the development. These explore issues such as where the schools go,
and where local centre should be located. The distribution of land uses throughout the

Paged 34



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

development will be considered in more detail as the Strategic Planning Framework evolves

into a more detailed masterplan for the development of the area.

Together with the Strategic Design Objectives, these options will be used as the basis for further
exploration with stakeholders about the proposed boundary of the development area (and
therefore the revisions to the Green Belt boundary), the allocation of the site and the planning
policies required to achieve the high quality of development that is aspired to. This will inform

6.4.3

the next stage of the Local Plan.

Option 1A - seeks to optimise solar gain

Emerging Option 1A

4

'r*-

M

t % Open green space
@9 Proposed development
Public realm Vay,
@ Local centre X Ve,
@ Secondary school Z& e
@ Primary school /
@ Park & Ride £

T,

s
J

- .\'

@ SuDS feature /

¥#: Trees I
' / \9
Q. ~

- A37 &
== Spine road }
== Minor road

«= Other road

== Orbital zone (indicative)
-~ Pedestrian route \ ¥

-~ Disused railway line ‘\, (¢ :

! Central node \ 7\:

Gateway node ey \

»
& N
~,
r =,

-

Fin 3N Snatial framewnrk nlan

Pageol35

% QUEEN
l'hh.-i CHARLTON



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Option 2A - based on the concept of creating neighbourhood clusters

Emerging Option 2A

S o Cnte, B A BSSIBLE ALIGNMENT OF
T Ry Lot SW ORBITAL

Key

Open green space
Proposed development
Public realm ¢ QUEEN
@ Local centre CHARLTON
@ Secondary school
@ Primary school

Park & Ride

» SuDS feature
¥ Trees

§ = A7
~= Spine road
Minor road
Other road
== Orbital zone
-~ Pedestrian route
Disused railway line

) Central nodes @

Landscape node Eeidt

™

o

Further details are provided in the Emerging Strategic Planning Framework — see here [hyperlink].
Emerging Proposed Policy Approaches

6.4.4 There is a range of emerging policy approaches within the SDL that are explored below.
Comments are invited on these emerging approaches. In this context it is important to note
that development is not anticipated until approximately 2029 at the earliest, as delivery is
dependent on infrastructure being delivered first. Our policy requirements and priorities are
therefore likely to evolve over time. So whilst a robust policy framework is essential to ensure
we can secure wider objectives, there does need to be sufficient flexibility in the wording to
allow this future evolution to be accommodated.

Housing
6.4.5 A mix of housing types, sizes and tenures will need to be provided in order to best meet the

identified housing needs of the wider area and the requirements of a diverse community. The
emerging policy approach is outlined below.

Pageob36



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.4.6

6.4.7

6.4.8

6.4.9

\\'/® . [“! Proposed Policy Approach

The new development will comprise a broad range of housing types and sizes to meet both the
district wide needs and the requirements of a diverse community, including for self-build
housing.

The tenure, housing type and size of the affordable housing provision will be determined in the
lead up to a planning application with the Council’s Housing Enabling and Development Team.
It is expected that affordable housing delivery will include studio, 1 and 2 bedroom
apartments, 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses, specialist provision for older people and /or people
with physical disabilities and those with other support needs.

Economic Development & jobs

Policy 7.2 from the JSP requires employment space at a quantum and of a type to be
determined by the Local Plan. It is proposed to include a range of employment floorspace to
enable a successful mixed use community that offers opportunity for people to work close to
where they live, and which responds to market demands within the wider area.

Whilst market demand would support the provision of B2 and B8 employment floorspace, there
is also support for the provision of small offices and light industrial workspace with the B1 use
class. These uses are considered to be more compatible with the housing led nature of the SDL
and environmental constraints of the development area.

There is an opportunity to create a ‘digital coworking hub’ that provides modern workspaces
and meeting rooms for the wider rural community, whilst also providing quick and efficient
public transport connections to the larger employment centres. The market acceptability of
such a concept will depend on the identification of sufficient demand to create a sustainable
and viable hub.

\"\'/® ;5] Proposed Policy Approach

The proposed policy approach will consider and specify which combination of the following
employment uses should be contained within the development area

e industrial or warehouse/distribution employment

o small offices and light industrial workspace

e 3 ‘digital co-working hub’

Local Centres

There is a need to ensure the provision of a local centre to support the community and to
provide for their day-to-day needs. The Retail Study (2018) identified that a new local centre
should be anchored by a modest sized convenience store and the centre should contain

Pagei37



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.4.10

6.4.11

6.4.12

between 5-10 units of generally no more than 150sq m gross in size. The Study stated that
there should also be a diverse mix of units across Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 and Class D.

The location of the local centre within the development is one that requires further
examination. From a commercial perspective there is benefit from a local centre being visible
and accessible from the A37 or the new link road to benefit from a wider catchment, however it
also neeeds to be within easy walking distance for different parts of the new community, and
for existing communies.

The resolution of this issue will be through the next stage of preparing a masterplan for the
wider area which will entail further consideration of the mix and disposition of land uses, and
the relationship with the transport measures that need to be implemented. For example, there
could be scope to relate the local centre to a redefined Park and Ride, one that is designed to
serve local residents walking and cycling to it, as well as capturing those commuting by car into
Bristol.

\\'{€:1¥ Proposed Policy Approach

Provide a new local centre that is accessible by sustainable modes of transport for the existing
communities of Whitchurch Village and Queen Charlton, as well as residents of the new
community.

The new local centre will either be located within the heart of the new community or be
related to the A37 or the new link road between the A37 and the A4.

Transport

The strategic transport requirements for the development area are set out in JSP Policy 7.2.
They are a package of complementary measures that are required to enable development to
proceed and to enable a shift to more sustainable modes of travel. Many of these have been
long standing policy commitments that seek to address existing transportation problems in the
wider area, whilst increasing capacity in the transport system to enable housing and
employment growth to occur.

JSP Policy 7.2 (extract)

Provision of key transport infrastructure including;
i) multi-modal link connecting A4, A37 and the south Bristol link road;
ii) Park & Ride provision;
iii) Metrobus (high quality public transport) route from Bristol on the A4 — A37 link;
iv) pedestrian and cycle connections in all directions which link the site with key services and
facilities. These include extending and improving walking and cycling routes to Bristol,
Keynsham and to the countryside to the south; and
v) off-site junction improvements including at Hicks Gate.
No dwellings will be completed at the Whitchurch SDL ahead of:
Pagechk38



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.4.13

6.4.14

6.4.15

6.4.16

6.4.17

6.4.18

i) Park & Ride, and
ii) the multi-modal link A4-A37-south Bristol link including as a pre-requisite, the Callington
Road scheme being completed.

The new multi-modal link connecting the A4, A37 and the south Bristol link is one of the most
significant and sensitive aspects of these requirements, and an Options Assessment Report
(OAR) has been produced that looks at the deliverable options for the alignment of this
strategic road infrastructure.

It is acknowledged that this route will have a significant impact on local communities, many of
whom live in the neighbouring authority of Bristol City Council, but that the strategic benefits to
this investment outweigh this impact. The OAR will be available for public consultation durng
the same period as consultation on the Local Plan, and there will need to be on-going dialogue
with local communities as progress is made.

The strategic road infrastructure is complex and sensitive and will require significant levels of
funding to enable its delivery as well as cross boundary working with Bristol City Council. Itis a
long term project and the timeline below provides an overview of the key stages that need to
be undertaken. lts route will need to be safeguarded in the Draft Local Plan to assist in its
delivery.

The provision of strategic transport infrastructure is not only a prerequisite for development to
proceed, it also has a critical role in placeshaping and in helping to achieve the strategic
priorities as set out in the JSP, such as ‘ensuring that new development is properly aligned with
infrastructure and maximises opportunities for sustainable and active travel’ and ‘through a
place making approach promotes places of density and scale with a range of facilities and which
encourages healthy lifestyles and cultural wellbeing’.

To achieve the wider aspirations for exemplary development it is essential to ensure close
collaboration and reconcilliation between transport and planning. This will help to ensure that
the eventual site allocation and masterplan for the development is deliverable, achieves the
intended objectives, and seeks to mitigate any adverse environmental impacts.

Key challenges that will need to be addressed or reconciled include:

e The importance of avoiding severence between the existing Whitchurch Village and the new
community. How do we ensure easy pedestrian and cyclist movement across the new link
road without adversely affecting its function as part of the strategic network?

e The opportunity to explore the role and function of the proposed new Park and Ride, and to
test the degree to which it is integrated into the new development. Allied to this is the
relationhip to Metrobus, and its relationship to the Park and Ride offer. What are their
respective roles and the relationship to each other. How do they relate to the communities
that they are intended to serve?

Pageil39



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.4.19

6.4.20

6.4.21

6.4.22

e New or enhanced walking and cycle routes are proposed throughout the wider area to
encourage a greater shift to active travel and more sustainable travel modes. How can this
best be achieved? Is it acceptable to re-prioritise existing vehicular routes in favour of
walking and cycling? How do new routes get delivered? What mechanisms or incentives
are available to encourage their use?

\'\'1#/. 7/ Proposed Policy Approach

The transport proposals proposed in the Local Plan will be a combination of strategic
interventions that are required to enable development to proceed, and a number of
sustainable transport interventions that seek to enable a greater shift to more sustainable
modes of travel.

Green Infrastructure

One of the key emerging themes that will shape the character and identity for the Whitchuch
development is multi-functional green infrastructure.

The concept of green infrastructure (Gl) is now firmly embedded in national policy

with the NPPF requiring local planning authorities to set out a strategic approach in their Local
Plans, planning positively for the creation, protection, enhancement and

management of networks of biodiversity and green infrastructure. It defines green
infrastructure as a network of multifunctional green space, urban and rural,which is capable of
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.

The area already benefits from a locally highly valued landscape character and biodiverse rich
hedgerows and woodlands, which is interwoven with significant heritage assets such as Maes
Knoll, the Wansdyke, Queen Charlton Conservation Area, and important medieval and post-
medieval field patterns. There are significant opportunties for a wide range of interventions at a
variety of scales that can enhance these existing assets and achieve real benefits for people and
wildlife, and which will form a key part of the placemaking framework for the new community.
The enhancement of green infrastructure and the extension of access to it, will also be
responding to the increased demand placed on our natural open spaces from new
development.

Importantly, and unusally for a development of this scale, there is a real opportunity to deliver
advanced green infrastructure and environmental projects ahead of built development. This
would be subject to securing the necessary resources to undertake such work and achieving
community and landowner support.

This opportunity strongly relates to a key aspect of the ‘Garden Community Principles’ that
were outlined above. Undertaken as advanced works before the built development, it helps to
set a high bar as to the importance of green infrastructure throughout the development, and
raises the level of ambition that we expect the development to attain.

Pageoh40



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.4.23 Further work is required to identify the opportunties for green infrastructure interventions, but

6.4.24

6.4.25

they would help to achieve the objectives set out in the JSP.

\'\'1¢|; }:{ Proposed Policy Approach

Multi-functional green infrastructure will be a key theme throughout the new development
area, providing significant opportunities to enhance existing assets and achieve real benefits
for people and wildlife.

Education

The education requirement is based on the educational needs generated by the development
and an assessment of existing provision, which, as with other infrastructure requirements, will
change over time. Based on the provision of 2,000 dwellings at Whitchurch, a new three form
entry primary school with 630 places would be required, as will a new 600 place (120 per year
group) secondary school with a 160 place (approx.) sixth form. An all through facility taking in
the needs of Early Education and Childcare for children under reception age in line with the
Childcare Acts of 2006 and 2016 is required.

Health facilities

The provision of health facilities is an essential consideration when providing the planning
policy framework for the new community. However one of the challenges in planning for
healthcare needs ten years into the future is that the requirments will change over time.
Discussions are underway within the Bath and North East Somerset Clinical Commissioning
Group (BaNES CCG) and with colleagues that represent GP and community health facilities in
Bristol to ensure that sufficient access to these services is available from the start of any new
development and sufficient capacity continues in to the future.

\"\'/® . L] Proposed Policy Approach

Adequate health care provision will be made for the new community, but the location and
form of this health care provision is to be resolved.

Pagesl4l



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.4.26

6.4.27

6.4.28

6.4.29

6.4.30

6.4.31

Zero Carbon & Heat Networks

The development will be a minimum of zero carbon in its energy use, and should aim to
feedback energy to the grid. How this is delivered and the technologies available to achieve
this will change over the period of policy formulation, scheme consent and then delivery, so it is
not possible at this stage to set out the mechanisms through which this is achieved.

Recent technical evidence has identified that there are limited opportunties in the Whitchurch
area to support the implementation of a heat network, and there is no opportunity for a zero
carbon heat source. The recommended approach is that the carbon savings that cannot be met
on site could be delivered through ground mounted renewables in the SDL area, including solar
and wind energy. This will be subject to the identification of suitable locations within the area
that have capacity to absorb such development.

\"\'/& {1 Proposed Policy Approach

Development in the Whitchurch area will be at least zero carbon, although how this is
achieved is yet to be defined as technologies and innovations will change over time.

Flooding, in particular Groundwater and Surface Water

The key evidence in relation to flooding is the Bath & North East Somerset Level 1 Strategic
Flood Risk Assessment Update Draft August 2018. This identifies that Whitchurch is located
entirely within Flood Zone 1 and is at low risk from fluvial flood risk. Within Whitchurch, areas
at surface water flood risk are primarily isolated ponding in open spaces and gardens, though
there is some occasional flooding along the road network.

Whilst Whitchurch is located in Flood Zone 1, developments greater than 1 hectare located in
Flood Zone 1 will still require a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment. The flood risk from all
sources should also be assessed and mitigated. Development should also be located outside any
areas shown to be at current or future risk of flooding where possible.

Potential for use of Sustainable Drainage Systems

In areas that are at risk of flooding from surface water, development could provide opportunity
to reduce this risk through reduction in impermeable surfaces and use of SuDS.

The SDL is not located within a Groundwater Source Protection Zone and has an area within its
boundary designated by the Environment Agency as being a landfill site. It runs along the back
of the Witheys and Dene Road. A thorough ground investigation will be required as part of a
detailed site-specific Flood Risk Assessment to determine the extent of the contamination and
the impact this may have on SuDS. As such, proposed SuDS should be discussed with the
relevant stakeholders (LPA, LLFA and EA) at an early stage to understand possible constraints.

Pageok42



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.4.32

6.4.33

6.4.34

6.5

6.5.1

Source control techniques are likely to be suitable for this development. The infiltration
potential mapping indicates that most of Whitchurch is probably compatible for infiltration
SuDS. As areas of the site have been designated as historic landfill, further site investigation
should be carried out to assess potential for drainage by infiltration.

Next Steps

The next steps towards the successful delivery of a new community at Whitchurch is dependent

on the resolution and coordination of many complex factors. Without this, it will simply not be

possible to achieve the placemaking aspirations set out above. A successful community will

only be possible with:

e astrong and clear policy framework,

e arobust delivery and funding programme that ensures that the necessary infrastructure is
provided

e the commitment and alignment of landowners and developers

e the support of the local community and key stakeholders

e political and corporate leadership.

To ensure that all of the required infrastructure is delivered and that each development phase
contributes to its proportionate share, it is essential that a Comprehensive Masterplan and an
Infrastructure Delivery Plan for the whole of the development area is prepared and agreed by
the site promoters before any development can be granted planning permission. This is to
ensure that all the required infrastructure is delivered in a consistent, cohesive and
proportionately fair way, regardless of landownership or phasing.

Relocation of Brislington Park & Ride
Context

The West of England JSP proposes development at a number of Strategic Development
Locations (SDLs) in order to help provide the housing required up to 2036. The SDLs include
Land at Bath Road, Brislington on land within the Bristol City Council administrative area
providing for mixed use development including around 750 new homes. In order to facilitate
this development relocation of the existing Park & Ride on the A4 at Brislington is required,
thereby releasing the land for development. The JSP proposes that the Brislington Park & Ride
is relocated further out from Bristol on land near to the Hicks Gate roundabout. In relocating it
the opportunity will be taken to expand the Park & Ride site thereby facilitating modal choice
and intercepting a greater number of car journeys bound for Bristol city and primarily the city
centre.

Pagea43



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Strategic Issues

6.5.2 Some initial assessment of potential locational options for the relocated Park & Ride has been
undertaken through the South East Bristol and Whitchurch Transport Package Options
Assessment Report. Relocation of the Park & Ride is part of an overall package of transport
interventions, also including the introduction of MetroBus on the A4, which will manage and
mitigate travel demand on this busy transport corridor. These are shown on the diagram below
which sets out the strategic transport programme which supports the Joint Spatial Plan.

West of England Transport Programme (JSP Transport Topic Paper 12 April 2018)(Extract)

. / - Urban living area
— @ Strategic location
(housing / employment)

New / enhanced sustainable travel
+ (including MetroBus, bus and cycling)

Bristol 2c ! A\ Sustainable urban travel package
m New / enhanced rail station
New Park & Ride

A
| i = . ' m we= New road links

New / upgraded motorway junction

S e ool " Online road improvements
i

€ Road junction upgrade

» , 42a,b,c
L 1h 11N e |
vrewesl 4 :
| ot 1d,e
v £

o
Fa=t o
’ ;

6.5.2 The main benefit of relocating the Park & Ride facility to Hicks Gate is unlocking the
development of the SDL at Brislington. In the Options Assessment Report the two locational
options shortlisted for further assessment are on land to the south west of Hicks Gate
roundabout and these are shown on the diagram below.

6.5.3 The location of the relocated Park & Ride is also related to the route of the multi-modal link
connecting the A4,A37 and South Bristol link road (see page 103 above).

6.5.4 More detailed assessments will need to be undertaken to determine the most appropriate
location for the Park & Ride from an operational perspective and in terms of environmental and
other impacts. Appropriate connections to the Brislington SDL, A4-A37 multi-modal link road
and Keynsham, including pedestrian and cycle links, will need to be identified. The Joint Spatial
Plan establishes the principle and the ‘exceptional circumstances’ for the need to change the
Green Belt to accommodate the Strategic Development Locations but the more detailed
impacts on the Green Belt will also need to be considered. The Draft Local Plan will set out a
policy framework to facilitate its delivery, whilst also ensuring impacts are properly considered
and mitigated.

Pageokd4



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

6.5.5

6.5.6

Sewage
Ecdq

’._l-":'_,_: _-'“-_-t_‘_ -

__

S/ Garden
Centre

Hicks Gate
Farm

Durley Park*  ~
House /!

(Govt Offs) l;" .
/

Whitegate ;|
Nufsery £~ &4
S A 7

Broad Options for the relocated Brislington Park & Ride (Options Assessment Report)

As set out above the strategic development at Brislington proposed in the JSP lies within the
Bristol City Council administrative area. Allocation of this land for development in the Bristol
City Council Local Plan will also require land to be removed from Green Belt and new detailed
Green Belt boundary defined. Dependent on the location of the new Green Belt boundary it will
be defined in the Bristol Local Plan where it lies within the Bristol City Council area, and in the
B&NES Local Plan where it lies within the B&NES area. Through the Duty to Co-operate the two
authorities will work closely together on this issue, as well as planning for the SDL and the re-
located Park & Ride.

Policy Approach
Subject to further investigations outlined above and identifying the preferred location the

B&NES Local Plan will need to formally allocate a new Park and Ride site, defining its boundary
and the revised Green Belt boundary.

\\'Le 51 policy Approach

Identify the most appropriate location to relocate the Brislington Park and Ride and allocate in
the Local Plan, including the revised Green Belt boundary

Paged45



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7. SOMIER VALLEY

7.1

Context

7.1.2 The Southern part of the District, with its range of distinctive history, characteristics, identities

7.1.2

and communities makes a strong contribution to the overall character of the District. The
current planning policy framework in the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan (PMP) for the
Somer Valley seeks greater self-reliance, facilitated by economic revitalisation in light of the
past loss of employment opportunities and the resultant high levels of out-commuting. Pivotal
to this is the designation of the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone to increase employment
provision. The area has not been earmarked as an appropriate location for strategic new
housing growth.

The Somer Valley Area as defined in the Core Strategy includes Midsomer Norton, Westfield,
Radstock, Peasedown St John, Paulton, Shoscombe, Camerton, Timsbury, High Littleton and
Farrington Gurney.

SOMER VALLEY
LOCATION

KEY

B GreenBelt

. Somer Valley

& Crown copyright. All rights reserved
(100023334) (2015)

OUTH
GLOUCESTERLMIRE

110
Page 146



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.1.3

7.2

7.2.1

7.2.2

7.2.3

7.2.4

The curent Vision for the Somer Valley is:

The southern part of the District will become more self-reliant, facilitated by economic led
revitalisation alongside local energy generation, building on its industrial expertise and
improving skill levels. Transport connections to other centres, as well as connections
between settlements within the Somer Valley area will continue to be improved. The roles
of Midsomer Norton and Radstock Town Centres will be complementary, providing key
employment opportunities, services and leisure provision to the communities in the Somer
Valley area. Midsomer Norton town centre will continue to be the principal centre with an
improved public realm and enhanced townscape and a Town Park. Radstock will continue to
provide a focal point for local communities and realise its potential for tourism based on its
green infrastructure, mining heritage, cycle ways and attractive rural hinterland. Villages of
the Somer Valley will continue to provide for the needs of their local communities.

Strategy, evidence and policy review

The West of England Joint Spatial Plan continues the current approach in the Core Strategy of
not identifying the Somer Valley for strategic housing growth in the interests of sustainability.
The focus will continue to be on economic revitalisation and encouraging job creation, although
some additional housing will be unavoidable as set out in the options in the spatial strategy
section in Chapter 3.

In addition, since the adoption of the Core Strategy and PMP, Westfield Parish Council has
produced a Neighbourhood Plan which has been adopted as part of the Development Plan by
the Council. Westfield Neighbourhood Plan sets out the vision and objectives for the Parish with
associated planning policies. Midsomer Norton Town Council is also preparing a Neighbourhood
Plan. The Council will work with the Parish and Town Councils to ensure that the vision and
objectives of the Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plans are aligned.

In order to inform the review of the spatial strategy and to help identify the key issues which
the Local Plan should address, the section below summarises the existing policy approach in the
adopted Core Strategy, outlines delivery to date, updates the evidence and describes
subsequent changes.

Employment land

Current Policy:
e Enable the delivery of around 900 net additional jobs between 2011 and 2029.

e Encourage the retention and expansion of local companies and the growth of new
businesses by making provision for the changes in employment floorspace set out below:

111
Page 147



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.2.5

7.2.6

7.2.7

7.2.8

Office floorspace: from about 31,000m? in 2011 to about 33,700m? in 2029 Industrial/
Warehouse floorspace: from about 126,400m? in 2011 to about 112,000m? in 2029.

New employment floorspace will be focussed at:

o the Westfield Industrial Estate, Midsomer Enterprise Park, Bath Business Park in
Peasedown St John, Old Mills in Paulton (including Somer Valley Enterprise Zone)
and Midsomer Norton and Radstock Town Centres

Changes since 2011

Employment monitoring shows a net increase of 365 jobs in the Somer Valley between 2011
-2016, the second highest employment growth rate across B&NES.

A net loss of office floorspace of 486 m” up to 2017/2018
A net loss of Industrial floorspace of 7,228 m? up to 2017/2018

The area experienced a rebalancing in the labour market with retractions in employment in
manufacturing (previously the largest employment sector) which has now been overtaken
by retail and health and social care.

Designation of the Old Mills employment allocations as the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone.

Key Issues

The Somer Valley Enterprise Zone provides a long term supply of new employment land
aimed at increasing employment opportunities in the area challenging the high levels of
out-commuting. The delivery of this site is an essential part of the strategy.

There are other smaller employment sites in and around the Somer Valley area which would
benefit from protection from loss to other non-employment uses.

Housing

Current Policy:

Enable around 2,470 new homes to be built at Midsomer Norton, Radstock, Westfield,
Paulton and Peasedown St John by 2029.

Changes since 2011

The 2018 B&NES Monitoring Report shows steady housebuilding rates since the start of the
plan period in 2011 and there are around an additional 1,120 dwellings currently projected
to be built by 2029.

The redevelopment of Radstock Railway Land is largely complete

Planning permission has been granted for a new health centre in Radstock town centre

112
Page 148



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.2.9 Key issues

The current policy seeks to mitigate the ongoing increase in the imbalance between jobs
and homes by constraining the scale of new housing development and creating more jobs.
However, in light of national policy on the need to increase housing supply and the
requirements of the JSP, it is necessary to consider some further housing provision.

The JSP proposes a requirement for 14,500 dwellings across the district which includes ‘non-
strategic’ growth of 700 dwellings. National policy makes it clear that land can only be
removed from the Green Belt and allocated for development if warranted by ‘exceptional
circumstances’. As over 70% of the B&NES area is covered by the Green Belt, it is necessary
to consider the scope for new housing development in the Somer Valley.

Retail and town centres

7.2.10 The Current Policy:

7.2.11

Strengthen the shopping offer in Midsomer Norton town centre, with a focus on the
southern end of the High Street, to serve the Somer Valley by facilitating redevelopment
and improving the public realm. This includes allocating town centre redevelopment sites
such as at South Road Car Park for retail and the business quarter for mixed use
development providing active frontages onto the High Street

Enable Radstock centre to continue to provide local needs and support specialist shops.

Protect and enhance the local centres at Westfield, Paulton, Peasedown St John and
Timsbury

Identification and protection of the Town Park site | Midsomer Norton

Changes since 2011

Midsomer Norton’s retail ranking has dropped slightly to 1,325". The vacancy rate for
Midsomer Norton is just over 10% and 16.7% for Radstock compared to a national average
of 11%.

The Retail Study 2018 concludes that there is no longer a combined quantitative need for
additional convenience goods floorspace across Midsomer Norton and Radstock.
Previously, there was a forecast quantitative need of between 2,000sq m and 3,000sg m
net, however this has now dropped to 300sq m —400sq m net.

Whilst there is no longer a quantitative need for a large amount of additional convenience
floorspace, further provision can help to reinforce the health and attractiveness of
Midsomer Norton town centre and generate demand.

In terms of bulky goods shopping, the household survey indicates a significant level of
residents from Midsomer Norton and Radstock go to stores and centres outside of the
B&NES area.

Implementation of the Midsomer Norton Town Park has begun.

113
Page 149



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.2.12 Key issues

There is a qualitative case and operator demand for a new food store in Midsomer Norton.
A Town Centre site is preferable in order to reinforce the health of the town centre. The
implications for town centre car parking provision will need to be taken into account

The existing approach of focussing investment on the southern part of the High Street
should be continued and there is scope in particular to investigate opportunities in The
Hollies area of the town centre

A greater proportion of Radstock residents travel to Midsomer Norton for their convenience
goods shopping, which is also the case for some categories of comparison goods. However,
no doubt heavily influenced by the goods range in the Radco store, Radstock has a
reasonably good market share in domestics appliances, household and DIY goods.

However, the market share of Radstock town centre for convenience goods continues to
fall.

The need to retain a network of town and local centres remains.

There is scope to enhance recreational facilities through the designation of a Leisure Park in
Midsomer Norton (see map below)

Historic and Natural Environment

7.2.13 The Current Policy includes:

Sustain and enhance the significance of the areas’ heritage assets and their settings,
including listed buildings, the conservation areas, archaeology and scheduled ancient
monuments, as well as non-designated heritage assets of local interest and value.
Strengthen the green links between the two town centres and the rest of the Somer Valley
via a cycle and walking link along the route of the former railway as part of the Town Park
and Five Arches route proposals.

Protect and enhance the distinctive character of the area including the landscape setting of
the settlments, built and historic environment.

Conserve the town centre’s heritage and unique townscape character in Midsomer Norton
Protect and enhance heritage assets: The built form should retain its historical and
architectural value and development should attempt to integrate these features and
carefully consider materials appropriate to the locality and building style.

7.2.14 Changes since 2011:

The three conservation areas on the Historic England at Risk Register include Midsomer
Norton and Paulton. The recent review of the boundary of Midsomer Norton Conservation
Area has been undertaken and up to date character appraisals and management proposals
prepared, which is the first step in seeking to address this ‘at risk’ status. The same needs
to be undertaken for Paulton when resources permit.

The new NPPF states that the Plan should set out a positive strategy for the conservation
and enjoyment of the historic environment. The Topic Paper X considers the importance of

114
Page 150



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.2.15

7.2.16

7.2.17

7.3

7.3.1

the historic environment in this area and the existing and further work by which the
planning system can facilitate its conservation, enhancement and enjoyment by all.

e Midsomer Norton Town Park has started to be implemented

Key challenges:

e Continue to assess and protect the significance of all heritage assets, including listed
buildings as part of any proposals

e Sustain and enhance the area’s historic and natural environment in allocating sites for
development, drawing particular attention to heritage assets and their setting and also
biodiversity.

e Continue to undertake the review and appraisal of conservation areas when resources
allow and in partnership with others

e Continue to work with partners to resolve heritage assets at risk and greater recognition of
local heritage assets.

e Protect and enhance areas of visual significance and views to the open landscape, in light of
their close relationship with the history of the towns, in particular Radstock.

Transport

Some of the key issues identified in the Draft Somer Valley Transport Strategy include high
traffic volumes through built-up areas, high levels of out-commuting, local peak period traffic
congestion, narrow footways and limited pedestrian crossing facilities in some areas, relatively
long bus travel times and bus fares perceived to be high, no direct access to the rail network
and limited spare parking capacity in town centres. These issues were also raised through
community consultation on Westfield Neighbourhood Plan, which highlighted the issues of on-
street parking in residential areas and concerns regarding impacts of congestion on the A367 on
air quality within the Parish and wider area.

These issues need to be taken into account in the review of the planning policy framework.

Spatial Priorities for the Somer Valley

Based on the above analysis, the key priorities to be addressed in the Somer Valley are set out
below. These will inform a reviewed/refreshed vision and strategy.

° Increase employment opportunities by delivering the planned additional employment
floorspace in the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone and provide greater protection of existing
office and industrial space

° Responding to the JSP, identify potential new housing sites to accommodate between 300
and 500 new homes. This could include options in Mendip District if appropriate.

115
Page 151



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

. Promote, conserve and where possible enhance the distinctive landscape setting and
natural environment of the Somer Valley, focussing on the role of the Somer Valley area
as a strategic Green Infrastructure link between the Mendip Hills and Cotswolds AONBs

. Maintain the health of town centres for both Midsomer Norton and Radstock. In
Midsomer Norton in particular to focus on the southern part of the High Street

. Align planning priorities with those in the Draft Somer Valley Transport Strategy

. Seek to ensure new housing is properly aligned with new infrastructure, both transport
and social and community facilities

. Enhance the recreational facilities to meet the needs of the growing population

. Provide a focus for recreational facilities through the designation of a Leisure Park in
Midsomer Norton.

Proposed functional Zones in Midsomer Norton Town Centre

pa

'¢’3 Local Shopping

orth ROAD_ O,‘—- NG
R T ok
-

=t .
‘ Midsomer Norton’e

‘C’ \
"\ :‘ Primary Sch’o/ol
GVt coody £ 2R

X High Street Core

<

\ The Island §

5

) & ”
_Wem\% ‘ L % ey
2 ! ) - o '
leir ) S 17 % By i %’ Car Park
. s -a”\ -~ AN 79 :; ' " » 3 = -
X 0 YA ONJY %" . Retail Allocation
|l | [2 REDSo v TN
O

XN
5 NIRRT LY a SV

L S

7.3.2 Inlight of the above, there are the three broad policy areas to focus on
A. Employment land
B. Housing Land

C. Retail and town centres

116
Page 152



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.4

7.4.1

Strategy and Policy options

A. Employment: Somer Valley Enterprise Zone (EZ) Options

Given economic restructuring in the area and high levels of out commuting it is important that
the Local Plan maintains present levels of employment through retention of existing key
employment sites and facilitates job growth through the provision of new employment sites.
The retention of existing employment sites is addressed in the section on Economic
Development Management Policies in chapter 8a of this document.

Somer Valley Enterprise Zone Policy Approach

Extent of the site — land in the south eastern corner of the EZ (marked in red in the diagram
below) is currently not included in the site allocation due to previous availability/deliverability
concerns. It is likely that allocation of this land would help deliver sustainable transport links
and improvements to the A362 which is an important transport link for the Somer Valley. This
would assist in achieving full build out of the EZ.

Land use mix — a review of the market suggests that a wider range of commercial uses on the
site would have significant benefit for the site’s viability. Therefore, including higher value
uses, with a road frontage, would help to facilitate to delivery. The current Placemaking Plan
policy already references builders merchants/car showroom uses on the site. Additional land
use options to be considered include large format or bulky goods retail (not including a food
store), hotel and A3 uses (to support employees/business uses on the site) and an element of
A3/A4/AS roadside uses.

117
Page 153



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.4.2

7.4.3

7.4.4

7.4.5

7.4.6

The Somer Valley Enterprise Zone (EZ) is the flagship development site for promoting and
delivering new business space and job growth in the local area. The Council has signed a
Memorandum of Understanding with the West of England Local Enterprise Partnership and
Central Government which commits B&NES to ‘use all reasonable endeavours to promptly
obtain necessary permissions to deliver the Enterprise Zone’. The current approach that
focuses solely on delivering industrial uses is no longer commercially appropriate or viable.
Delivery would be facilitated through the Local Plan by testing a number of key issues including
revisions to the site boundary and a wider mix of uses. In doing this, it is necessary to ensure
that the EZ options sit within the context of the wider Somer Valley strategy and implications
for other parts of the area.

In considering a wider mix of uses for the EZ it will be important to assess the implications for
and impacts on the existing town centres in order to ensure harm to the town centre is
avoided. Inclusion of other land uses must also ensure the EZ is still capable of delivering the
necessary employment/business space required to meet the employment growth needs of the
area. In addition the trip attraction/transport impacts of the potential inclusion of retail and
other non- industrial uses such as hotel and A3 uses also need to be understood. This might
have implications for the Draft Somer Valley Transport Strategy.

B. Housing

The JSP requires 14,500 dwellings to be accommodated in B&NES up to 2036. This includes a
non-strategic component of 700 dwellings. The options to facilitate the non-strategic growth
are presented in chapter 3. As the southern part of the District is not covered by the Green Belt,
all three options include some level of new housing in the Somer Valley area.

Non-strategic growth is in addition to extant supply of 1,120 new homes. This will entail a
review of existing site commitments, as well as investigation of options outside the Housing
Development Boundary.

The draft B&NES Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 2018 identifies a
number of potential housing sites. The suitability of these sites for development is currently
being assessed. The options in Chapter 3 include one which focuses the non-strategic new
housing in the Somer Valley (just under 500 dwellings) or includes the Somer Valley as part of
a more dispersed approach (around 300 new homes). These are shown in diagrams 4 and 5 in
Chapter 3. This would entail;

e Maximising the use of brownfield sites not already allocated

e Intensifcation of existing urban areas where appropate e.g. redeveloping suplus garage
sites.

e Review and more intense use of existing allocation sites.

e New greenfield sites as a last resort

118
Page 154



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.4.7

7.4.8

7.4.9

7.4.10

7.4.11

7.4.12

Any increase in the housing supply in the Somer Valley must be aligned with the necessary
infrastructure such as health facilities.

New Housing Policy Options

See Options 1 and 2 in Chapter 3 of this document.

C. Town centres and retail provision

Nationally, smaller town centres, such as Midsomer Norton and Radstock are under increasing
pressure, as many retailers are reducing high street presence and focussing on larger centres
and strategic locations.

The Retail Study by GVA suggests market share of both town centres is reduced. The forecasts
of future expenditure to support retail floorpace are also lower than those informing the Core
Strategy. It also confirms that Midsomer Norton Town Centre continues to act as the
predominant town centre in serving the wider area.

The current strategy is to maintain and enhance Midsomer Norton and Radstock town centres.
At Midsomer Norton, which is the market town for the area, the strategy is to focus on the
retail core at the southern end of the High Street. In light of the updated evidence on retail
need and the ongoing interest in the town centre for further food retail, the current retail
allocation at South Road Car Park (SRCP) is proposed to be retained. However, the implications
for the Draft Somer Valley Transport Strategy need to be considered in light of its requirement
for no reduction in public car parking capacity. This will need to be informed by a car parking
survey alongside a review of parking in Midsomer Norton and the Somer Valley as a whole.

Within the context of these car parking issues there may be a need to review allocation of
South Road Car Park for food retail. Following the review if the food retail capacity of the site is
reduced and the limited quantitative need for further food store floorspace outlined on page x
above is still to be met, the NPPF sequential test will need to be followed:

e any alternative town centre sites, then
e edge of centre sites and then,
e out of centre options at well connected locations in the area.

Provision of additional high street comparison floorspace would also need to be facilitated on a
sequential basis. Other than additional provision in the town centres through more efficient use
of existing units/premises there appears to be limited demand or scope to increase supply.

119
Page 155



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

7.4.13

7.4.14

7.4.15

7.5

7.5.1

For large format or bulky goods retail (not including a food store), it appears that there are no
suitable town centre sites, therefore edge of centre and out of centre (e.g. the EZ)
opportunities might be acceptable.

In Radstock town centre, since the adoption of the Core Strategy, there has been an increase in
retail floorspace in the town centre (e.g. the Railway Land, Charlton World of Wood site).
Planning permission has been granted for the new health centre and there are also proposals to
redevelop the Radco store site for a greater mix of uses. There are also other potential town
centre redevelopmet opportuities e.g. library site. Alongside this the 2018 retail study indicates
a moderate shrinkage in the demand for retail in the town. The proposed strategy is therefore
to retain the role of Radstock as a town centre, although this might entail an adjustment in its
offer.

Westfield Neighbourhood Plan supports the renovation of the existing local shops at EIm Tree
Avenue. The proposed strategy is to continue to maintain and enhance this area as a local
centre.

m Proposed Policy Options/Approach

Midsomer Norton Town Centre

To continue the role of Midsomer Norton Town Centre as the area’s principal retail centre
with a focus for investment at the southern end of the High Street, retaining the foodstore
allocation at South Road Car Park and the Business Quarter allocation. Review car parking
provision.

Radstock Town Centre

Facilitating appropriate change in central Radstock whilst ensuring retention of its role as a
town centre. Review car parking provision.

Westfield Local Centre

Retain and enhance the local centre at Westfield

Review of existing Somer Valley policies

Other policies in the Core Strategy/Placemaking Plan will also need to be reviewed. The table
below sets out the existing Somer Valley policies indicating in bold those policies subject to a
review in this document and the proposed approach for the remaining policies.

120
Page 156



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

55.2  Where there is no change in circumstances to warrant significant policy review, it is proposed to
take the existing policies forward with only amendments for clarification (in the light of best
practice, updated guidance etc.) as indicated in the tables below. Policies will be presented in
full in the Draft Local Plan and are likely to be renumbered at this stage.

m Please specify which site you are commenting on when responding.

PROPOSED APPROACH

EXISTING POLICIES

Overall Strategy

Policy SV1 Spatial Strategy

Revised approach is discussed in this document.

Midsomer Norton

SV2 Midsomer Norton Town Centre

SSV1 Central High Street Core

SSV2 South Road Car Park

Approach is discussed in this document.

SSV3 Midsomer Norton Town
Park

14/01020/FUL Application for a change of use from agricultural
land to town park was permitted in 2014 and progress has been
made led by Midsomer Norton Town Council.

16/05424/RES Planning permission for 35 dwellings was
permitted in 2017.

Amendment to the Town Park and Housing Development
Boundary is necessary.

SSV4 Former Welton
Manufacturing Site

16/02607/0UT permitted in April 2018

Mixed use redevelopment for employment (including light
industrial/office B1 and B2 uses, A1, A3 and A4 retail uses
including a convenience store and public house and A5/C1 uses
including a hotel); institutional uses (C2 and D1) and residential
uses (market and affordable C3 uses) including approximately
3,730 m” of employment development and 200 housing units
and associated car parking, landscaping and roads/links.

Radstock

SV3  Radstock TC

Approach is discussed in this document

SSV14 Charlton Timber Yard

Complete (17/00120/FUL)

Ryman Engineering Services

17/05597/FUL — 10 dwellings permitted

SSV17 Former Radstock County
Infants

No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

121
Page 157



https://isharemaps.bathnes.gov.uk/data.aspx?requesttype=parsetemplate&template=DevelopmentControlApplication.tmplt&Filter=%5erefval%5e=%2717/00120/FUL%27

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

EXISTING POLICIES PROPOSED APPROACH

SSV20 Former St Nicholas School No amendments currently proposed - policy remains relevant
and fit for purpose.

Westfield

SSV18 Somer Valley Campus Application for skills centre permitted. Discharging planning
conditions. Consider removing the allocation.

SSV11 St Peter’s Factory site SB7B | 14/04003/0UT permitted. the erection of 81 no. residential
dwellings

Paulton

SSV9 Old Mills Industrial Estate Approach is discussed in this document

Local Green spaces are addressed in the Development Management Policies section.

122
Page 158



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8. Development Management Policies

8.1 Setting the scene

8.1.1 The policies in the Core Strategy and the Placemaking Plan provide the principal
planning policy framework for determining planning applications and appeals. The
preparation of the new Local Plan provides the opportunity to formally combine the
adopted Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan into one Local Plan.

8.1.2 The policies in the Placemaking Plan were found ‘sound’ in July 2017, so the majority
of policies can be taken forward into the new Local Plan unchanged or with minor
amendments. However, there are a number of policies areas that need reviewing or
new policies drafted in the context of the following:

e emerging West of England Joint Spatial Plan which provides the new strategic
planning framework for the Local Plan and covers the same period, 2016 - 2036

e changes in national policy guidance or legislation
e problems in implementing a policy

e updated evidence

8.1.3 The policy areas discussed in this section are under the following headings:

Climate Change

Housing

Employment

Fast food takeaways

Parking standards and electric vehicle infrastructure

West of England Green Infrastructure Plan and Local Plans
Viability

8.1.4 In addition there are other policies that would benefit from some minor wording
amendments, clarification or regrouping without materially changing the policy
direction and therefore do not necessitate a full review. Annex 1 at the end of this
section lists all policies from the Core Strategy and the Placemaking Plan together
with a commentary on how these are intended to be taken forward in the Draft Local
Plan. Through this consultation there is opportunity to comment on the proposed
approach for each policy.

Next steps

8.1.5 Guided by the outcome of this consultation and any other material considerations,
we will be seeking your views on detailed draft policies, including those listed in the
Annex, at a later stage as part of the Draft Local Plan.

122
Page 159


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/joint-strategic-planning-strategy

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.2 Climate Change

Carbon reduction
Setting the scene

8.2.1 The cross cutting objective of the Local Plan is to pursue a low carbon and sustainable
future in a changing climate. Policy 5 in the emerging West of England Joint Spatial
Plan (JSP) seeks to ‘Minimise energy demand and maximise the use of renewable
energy, where viable meeting all demands for heat and power without increasing
carbon emissions’. The combined West of England CO2 reduction target is to reduce
absolute CO2 emissions by 50% by 2035 from a 2014 baseline.

8.2.2 The JSP recognises the potential for development to be built to a zero carbon
standard, that is net zero emissions from regulated and unregulated heat and
powerl. The JSP states that this will be investigated using a consistent methodology
across all four Unitary Authorities to inform the production of the new Local Plans
and supporting SPDs.

Carbon Reduction Requirement Study

8.2.3 The West of England Authorities have jointly commissioned a study to identify the
cost of achieving various levels of carbon reduction to set the strongest viable energy
requirements for development to be included in new Local Plans.

Key findings

8.2.4 The study found that reducing emissions to zero through a policy approach which
reflects the energy hierarchy (see diagram below) would result in a 6-9% cost uplift’.
This is expected to be broadly viable across the district.

Allowable
Solutions
| Zero
On site low/zero Carbon

carbon heat and power

Carbon |
Compliance

Fabric Energy Efficiency

! Broadly speaking, “regulated” emissions are those covered by Building Regulations and arising from building
fabric and systems e.g. insulation and boilers. “Unregulated” emissions are those arising from plug-in
appliances when the building is occupied.
2 Figures to be confirmed in final report due to be issued 31 October 2018.

123

Page 160



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.2.5 The study also sets out options for reviewing the policy approach in response to the
transition of the electricity grid to renewables. In recent years the mix of generation
sources used to provide electricity through the national grid has changed
significantly. The contribution of renewable energy has risen from under 5% in 2004
to over 30% in 2018. This trend of “grid decarbonisation” is set to continue in the
coming decades. Soon, electricity will produce less carbon per unit than gas, which
will encourage developers to switch away from gas heating and towards renewable’.
Decarbonisation will require an update to Building Regulations, expected in 2019.
Since the proposed carbon reduction approach uses Building Regulations compliance
as a baseline, when Building Regulations change the policies will also need to be
reviewed.

8.2.6 For major non-domestic development, in addition to carbon reduction requirements,
the BREEAM Excellent Standard is being considered since it is a holistic standard that
covers many aspects of sustainability that are otherwise not addressed through

policy.

8.2.7 The policy will also seek to address the “performance gap”, whereby monitoring has
shown that new buildings can emit on average about twice as much carbon as
expected in the design4. Buildings that are certified to the Passivhaus standard could
be exempted from some of the carbon reduction requirements above since the
quality control required to become Passivhaus Certified has been shown to result in
very low energy buildings that perform as predicted in the design. A requirement for
the monitoring of energy performance is also being considered to highlight which
buildings are achieving the standard following occupation.

8.2.8 Thereis also ongoing consideration in B&NES and the West of England of land value
inflation which is exacerbated by the current method of viability testing, endangering
policy requirements that represent a cost to developers. The 2018 NPPF may provide
opportunities to address this issue through the Local Plan (see section 154 below).

Current policy approach

8.2.9 The current Placemaking Plan (PMP) Policy SCR1: Onsite Renewable Energy requires
major development to achieve a 10% reduction in CO2 emissions from renewable
energy sources. The draft Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary Planning
Document® embeds this 10% requirement into a broader benchmark for all scales of
new build development to achieve a 19% CO2 reduction for compliance with PMP

® See the Standard Assessment Procedure version 10 (2018) https://bregroup.com/sap/sap10/
4 Technology Strategy Board: Building Performance Evaluation (2016):
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497758/D
omestic_Building_Performance_full_report_2016.pdf
> Sustainable Construction Checklist SPD (2018) http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-
control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds/sustain

124

Page 161


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497758/Domestic_Building_Performance_full_report_2016.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/497758/Domestic_Building_Performance_full_report_2016.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Policy CP2: Sustainable Construction. Medium scale development on existing
buildings is expected to achieve a 10% reduction in CO2 emissions.

Emerging policy approach

8.2.10 The preferred option is to set a zero carbon policy with three elements reflecting the
energy hierarchy as below. This is subject to the Council’s viability testing showing
that this approach is viable. Resultantly, there may be variations in the policy across
development type, scale or location.

m Emerging policy approach for carbon reduction:

1. Use less energy: Minimum 10% reduction in regulated® CO2 emissions
through fabric performance’:
Rationale: The best opportunity to improve building fabric is at the
development stage. Post-occupation it is more costly and disruptive to
improve the fabric. Many building fabric components will last the lifetime of
the building providing long term carbon savings. Fabric improvements can
deliver higher quality homes which are healthier to live in and cost less to run.
A 15% improvement will be considered for non-residential development since
evidence shows it is more cost effective for non-residential development to
achieve energy efficiency savings.

2. Use clean energy: Minimum overall 35% regulated CO2 reduction through
onsite measures including renewable energy and a heat hierarchy to reduce
dependence on gas:

Rationale: Generating renewable energy on-site helps meet the renewable
energy target in Policy CP3 and can reduce energy bills for householders.
Renewable energy can be stored, e.g. with batteries, to support the transition
of the electricity grid to renewable energy by releasing energy at times when
renewable energy production is low. As noted above, the increasing amount
of renewables on the grid means that soon electricity will produce less CO2
per unit than gas. It is important therefore that new development does not
“lock in” the use of gas, which will need to be phased out as a heating fuel in
order to meet local and national climate change targets®. A heat hierarchy
policy which expects proposals to use renewable heat will be considered to
steer development towards renewable sources’ is being considered whilst
referencing the opportunities for heat networks in the areas set out in Policy

e Regulated emissions are those covered by Building Regulations Part L e.g. from the building fabric and

services. Unregulated emissions are those that arise from householder appliances

’ From a baseline of Building Regulations Part L, which covers energy

& Committee on Climate Change (2016) “Next Steps for Heat Policy”

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/next-steps-for-uk-heat-policy/

° Renewable heat sources include ground and air sourced heat pumps, solar thermal panels and biomass
125

Page 162


https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/next-steps-for-uk-heat-policy/

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.2.11

8.2.12

8.2.13

CP4.

3. Offset what can’t be mitigated on site: Up to net zero carbon:
Rationale: Remaining emissions up to 100% regulated and unregulated CO2
can be offset by payments into a local fund for off-site measures such as
renewable energy or energy efficiency in existing buildings. This can include
historic buildings (including Listed Buildings) in accordance with the Council’s
Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Guidance For Listed Buildings and
Undesignated Historic Buildings (Adopted September 2013). Offsetting would
achieve the objective of draft JSP Policy 5, mitigating all emissions arising from
heat and power use in the buildings'®. We are considering the option to
include offsite renewables and power purchase agreements as mechanisms to
offset emissions that cannot be mitigated onsite.

The BREEAM Excellent standard is also being considered for major non-domestic
development. Exemptions to the policy approach above may be made for Certified
Passivhaus buildings. Performance monitoring post-occupancy is also being
considered.

Harnessing wind energy

Setting the scene

In order for B&NES to meet its renewable energy targets, the Council will also need to
harness energy from other renewable energy sources. Although there is insufficient
wind resource for large wind farms, wind is still the largest renewable resource in
B&NES.

For some time it has been Government policy for local planning authorities to have a
positive strategy to promote energy from renewable and low carbon sources
including the identification of suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy
sources.

For wind energy development Local Plans should identify areas suitable for
renewable and low-carbon energy development and make clear what criteria have
determined their selection, including for the size of development are considered
suitable. The revised NPPF (July 2018) states that:

‘A proposed wind energy development involving one or more wind turbines should not
be considered acceptable unless it is in an area identified as suitable for wind energy
development in the development plan; and, following consultation, it can be
demonstrated that the planning impacts identified by the affected local community
have been fully addressed and the proposal has their backing.’

To include emissions regulated under Part L of the Building Regulations, and unregulated emissions from
building use.

126
Page 163



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.2.14

8.2.15

8.2.16

8.2.17

The preparation of the Local Plan presents an opportunity to reconsider the Council’s
approach to wind energy development in light of the NPPF.

A study has been undertaken to assess the landscape sensitivity to wind
development11 for small, medium and large wind turbines®. It also provides
guidance on identifying suitable areas for the location of wind turbines in the
formulation of criteria against which specific proposals may be assessed in relation to
landscape impact. Further work was undertaken to identify Landscape and Visual
Issues for Areas with Technical Potential for Wind Energy Development ™.

Emerging policy approach

Although B&NES may not have the resource for large wind farms there are more
areas potentially suitable for medium or small turbines which could be better suited
to community projects. The diagram below shows the landscape sensitivity analysis
for small scale wind turbines.

Landcape Sensitivity Analysis for Wind Energy Development in B&NES 0 ?;;hgsr:?gg\i:zﬁ
Figure 4.3 Sensitivity Analysis for small scale wind turbines thldrde el i rdiing
Key
[J B&NES Boundary
[] Landscape Character Areas
Sensitivity
I High
Moderate-high
Moderate
Moderate-low
Low

Reprocticed fram the Or Licence number 100023334
L

Ordnance Survey mapph
Capyright. Unautharised reproduction fringes Crown

The suggested approach is to identify areas suitable for wind energy development on
the Local Plan Policies Map, based on the landscape sensitivity analysis study and

1 Landscape Sensitivity Analysis for Wind Energy Development in Bath and North East Somerset, Land Use
Consultants (December 2010)

12
Small:

Hub up to approx. 21m, tip up to 25m; Medium: Hub up to approx. 61m, tip up to 95m and large : Hub

up to approx. 83m, tip up to 139m
B Landscape and Visual Issues for Areas with Technical Potential for Wind Energy Development in Bath and
North East Somerset, Land Use Consultants (July 2011)

127
Page 164


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Sustainability/landscape_sensitivity_analysis_for_wind_energy.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Sustainability/landscape_visual_issues_for_wind_energy.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Sustainability/landscape_visual_issues_for_wind_energy.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

other landscape character and ecological evidence and supported by a
comprehensive criterion-based policy. This would give greater certainty as to where
such development will be acceptable provided the impacts identified in the policy can
be successfully mitigated. This would also need to take in to account environmental
sensitivity.

8.2.18 The findings of the study™* prepared support the Joint Spatial Plan suggest that offsite
wind turbine may be one means of achieving the zero carbon standard on the
Strategic Development Locations. This is technically possible given there is sufficient
unconstrained wind resource within a 2km boundary of Keynsham and Whitchurch.

8.2.19 In identifying suitable areas for wind energy development the Council would be
contributing positively towards increasing the supply of renewable and low carbon
energy.

m Emerging policy approach for harnessing wind energy

It is proposed that the policy framework for wind energy development should cover
and address the following considerations:

e Proposals for wind energy development must lie within an area identified as
being suitable for this type of development

e Community support for the scheme can be demonstrated and the material
planning impacts identified by affected local communities can been adequately
addressed

e Minimum separation distance between the proposal and all residential
properties in the locality reflects industry best practice and case law

e Address impact on:

— Residential amenity resulting from noise, vibrations, shadow flicker or visual
dominance

— Landscape character and visual impact including cumulative impacts

— Landscape and scenic beauty of the Cotswolds and Mendip Hills AONBs
— Historic environment including Bath World Heritage Site and its setting
- Biodiversity and ecology

- Highway safety and aviation

e Applications for the replacement and re-powering of existing wind turbines
within the district will be considered, in line with the guidance in the NPPF 2018

8.2.20 Renewable energy projects, including wind turbines, are not one of the excluded
categories from Green Belt policy and therefore would by definition be inappropriate
development. In such cases developers will need to demonstrate very special

¥ Joint Spatial Plan Strategic Development Locations: routes to zero carbon (January 2018)
128

Page 165


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/RegionalPlanning/jsp_report_-_routes_to_zero_carbon_regen_sw_2018.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3

8.3.1

8.3.2

8.3.3

8.3.4

circumstances if projects were to proceed on Green Belt locations. These could
include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased production of
energy from renewable sources. The Council has already published an informal
guidance note on renewable energy in the Green Belt™ to provide greater clarity on
this issue.

Housing

Affordable Housing

The four West of England Unitary Authorities have established their commitment to
maximise affordable housing delivery across the sub-region. Affordable housing is
therefore given a significant priority in the Joint Spatial Strategy (JSP) especially given
the scale of the need and historic low delivery rates. Draft JSP Policy 3 provides the
context for affordable housing policies in the Local Plans. It also stipulates that the
delivery of affordable housing should be in a range of tenure and unit types.

The NPPF encourages local planning authorities to plan for and facilitate the delivery
of housing to meet local needs in rural areas, particularly for affordable housing. The
Local Plan will also need to address other affordable housing related issues arising
from the revised NPPF (July 2018) including:

e Ensuring that 10% of all homes on major development are for affordable home
ownership

e Identifying sites and supply of homes for essential local workers

e Specifying size, tenure and type of housing for different groups in the community
that require affordable housing

e Ensuring there are sites solely for build for rent (the above 10% requirement does

not apply)

How these elements of affordable housing will be addressed through the Local Plan
will depend on the level of identified need and the level of flexibility the Council
would wish to introduce a policy framework. Further work will be needed to inform
the policy approach in respect of these areas.

The following section discusses areas of affordable housing provision where a change
in approach is suggested.

15 Informal Guidance Note: Renewable energy in the Green Belt in Bath & North East Somerset (B&NES &
RegenSW, 2013)

129
Page 166


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/regb_advice_note_april_2013.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/regb_advice_note_april_2013.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3.5

8.3.6

8.3.7

8.3.8

8.3.9

8.3.10

Rural Exceptions Sites

Setting the scene

One element of affordable housing provision is through ‘rural exceptions’ sites i.e.
affordable housing on those sites which would not normally be used for housing. The
revised NPPF also makes it clear that:

Local planning authorities should support opportunities to bring forward rural
exception sites that will provide affordable housing to meet identified local needs, and
consider whether allowing some market housing on these sites would help to facilitate
this.

Preparation of the Local Plan presents the opportunity to consult stakeholders on the
appropriateness and scale of affordable housing on sites that would not normally be
used for housing development i.e. as an ‘exception’ to restraint policies that would
normally apply both outside and within the Green Belt. This means on sites outside
the Housing Development Boundary (HDB) for settlements.

Issues with the current policy approach

Core Strategy Policy RA4™ sets out the current policy in respect of rural exceptions
sites that broadly reflects the NPPF policy. The supporting text to the policy currently
emphasises that it is imperative that the majority of the scheme must be affordable
and that market housing will only be permitted where it is robustly demonstrated it is
needed to subsidise the provision of affordable housing.

However, the rural exceptions policy has not delivered any affordable housing so far
during the Core Strategy period (2011 - 2029). This is largely due to changes in the
affordable housing sector funding and delivery models, but also to the restrictive and
overly complex nature of exception site delivery, as well as a relatively imprecise
planning policy.

The current policy does not provide any guidance on the scale or size of exceptions
site that will be permitted and provides limited clarity on the level of market housing
appropriate in cross-subsidising delivery of affordable housing. This lack of clarity is
acting as an obstacle to the delivery of affordable housing on exceptions sites.

Site size

The references to ‘small sites’ in the supporting text to Policy RA4 and ‘limited
affordable housing’ in the NPPF has been interpreted by the local planning authority
to mean sites of 10 dwellings or fewer as this is the threshold generally used to
differentiate between small sites and large sites.

16 http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-
Policy/Placemaking-Plan/cs_pmp_vol_1_district-wide.pdf (page 143)

130
Page 167


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/cs_pmp_vol_1_district-wide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/cs_pmp_vol_1_district-wide.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3.11 This scale of development is not generally attractive or financially viable to Registered
Providers (RPs). In larger villages, need can significantly exceed 10 units and where
open market homes are required to cross-subsidise affordable housing provision, this
further reduces the delivery of affordable homes to meet local need. The size and
nature of development needs to be appropriate to the settlement, but recognition
should be given in the policy that developments larger than 10 units can be
appropriate in the case of rural exception sites.

Market housing

8.3.12 Policy RA4 indicates that a small proportion of market housing may be appropriate
where it is required to help ensure viability of affordable housing. The supporting
text states that the ‘majority’ of the scheme should be affordable. This is subject to
wide interpretation as the level of market housing will vary dependent on the
specifics of the site/scheme and the amount of public subsidy that is available.
Further clarity on this within the policy would therefore help to facilitate delivery.

Emerging policy approach

8.3.13 It is proposed that many key elements of the existing policy should be retained,
including ensuring provision meets a demonstrable need for affordable housing, that
homes remain as affordable housing in perpetuity and local connections test are met.
Given that ‘exceptions site’ developments would be outside controlled/defined areas
(i.e. the HDBs), it is considered necessary to emphasise the importance of
developments being on sites well related to settlements and appropriate to their
context in terms of character, scale and form. In relation to the Green Belt locations
the policy should also seek to ensure that ‘exceptions sites’ are selected in order to
minimise harm to the Green Belt.

8.3.14 Reference to the scale of development (size or capacity of site) should also be made
in the policy to enable viable delivery and attractiveness for RPs. Discussions with
RPs suggest that this would be around 15 — 20 dwellings.

8.3.15 Finally greater clarity on the market housing element/proportion should be provided
in the policy. Whilst the element of market housing will be subject to robust viability
testing taking account of the level of public subsidy available, evidence suggests that
it may be necessary for as much as 40% of the scheme to be market housing for an
exceptions scheme to be deliverable. Other delivery could be addressed through a
supporting Supplementary Planning Document.

m Emerging policy approach for rural exceptions sites:

e As an exception to local policies that restrain housing development including
directing development to within HDBs, development of affordable housing (as

131
Page 168



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

defined by the NPPF*’) will be permitted provided that it is well related to a

settlement and its scale, character and form is appropriate to its context, and has

no adverse impact on internationally or nationally protected species and/or their

habitats.

e Exceptions sites within the Green Belt (either limited infill within the HDB or
sites adjoining the HDB) must also be selected in order to minimise harm to
the openness and purposes of the Green Belt.

e Sites could have a capacity of up to 20 dwellings in total subject to levels of
housing need, cross-subsidy requirements and the size of settlement. The
affordable housing must meet a demonstrable local need for affordable
housing.

e The affordable housing must remain affordable in perpetuity.

e Occupancy of the affordable housing should remain, as a first priority, for
those with demonstrable local connections, as assessed by the Council (using
Homesearch policy criteria®).

e Up to 40% market housing will be appropriate where it can be demonstrated
that the market housing is essential to cross-subsidise the affordable housing
and that the site would be unviable or undeliverable without this cross-
subsidy, taking into account the availability of public subsidy.

e Cross-subsidy market housing could be secured by means of built units or
self-build opportunities.

Regeneration of Social Housing

Setting the Scene

8.3.16

8.3.17

The case for regeneration of areas of social housing is often based on a concentration
of poor quality housing stock, in both larger estates and smaller developments,
where a comprehensive programme of repair or refurbishment is not a cost effective
or deliverable solution. The other significant driver for regeneration of social housing
estates is the correlation between the large concentrations of social housing stock
and socio-economic deprivation. In these cases, even large scale investment in
existing housing stock may not address the socio-economic challenges or lessen the
strain on wider support services across the area.

In some instances redevelopment-led regeneration of social housing may be the most
effective means of delivering improvement. Policy H8 in the Placemaking Plan sought
to facilitate such redevelopment in order to deliver enhancement to the social
housing stock.

7 National Planning Policy Framework (Glossary)
8 Homesearch - Bath and North East Somerset Council’s Housing Allocation Scheme

132
Page 169


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/740441/National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/Housing/Strategyandperformance/homesearch_allocation_scheme_2016_v2_for_publication.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Issues with the current policy approach

8.3.18 In seeking to facilitate redevelopment or regeneration of social housing the current
policy seeks, as the starting point, to ensure that there is no net loss in affordable
housing. However, the current policy caveats this position by stating that it is subject
to viability considerations and other social balance considerations. Therefore, it
allows the applicant to demonstrate viability or social balance/community mix
reasons as to why retaining the existing number of affordable units cannot or should
not be delivered.

8.3.19 The need for affordable housing within B&NES and particularly in Bath is significant
and therefore, any potential loss of affordable housing through operation of the
current policy is of concern.

8.3.20 It is proposed that options relating to the explicit inclusion of viability considerations
within the policy should be considered. The alternative means of improving social
housing stock through refurbishing or repairing individual properties also has a
financial cost. In operating the policy and considering viability the cost of property
repair/ refurbishment should be taken into account. This represents one policy
approach option. In addition the 2018 NPPF promotes an approach of viability being
tested at the plan-making stage in order to ensure that Local Plan policies are
deliverable. Viability should not need to be considered in the course of determining
individual planning applications and should only be necessary where the applicant
can demonstrate it is necessary due to changed circumstances. This would suggest
that the Local Plan policy itself should not explicitly reference viability testing.

8.3.21 In accordance with the factors outlined above it is proposed that the policy should be
tightened in respect of achieving no net loss of affordable housing units. There are
two options in respect of viability considerations and these are outlined below.

m Proposed policy approach options for the regeneration of Social Housing

1. Where the redevelopment/regeneration of areas of social housing is supported it is
required that there will be no net loss of affordable housing subject to social balance
considerations

2. Where the redevelopment/regeneration of areas of social housing is supported it is
required that there is no net loss of affordable housing subject to social balance and
viability considerations. The consideration of viability must take into account the
cost of repairing or refurbishing the existing properties

133
Page 170



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3.16

8.3.17

8.3.18

8.3.19

Self-build (including custom house-building)

Setting the scene

The NPPF states that Councils should plan for a mix of housing including for people
wishing to build their own homes. The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015
introduced a duty on local authorities to keep a register of people who want to build
their own homes and to grant permissions for enough serviced plots of land to meet
the demand on the register. Self-build permissions are identified using claims for
exemption from Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments (self-build dwellings
are exempt from CIL).

Issues with the current policy approach

Policy H4 in the Placemaking Plan encourages self-build, but it does not create a
policy environment that directly facilitates the delivery of self and custom build
housing. Therefore, in order to facilitate the approval of the number of plots
required to meet demand, it is considered that further policy intervention is
necessary, as sufficient plots are unlikely to come forward without it. Promotion of
self-build is also in accordance with the Government’s stated ambition of diversifying
the housing market (i.e. moving away from a market dominated by large-volume
house-builders).

Options for facilitating the delivery of self-build plots

The existing policy framework already allows for single plot self-build schemes to
come forward within urban areas and villages (within Housing Development
Boundaries), and small numbers are currently being delivered. However, this is
unlikely to provide enough serviced plots to meet the duty under the Act.

Other Councils have also introduced requirements for a minimum proportion of large
sites to be self-build — for example, Teignbridge and South Gloucestershire have
policies requiring a 10% self-build plots on sites over 20 and 100 respectively. Others
have gone further still, for example, Cherwell District Council has purchased and
allocated land for around 2,000 self-build dwellings and expects to make a financial
return.

8.3.20 Therefore it is clear there are a number of different policy approaches that could be

explored which might help boost the delivery of self-build plots in Bath & North East
Somerset. The following policy approaches are presented for purposes stimulating
discussion to address facilitating the delivery of self-build plots:

134
Page 171



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3.21

8.3.22

8.3.23

8.3.24

m Approaches for facilitating the delivery of self-build plots

e include self-build plots as part of the two Strategic Development Locations at
North Keynsham and Whitchurch

e include self-build plots as part of larger ‘standard’ housing schemes

e introduce self-build-only schemes (large or small)

Extra care housing

The Placemaking Plan currently seeks to enable delivery of housing and facilities
provision for the elderly and those with other supported housing or care needs
through Policy H1. ‘Extra care housing’ is recognised as making an important
contribution to the District’s affordable housing provision and helps increase the
choice of housing options.

The issue

The Use Classes Order sets out different categories of residential use and makes a
distinction between residential institutions (Class C2) and dwelling houses (Class C3).
As a rule of thumb, a residential care home consisting usually of just a bedroom (and
possibly a bathroom) but with everything else communal, including meals is Class C2
whereas sheltered housing based on self-contained accommodation with a warden or
manager and no direct provision of care is classified as housing, therefore Class c3®.

However it is often unclear how ‘extra care housing’ should be categorised which has
led to uncertainty and contention. Debates hinge on whether a development for
older people should be Class C3 and therefore liable to CIL requirements and may be
required to include an element of affordable housing within a scheme. This is not the
case if the scheme falls within Class C2 and is nil rated in respect of CIL and not
currently subject to an affordable housing requirement. The issue arises when a
scheme involving self-contained accommodation has been combined with extensive
communal facilities and the provision (or availability) of personal care, and often
some meals, within the same overall scheme.

It is clear that extra care housing can take a variety of forms which influence whether
it is classified as a C2 or C3 use. The Housing Learning and Improvement Network
(LIN)® explains that ‘the term 'extra care' housing is used to describe developments
that comprise self-contained homes with design features and support services
available to enable self- care and independent living.” The Council will need to
consider the nature and type of accommodation to be provided in each scheme in

% Under circular 8/2010, Class C3, a dwelling house defined within subsection (b) as those living together as a
single household and receiving care
20 https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/what-is-extra-care/

135
Page 172


https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/what-is-extra-care/

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

order to determine this and whether the proposal is either C2 or C3 Use Class or
separate elements of the scheme fall under one or other of the these Uses Classes.

8.3.25 Given that Policy H1 as currently written does not provide sufficient clarity for
considering applications for ‘extra care housing’ the following approach is proposed
to address this.

m Proposed policy approach for extra care housing

Redraft Policy H1 to address the Class C2/C3 issue in respect of ‘extra care housing’
making it clear that the nature of a scheme will determine whether it comes within
category C2 (dwellings houses) or C3 (residential institutions) of the Use Classes
Order. The policy should make it clear that schemes will fall within Class C2 and/or
Class C3 and that each Use Class will be subject to different requirements as regards
financial contributions, location (in the case of Class C3 which will be considered in
the same way as other C3 residential uses) and affordable housing. The
requirements under each Use Class will then be stipulated.

8.3.26 It is also recommended that reference to the Department of Health’s Extra Care
Housing Toolkit** (or successor document) is included in the Local Plan which will
assist both developer and decision maker.

Housing standards

Setting the scene

8.3.27 Local planning authorities can set standards exceeding the compulsory minimum
required by Building Regulations for access and water efficiency. Currently there is
no compulsory minimum standard for internal space, but this can be introduced
through the Local Plan, known as the nationally described space standard®. This
approach is supported by the NPPF which states that ‘Policies may also make use of
the nationally described space standard, where the need for an internal space
standard can be justified.’

Water efficiency

8.3.28 The Council has already adopted the higher standards relating to water efficiency via
PMP Policy SCR5, through which all dwellings will be expected to meet the national
optional Building Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per
person per day. No changes to this policy approach are proposed other than to

https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Toolkit/ECH_Toolkit_Website
_Version_Final.pdf

22 Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard (DCLG, 2015)
136
Page 173


https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Toolkit/ECH_Toolkit_Website_Version_Final.pdf
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Toolkit/ECH_Toolkit_Website_Version_Final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/524531/160519_Nationally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3.29

8.3.30

8.3.31

8.3.32

confirm that all new dwellings will be required to meet the optional standard of 110
litres (see Annex 1).

Accessibility

The Council has also adopted enhanced accessibility standards. However, this is
implemented differently for affordable and market housing. For market housing, this
is through a Placemaking Plan Policy H7, whereas for affordable housing, it is through
the Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).

This creates an issue principally in terms of the discrepancy in status — a SPD carries
less weight than a Development Plan policy. It requires the use of two documents,
which reduces the accessibility of the plan to the user. Most importantly, the
standards in the SPD were merely rolled forward and are not supported by the
required evidence.

Proposed policy approach for housing accessibility policies
It is recommended that the housing accessibility policies are consolidated within the
Local Plan, informed by appropriate supporting evidence.

Internal Space

Internal space standards are currently only applied to affordable housing. For market
housing, the standard is usually exceeded, but occasionally it is not. There is a
significant body of research on the health benefits of adequately sized housing and
that housing in the UK is, on average, significantly smaller than housing in Ireland,
Denmark or the Netherlands. As with the accessibility standards, the discrepancy
between affordable and market housing is also considered sub-optimal.

However, ‘micro housing’ is
also emerging as a niche
market, which could meet
housing needs to an acceptable,
albeit smaller, standard, at a
lower cost to occupiers. An
example of this is the recent
permission at 44 Lower Bristol
Road, Bath (‘Banglo’), which
included units that are smaller
than the national standard, but are designed in such a way that they provide a good
living environment. The possibility of this type of housing should remain open, so if
the nationally described space standard is introduced, a suitable exception for
appropriately designed ‘micro housing’ should be included.

137
Page 174



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3.32

8.3.33

m Proposed policy approach for space standards

It is recommended that the nationally described space standard be introduced for all
housing in B&NES, both affordable and market housing, with the exception of ‘micro
housing’ providing a high quality living environment.

Replacement dwellings outside the Green Belt

The Issue

In order to provide more appropriate residential accommodation to suit household
needs or better quality housing it can be necessary or beneficial to provide a
replacement dwelling. National policy regards construction of a replacement building
(including a dwelling) as appropriate development within the Green Belt as long as it
is in the same use as the existing building and is not materially larger than the one it
replaces. In areas of open countryside (i.e. outside housing development boundaries
(HDBs) defined for settlements) the local policy framework set by the PMP is more
restrictive. This is because no policy is included in the PMP relating specifically to
replacement dwellings and the principle of residential development is unacceptable
outside HDBs. Therefore, in order to facilitate the provision of replacement dwellings
(i.e. one new dwelling replacing one existing dwelling) in areas outside the Green Belt
and settlement HDBs it is proposed that a policy could be introduced in the Local Plan
setting out the criteria against which applications would be determined.

m Proposed policy approach for outside the Green Belt

Outside the Green Belt and defined housing development boundaries the provision of
a replacement dwelling should be permitted where it is not materially larger than the
dwelling it replaces and the creation or extension of a residential curtilage does not
harm rural character.

Housing in Green Belt Villages

Setting the Scene

The NPPF makes it clear that the construction of new building in the Green Belt is
inappropriate development and should not be permitted other than in very special
circumstances. It goes on state that exceptions to this (and therefore, not
inappropriate development) include limited infill development within villages that are
within and ‘washed over’ by the Green Belt; and limited affordable housing to meet
local need under policies in the Local Plan.

138
Page 175



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.3.34

8.3.35

8.3.36

8.3.37

PMP Policy GB2 states that in villages washed over by the Green Belt limited infill
housing development is acceptable where it lies within the Housing Development
Boundary (HDB). The HDBs are shown on the Policies Map. As such the purpose of
Policy GB2 is to provide certainty as to where residential development would be
acceptable within such villages. Additionally the supporting text of the Placemaking
Plan defines what is meant by the term infill.

Issues with the current policy approach

As set out above the NPPF makes it clear that limited infilling in villages is not
inappropriate development. The HDBs defined in the PMP identify those areas in
villages where proposals for residential development as limited infilling would be
acceptable. However, there are other settlements within the Green Belt where HDBs
are not defined e.g. Dunkerton or North Stoke. Therefore, in order to ensure that the
extent of areas where infill opportunities exist is fully identified the HDBs require
review, to ascertain whether they should be defined for settlements currently
without one. In order to be clear about their purposes HDBs within Green Belt
villages could also be renamed as ‘infill boundaries’. By identifying ‘infill boundaries’
greater certainty is provided for the applicant and decision maker, not only for infill
proposals, but also in respect of opportunities to provide ‘limited affordable housing
to meet local community needs’ as set out in the NPPF which may be appropriate
outside infill boundaries.

The alternative approach would be for the Local Plan to no longer define HDBs or
infill boundaries for villages within the Green Belt and for it to be determined
whether a proposal represented ‘limited infilling’ on a case by case basis at the time
of considering an application.

The Core Strategy currently defines infilling in relation to housing as ‘the filling of
small gaps within existing development e.g. the building of one or two houses on a
small vacant plot in an otherwise extensively built up frontage, the plot generally
being surrounded on at least three sides by developed sites or roads.’ For clarification
it is proposed that this definition should be simplified as set out below.

m Proposed policy approach options for housing in Green Belt villages

Options:

1. Limited infilling in villages to be appropriate within defined ‘infill boundaries’. The
current HDBs would be reviewed in order to ascertain whether infill boundaries
are needed for all villages washed over by the Green Belt if there are
opportunities for limited infilling there.

2. Limited infilling in villages to be allowed and for this to be determined at the time
of considering a planning application. HDBs or infill boundaries would not be
defined for Green Belt villages.

Proposed Approach:

139
Page 176



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.4

8.4.1

8.4.2

8.4.3

8.4.4

Simplify the definition of limited infill to state ‘The filling of small gaps within existing
development in an otherwise extensively built up frontage.’

Employment uses

Setting the scene

The NPPF requires that Local Plans should give significant weight to supporting
economic growth and productivity. The emerging Joint Spatial Plan sets out the
overall level of job growth to be planned for across the West of England and identifies
key locations for economic investment and development. This Council’s Economic
Strategy seeks to ensure a sustainable economic future for B&NES residents by
focussing on and developing key high value, high growth business sectors and their
associated products, services and employment requirements. Alongside preparation
of the Draft Local Plan the Economic Strategy will be reviewed in order to ensure it
remains fit for purpose. In order to inform this process initial work has been
undertaken looking at the key sectors of the B&NES economy within the context of
the JSP and economic projections that underpin it.

In planning for economic growth and supporting the needs of businesses and resident
workers protecting existing employment land, as well as planning for the delivery of
new employment space (see place based chapters), is essential.

Key Issues

The previous NPPF set out a presumption that employment land and premises should
be redeveloped for housing, unless there are ‘strong economic reasons’ as to why this
would be inappropriate. The revised NPPF published in 2018 continues to encourage
the use of previously developed land for housing, and that using currently
unallocated retail and employment land for homes should be supported but only
where it does not undermine key economic sectors and would be compatible with
other policies in the Framework (including those relating to supporting economic
growth and productivity).

Within the context of the previous NPPF and permitted development rights the
Adopted Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan set out a policy framework that sought
to manage the loss of industrial floorspace, and planned for the delivery of new grade
‘A’ office accommodation to replace the outdated stock across the area, that is no
longer fit for purpose. Evidence shows that since the start of the Core Strategy period
in 2011 losses across the District have exceeded the levels set out in the Plan, and the
necessary new employment development has not been realised.

140
Page 177



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.4.5

8.4.6

8.4.7

Additionally evidence shows that demand for industrial space has increased and is
greater than was envisaged at the time of preparing the Core Strategy and
Placemaking Plan. There are also limited opportunities to provide new industrial land,
especially in Bath.

Emerging Policy Approach
Industrial Land

In relation to industrial land the Placemaking Plan identifies strategic sites and
includes a policy that facilitates the provision of new industrial space within them and
a strong presumption in favour of retaining existing B1/B2/B8 floorspace (Policy
ED2A). This policy is considered still to be appropriate and is not proposed to be
changed other than ensuring the wording reflects the 2018 NPPF. However, in order
to support the Draft Local Plan a further employment land review will be undertaken
to confirm whether the strategic industrial sites listed in Policy ED2A also remain
appropriate and whether any further sites should now be considered to be strategic
and warrant the protection of ED2A. For the non-strategic industrial sites across
B&NES Placemaking Plan Policy ED2B reflected the 2012 NPPF presumption in favour
of re-using employment land for housing.

Given changes to national policy identified above; the significant losses of industrial
land that have occurred since 2011; and the increased demand for industrial
accommodation it is proposed that stronger policy protection of non-strategic or
other industrial sites should be introduced. The proposed policy approach would seek
retention of non-strategic industrial land for industrial uses, unless it can be
demonstrated by the applicant that it is not needed for such uses. This approach
would apply to non-strategic industrial sites across the whole District, in order to
protect space and jobs across all communities helping to provide local employment
opportunities. The alternative option would be to retain the existing approach of
most strongly protecting industrial space only in identified key or strategic sites, but
reviewing these sites to ensure all relevant sites are included within key locations
identified such as the Bath & Somer Valley Enterprise Zones. This approach would
maintain and retain key employment areas, but provide some flexibility for other
uses, including housing, elsewhere.

)\ /i5EE  proposed policy approach for industrial land

At identified strategic industrial sites allow the appropriate provision of additional
industrial space and a strong presumption in favour of retaining existing industrial
space.

Other (non-identified) industrial sites across B&NES should be retained in
industrial/business use unless the applicant can demonstrate the site is not needed
for such purposes.

141
Page 178



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

In applying such a policy approach the Local Plan would need to set out the factors
or criteria against which the applicant would need to justify the proposed loss of
industrial space. These factors could include:
e quality of the industrial premises and suitability of the site to provide
continued industrial or alternative Bla or B1b use;
e the quality and availability of alternative sites or industrial premises to
meet demand;
e position against strategic employment land/floorspace targets;
e economic market signals; and
e extent of marketing for industrial use undertaken and associated interest.

Alternative approach

Retain existing policy approach of more strongly protecting identified strategic
sites, but reviewing the identified sites to ensure all sites in key locations such as
Bath and Somer Valley Enterprise Zones are included.

Office floorspace

8.4.8 Monitoring information shows that there have been significant losses of office
floorspace since 2011. In comparison to industrial uses there are greater
opportunities to provide new floorspace, including within Bath Enterprise Zone and
the Strategic Development Locations at North Keynsham and Whitchurch. Office
floorspace losses have increased partly because of the introduction by the
government of permitted development rights for a change of use from offices to
residential.

8.4.9 Evidence suggests that, as long as key development sites such as Bath Quays North
are delivered and losses within the city slow, meeting the Core Strategy target for
office floorspace net gains within the city remains on track. In order to help stem
office floorspace losses the Council is currently consulting on the introduction of an
Article 4 Direction removing office to residential change of use permitted
development rights in Bath city centre.

8.4.10 Placemaking Plan Policy ED1B sets out the current policy relating to the change of use
or redevelopment of offices to non-student residential (C2, C3 or C4) uses. It is a
complex policy that needs simplifying and clarifying. It needs to be amended to
reflect current permitted development rights plus the introduction of the Article 4
Direction in Bath city centre and to more closely accord with the 2018 NPPF.

8.4.11 Office floorspace also comes under pressure for redevelopment or conversion for
purpose built student accommodation (especially in Bath) and mixed use schemes,
which may include a residential element. Given the importance of retaining an
adequate supply of office floorspace to meet the needs of the B&NES economy it is
proposed to extend the policy approach to these other uses.

142
Page 179



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.5

8.5.1

8.5.2

8.5.3

8.5.4

m Proposed policy approach for office floorspace

Office to residential (C3):

Office space within Bath city centre (as defined in the Article 4 Direction) should be

retained in office use unless the applicant proposing residential development (C3

uses) can justify its loss, with reference to the following factors:

e suitability of the accommodation for office use

e how long it has been vacant and the extent of marketing undertaken

e the position in respect of housing, office and other business floorspace against
Local Plan requirements

e whether the offices are within a strategic location

Office to C2 & 4 residential/Purpose Built Student Accommodation/mixed-use:

For applications seeking to convert/redevelop office space for PBSA; mixed uses; or
C2 & C4 residential uses there is a presumption that the office floorspace should be
retained, unless the loss can be justified by the applicant with reference to the factors
above.

Fast food takeaways

The issue

One of the roles of the planning system is to support ‘strong, vibrant and healthy
communities’ and to ‘take account of and support local strategies to improve health,
social and cultural wellbeing for all and deliver sufficient community and cultural
facilities and services to meet local needs.’

The local planning authority is working with the public health authority to understand
and take account of the health status and needs of the local population and
information about relevant barriers to improving health and wellbeing in formulating
planning policies.

Unhealthy weight, obesity and diet-related disease are key health priorities
highlighted in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Healthy Weight Strategy and
Local Food Strategy for B&NES. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy identifies
B&NES’ key health and wellbeing priorities as including helping children to be a
healthy weight and creating healthy and sustainable places.

The Healthy Weight Strategy provides a framework for action to address
unprecedented levels of obesity in Bath and North East Somerset. The strategy
recommends action to control exposure to calorific food and drink, including reducing
the number of new fast food outlets near educational settings.

143
Page 180



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Studies

Evidence indicates that exposure to fast food outlets in home, work and
commuting environments is associated with higher consumption of takeaway
food, which is generally higher in salt, sugar and saturated fat, and an increased
likelihood of being overweight.

B&NES had 146 fast food takeaways with an average of 70 outlets per 100,000
population as at December 2017 (Public Health England, 2018). A number of
wards in B&NES?® have a higher than national average density of fast food outlets
per 100,000 population (greater than the comparable national rate of 88 per
100,000 population).

Based on information from Public Health England the density of fast food outlets
has increased in B&NES from 52 - 63 outlets per 100,000 population in 2010 to
70.3 outlets per 100,000 population in 2015 (to be replaced by 2017 stats).

The key messages from Public Health England’s research include:

There is a clear relationship between the density of fast food and levels of
deprivation

The local environment has a major influence on our behaviours and streets
crowded with fast food outlets can influence our food choices

Local authorities can help to make our local environment more supportive of
healthier choices, whether by creating ‘healthier zones’ (limiting the number of
fast food outlets in certain areas) or working with local businesses to help them
provide healthier options

Potential policy approach options for Bath and North East Somerset

8.5.5

8.5.6

It is clear from the evidence summarised above that this is an issue that could be
addressed through the new the Local Plan. In recent years over 21 local authorities
have successfully developed planning guidance/ policies to prevent the proliferation
of hot food takeaways and a range of policies or criteria have been used to control
and manage the impact of new hot food takeaways, addressing:

concentration and clustering of hot food takeaways in town or local centres
hot food takeaways in close proximity to schools

restaurants providing a takeaway service

hot food takeaways in new developments

residential amenity, such as noise and odour

Based on approaches taken by other local authorities, a policy approach for B&NES
Local Plan could be developed around the following two options:

23 Abbey, Keynsham North, Kingsmead, Midsomer Norton North, Radstock and Walcot Wards.

144
Page 181



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.6

8.6.1.

m Proposed policy approach options for fast food outlets
Option 1: Fast food takeaways and schools

Policy aim: Prevent fast food takeaways from opening near schools and youth
facilities

Not permitting A5 uses within a given distance of an existing (or proposed) school,
youth club and/or leisure centres but allow A5 uses beyond the given distance
threshold with conditions restricting opening during school hours.

The only exception to this approach could be where the proposal is within a
designated centre and can it can be demonstrated that the introduction of such a
use will significantly contribute to the vitality and viability of that centre.

Option 2: Overconcentration and clustering
Policy aim: Prevent the overconcentration and clustering of fast food outlets

Proposals resulting in a harmful concentration of A5 uses will not be permitted.
When considering whether a proposed fast food takeaway would result in an over-
concentration of such uses to the detriment of the vitality and viability of a town or
local centre, regard will be had to a number of criteria including the number of
existing fast food takeaway units in the immediate area and their proximity to one
another and other uses in the area. What would constitute an appropriate
concentration of A5 uses would need to be determined.

Parking standards and electric vehicles infrastructure

Parking standards

Setting the Scene

Placemaking Plan (PMP) Policy ST7 requires that development proposals provide an
appropriate level of car parking in accordance with the standards defined in the
schedule accompanying the policy. There is some flexibility for applicants to
demonstrate they should provide less parking than the minimum standard where
supported by an accessibility assessment or a greater level of parking dependent on
the circumstances of the individual proposal. The PMP was adopted in summer 2017
and whilst these parking standards have been implemented for less than a year,
circumstances have already changed and issues have arisen warranting the need for
an early review of these parking standards. The immediacy of the changed
circumstances and information since adoption of the Placemaking Plan may also
suggest that the process by which the parking standards are defined should be re-
considered.

145
Page 182



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.6.2

8.6.3

8.6.4

8.6.5

8.6.6

8.6.7

Three key issues have been identified where parking standards may need to be
reviewed:

e Residential Parking Standards
e Purpose Built Student Accommodation
e HMOs

Further assessment work is needed (including surveys of on-street parking) to help
inform the review of parking standards in these three areas. This work has not been
completed to inform the Local Plan Options document and the approach options
presented below should be viewed in this context. The policy and standards defined
through the Draft Local Plan will reflect evidence from the assessment work.

Residential Parking Standards

The PMP defines two sets of parking standards for residential development (related
to dwelling size) - maximum residential parking standards for central Bath, that take
account of the accessibility of this area by sustainable means of transport, and
minimum parking standards for the rest of the District. The minimum standards
include a garage and the PMP also defines the minimum dimensions for a garage to
ensure it can be used for a car.

The setting of minimum parking standards for residential development outside
central Bath is part of the strategy of seeking to manage carefully the use of cars by
restricting destination parking as opposed to point of origin parking (i.e. the home).
Additionally the parking standards defined were intended to help manage and avoid
potential problems of congested on-street parking in new development.

There is evidence that in some new development inappropriate on-street parking is
causing problems e.g. impeding access by emergency or delivery vehicles and
obstructing footways for pedestrians especially those with limited mobility, wheel
chair users or those with pushchairs. This is often due to poor design and may, in

part, be caused by households not using garages for car parking allied to high levels of
car ownership. It might also be related to a locality’s accessibility by non-car travel
modes i.e. in some parts of the District residents are more reliant upon a car to access
employment opportunities or services and facilities. A number of parish councils,
through work on their Neighbourhood Plans, have and are seeking to provide a
greater number of spaces than established through the PMP standards.

The implications for development form of different parking standard options and
increasing parking provision will also need to be considered. For example an
increased parking requirement may have implications for the amount of land
available for other uses such as Green Infrastructure or for development density and
site capacity in the context of making efficient use of land. There are a number of

146
Page 183



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.6.8

different ways in which parking spaces can be provided, and the requirement for all
parking to be provided on-plot can be an impediment to good urban design. In many
successful new housing developments car parking is provided in a combination of
ways, including on-plot, as well as parking courtyards, car barns and on-street lay-bys.
Good urban design is critical to ensure that a high quality residential environment is
achieved whilst accommodating car parking requirements. In this way it is possible to
mitigate the problems caused by inappropriate and poorly designed on-street parking
and consideration will be given as to whether the Local Plan should include policy
relating to highway and parking design, including considering impacts on the
character of Conservation Areas.

The different accessibility characteristics of different parts of the District may need to
be better reflected in residential parking standards as there are instances that, even
where accessibility assessments are undertaken, the level of parking still required
through the existing standards is making development undeliverable. Additionally,
comments are invited on whether residential parking standards should continue to
include, or exclude, garages. This needs to be considered within the context of the
spatial priority of encouraging sustainable means of travel and the potential role of
other initiatives aimed at reducing the need for cars and the space required for
parking. A requirement could be introduced to provide car club spaces as a
proportion of overall parking spaces and electric bike hire points in new
development. This would relate to development schemes in parts of the District with
sufficient catchment area population to be served by car club vehicles, currently the
urban areas.

m Residential Parking Standards Policy Options:
District-wide differentiation

1. Develop and define parking standards differentiated spatially in broad areas or
zones across the District reflecting key accessibility characteristics

2. Continue with the current standard minimum parking standards in Bath city
centre and uniform maximum parking standards elsewhere in B&NES

Garages

1. Continue to include garages in the residential parking standard

2. Exclude garages from the residential parking standard and review the number of
spaces required for different size dwellings

On-street Parking & Highway Design
Proposed to include in the Local Plan policy or a SPD guidance on highway design and
on street parking provision.

Car Club Spaces
Proposed to introduce a requirement to provide car club spaces and electric bike hire
points in new development within appropriate parts of the District.

147
Page 184



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.6.9

8.6.10

8.6.11

8.6.12

Parking Standards for HMOs and Purpose Built Student Accommodation

In the Placemaking Plan no specific parking standard is set for HMOs (Use Class C4)
and for Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) zero parking spaces are
required. Anecdotal evidence suggests that typically the conversion of a dwelling into
a HMO results in an increased demand for parking spaces which is causing on-street
parking problems. The use of some properties as short term holiday lets; although
not a different use class and outside the control of the planning system; may also
exacerbate on-street parking problems. In addition some students that live in PSBA
own and use cars which also appears to be causing on-street parking problems during
term time (e.g. streets close to Riverside Court and Twerton Mill PBSA developments
on Lower Bristol Road) and therefore, some parking for PBSA provision appears to be
required.

It is proposed that surveys of student car ownership and on-street parking will be
undertaken to better understand the extent of the problems relating to both HMOs
and PBSA. Following this work, options as to how this can be best managed will be
assessed and the associated parking standards that should be defined will be set out
in the Draft Local Plan. It may be that other, non-planning measures will also need to
be considered, especially in relation to HMOs and short-term holiday lets e.g.
resident parking controls via permits.

Process for defining Parking Standards

Currently the parking standards for different forms of development are defined in a
schedule set out in the Placemaking Plan. This is helpful in ensuring the standards are
set out in one document alongside the associated policy. However, as Local Plans are
reviewed every five years this is relatively inflexible if they require amendment to
reflect changed circumstances. Defining them in an associated Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) would enable greater responsiveness and flexibility in
amending the standards as necessary. It may also be possible to prepare parking
standards for a greater range of land uses in more detail in a SPD.

In addition and in order to reflect locally specific circumstances Neighbourhood Plan
may also seek to define parking standards. If parking standards are defined outside
the Local Plan it would also be an option for the Local Plan policy to refer to parking
being provided in accordance with standards defined in a Neighbourhood Plan, but
only where these standards are supported by clear and robust evidence consistent
with the overall parking strategy.

m Options for defining Parking Standards:
Continue to define in a schedule within the Local Plan or to define them in a

separate SPD.

148
Page 185



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.6.13

8.6.14

8.6.15

8.6.16

Local Plan policy to refer to parking being provided in accordance with the
standard defined in a SPD or a standard defined in a made Neighbourhood Plan
based on robust evidence and it is consistent with the overall parking strategy.

Electric vehicles infrastructure

National policy context

The Government has pledged to be the first generation to leave the environment in a
better state than it inherited. The Road to Zero Strategy (2018) sets out the
Government’s ambition for at least half of new cars to be ultra-low emission by 2030.
As well as significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions, it is anticipated that the
wide-scale adoption of ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs) will improve health and
quality of life by making the air cleaner in towns and cities?*.

Planning policy and development management provide important delivery
mechanisms to support the increased demand for electric vehicle recharging
infrastructure. The revised NPPF (July 2018) states:

“If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential development,
policies should take into account ... the need to ensure an adequate provision of
spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles.” (para 105) and
that “....applications for development should ... be designed to enable charging of
plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient
locations.” (para 110)

Local policy context

Placemaking Plan Policy ST7 - which sets out the policy framework for considering the
requirements and implications of development for the highway, transport systems
and their users - already states that for new development proposals, facilities for
charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles will be sought where
practicable. However, the policy does not currently

include standards for the provision of electric charging infrastructure.

The recently adopted Parking Strategy for B&NES (February 2018) 2> seeks to address
concerns raised in the Bath Air Quality Action Plan (2016) and the Keynsham and
Saltford Air Quality Action Plan (2016). Both Action Plans proposed that
developments should be required to provide charging points based on the number of
standard car parking spaces provided. This is seen as key in helping reduce emissions
of nitrogen oxides and improving air quality within Bath City Centre and encouraging
the use of low emission means of transport within Keynsham and Saltford.

% The Clean Growth Strategy Leading the way to a low carbon future (October 2017)
» Balancing your needs - a parking strategy for B&NES (February 2018)

149
Page 186


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/parking_strategy_05.01.2018_technical_report.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.6.17 The standards in the Parking Strategy for ‘active®® and ‘passive®”” provision are
principally aimed at increasing the uptake of electric vehicles within B&NES in order
to minimise the impact of vehicle emissions on air quality.

Developments within Bath and North East Somerset Council should provide electric
vehicle charging points in accordance with the following standards:

e Residential developments with shared car parks — active provision for 20%
spaces and passive provision for 20% spaces

e Residential developments with individual parking — passive provision within each
property

e Commercial developments — active provision in 5% car parking spaces

8.6.18 These standards are at the same level as those set out by the 2016 London Plan and
are expressed as minimum provisions.

8.6.19 The West of England UAs are now working together to establish a consistent policy
approach to the provision of ULEV infrastructure in their respective Local Plans. Work
on this is still underway and the UAs are seeking to be as ambitious as possible in
requiring active and passive ULEV infrastructure in all new development proposals.

As a result of discussions and a review of best practice the UAs an emerging policy
approach is being developed with an initial policy approach outlined below.

m Emerging policy approach for electric vehicles infrastructure
Overarching principle

Require all development proposals to integrate the provision of infrastructure into
the design and layout of the development to enable the charging of electric or
other Ultra-Low Emission vehicles

Residential Development:

e Allindividual dwellings with one or more dedicated parking spaces or
garage to include infrastructure for charging electric vehicles.

e Where off street parking is not provided within a development proposal,
the design and layout of the development should incorporate infrastructure
to enable the on street charging of electric or other vehicles.

e Forresidential development with communal off street parking provision, at
least 20 % of spaces to have active charging facilities, and passive provision
for all remaining parking spaces with the layout of the car park ensuring

*® Active provision: parking spaces are fully wired and connected, ready to use from the outset
%7 passive provision: requires the necessary underlying infrastructure (e.g. capacity in the connection to the
local electricity distribution network and electricity distribution board, as well as ducting for cabling to parking
spaces) to enable simple installation and activation of a charge point at a future date.

150

Page 187



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

that all spaces can be easily activated with minimal disruption as demand
increases.

Active/passive charging

Preferred approach

e Require 100% active charging facilities for all residential development
(subject to further work).

Alternative approach

e At least 20 % of dwellings to have active charging facilities, and the
remaining 80% of dwellings to have passive provision.

Rapid/fast charging points

e High density and/or large scale residential/mixed use developments to
provide at least one rapid charging point®® clustered with a fast charging
point® per every ‘n’ car spaces (to be determined) and the provision of an
electric vehicle car club, and provide dedicated spaces for the car club with
active charging facilities.

Non-residential development:

e In all non-residential developments providing 1 or more car parking bays,
ducting to be installed to enable provision of charging facilities for electric
vehicles.

e Where 10 or more car parking bays are provided, at least 20% of those bays
to provide active charging facilities for electric vehicles, and passive
provision for all remaining bays.

e In non-residential development where provision is made for taxis stopping,
the taxi spaces are required to include active charging facilities.

8.6.20 It may be necessary to provide further technical guidance on the Council’s
recommended best practice for the provision of electric vehicle charging
infrastructure and the recommended minimum specification including who bears cost
of changing from passive to active charging infrastructure. The Council will also be
considering whether to stipulate that any EV parking spaces should be included
within the maximum parking provision and not in addition to it.

’® Rapid charging is only available from dedicated charging equipment. A 50kW output DC rapid charger can
typically provide an 80% charge in around 20-30 minutes. Regular rapid charging can affect the battery life, but
it provides a convenient option to extend the range of an EV on longer journeys.
% Fast charging is generally charging at a 7kW. At this power level it usually it takes 4 hours to fully charge an
EV with a 24kWh traction battery.

151

Page 188



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.7

8.7.1

8.7.2

8.7.3

8.7.4

8.7.5

8.7.6

WoE Green Infrastructure Plan and Local Plans

The West of England (WoE) Authorities recognise the critical role that a healthy,
functioning natural environment and multi-functional green infrastructure plays in
supporting sustainable growth and communities. The Joint Spatial Plan commits the
authorities to develop a WoE Green Infrastructure (Gl) Plan and to delivering a ‘net
gain’ for the environment.

The local authorities recognise that green infrastructure needs to be strategically
planned, managed and funded like other essential infrastructure and will set out
delivery mechanisms for achieving this.

The WoE Gl Plan is currently being developed and will provide evidence and guidance
to support the preparation of the Local Plans including specific Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) /Appropriate Assessment (AA) requirements and green
infrastructure standards.

The West of England (WoE) Green Infrastructure Plan will:

e Provide maps to show WoE Strategic Gl corridors and opportunities, incorporating
the WoE Ecological Network Map (that will link to Ecological Network under Policy
NES5, see page 163).

e Provide the evidence base to assess local Gl (that will link to Green infrastructure
Policies CP7/NE1, see page 156).

e Set out HRA/AA requirements for specific JSP SDLs in respect of the bats and
recreational impact (and will link to Policy NE3, see page 162).

e Set out HRA/AA criteria for assessing whether development will be subject to the
bat/recreational impact consideration.

e Set out Gl standards including access to green space/natural green space drawing
on Natural England’s ANGst (Accessible Natural Greenspace Standard). This work
will also assist the review of the B&NES Green Infrastructure Strategy and Green
Space Strategy.

The WoE Gl Plan will help ensure the important role the natural environment has in
placemaking is understood meaning green infrastructure is fully integrated in plan-
making and the current Gl policies are reviewed in line with the new NPPF and the
Government’s commitment to improve the natural environment (see Policy CP7 in
the Review of existing Development Management policies on page 156)

The Government has made a commitment to achieve measurable improvements for
the environment — ‘environmental net gains’ — while ensuring economic growth and

152
Page 189



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.8

8.8.1

8.8.2

8.9

8.9.1

reducing costs, complexity and delays for developers through its 25 Year Environment
Plan® (2018). Actions include:

e producing stronger new standards for green infrastructure;

e exploring potential of district protected species licensing to be expanded and
include more species,

e delivering better outcomes for wildlife and a more streamlined process for
development; and

e working with interested parties to reduce costs to developers by expanding the
net gain approaches used for wildlife to also include wider natural capital benefits
such as flood protection, recreation and improved water and air quality -
streamlining environmental process, whilst achieving net environmental gains.

Viability

The 2018 NPPF makes it clear that viability should principally be assessed and tested
through preparing the Local Plan, in order to establish that the various policy
requirements can be met whilst also viably delivering development. If the Local Plan
is supported by an up to date and robust assessment of viability, testing viability in
relation to a development proposal at the application stage is not necessary unless
the applicant can demonstrate that specific circumstances require it.

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) which accompanies the NPPF also sets
out guidance on a more standardised approach to assessing viability, including the
setting of development costs and values. There is concern within B&NES (as amplified
in the Placemaking Plan) that applicants are seeking to demonstrate that it is not
viable for them to meet policy requirements, e.g. relating to affordable housing,
primarily because the price at which they have bought the site does not adequately
take into account the requirements of the Plan. The Council will be seeking to ensure
through the Local Plan that this does not happen. This means that the vaibility
assessment used to inform preparation of the Local Plan will be based on realistic
costs and market values (or ‘existing use value plus’). In establishing both costs and
values to inform the Local Plan viability assessment the Council will engage with
landowners, developers, and infrastructure and affordable housing providers. In
addition and based on the NPPF plan-making approach to viability it is proposed that
policies will not generally refer to viability related exemptions to their requirements.

Review of existing Development Management policies

The tables below set out all existing Development Management policies from the
Core Strategy (2014) and the Placemaking Plan (2017), together with a commentary
on how or whether these are intended to be taken forward in the Draft Local Plan.

%0 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-
year-environment-plan.pdf

153
Page 190


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

8.9.2 Where there is no change in circumstances to warrant significant policy review, it is
proposed to take the policies listed forward with some with amendments where
necessary for the purposes of clarification (in the light of best practice, updated
guidance etc.) as outlined in the tables below. This includes the remaining saved
Local Plan policies (2007).

8.9.3 Those policies where a change in approach is proposed are highlighted in the
commentary box. The proposed approach for each of these policies, with options
where suggested, is discussed in the Development Management Policies chapter.

8.9.4 Through this consultation there is opportunity to comment on the proposed
approach for each policy (see note below). All policies will be presented in full in the
Draft Local Plan and may be renumbered.

]\ EvAS Please make surelyou specify which policy you are commenting on
when responding.

CORE STRATEGY (JULY 2014) PROPOSED APPROACH

Sustainability Principles

SD1 Presumption in favour of The presumption in favour of sustainable development
Sustainable Development remains central to national planning policy and an
important consideration in determining planning
applications. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

Responding to Climate Change

CP1 Retrofitting Existing Buildings | Policy CP1 sets out the approach to retrofitting for all
existing buildings, including historic buildings. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

CP2 Sustainable Construction It is proposed that Policy CP2 is reframed and tightened
by removing reference to elements of the policy which
are covered by other policies (e.g. renewable energy:
SCR1 and conserving water resources: SCR5) and
aligned with the forthcoming Sustainable Construction
SPD to ensure that the headline requirements are
explicit in the policy, including the thresholds. This will
also include reference to overheating and the cooling
hierarchy and strengthening the approach to recycling
construction, demolition and excavation waste.
Consideration is being also given to requiring the
applicant to demonstrate that embodied carbon
dioxide emissions will be minimised by undertaking an

154
Page 191




B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

CORE STRATEGY (JULY 2014) PROPOSED APPROACH

embodied carbon assessment in line with a nationally
recognised methodology for schemes over a certain
size (to be determined). This is in line with the
approach the London Plan Is considering.

CP3 Renewable Energy It is proposed that the existing electricity and heat
targets are rolled forward and dates extended to 2036
as these are still valid®". It is also proposed that the
policy should make reference to on-site battery storage
as a means of increasing on-site renewable energy
consumption, providing in-situ energy demand
management which can reduce pressure on the
national grid during peak time, and increase the
efficiency of energy supply. This is in line with the
approach the London Borough of Merton is pursuing in
particular, linking battery use to the installation of solar
PV.

CP4 District Heating Policy CP4 seeks to encourage the use of combined
heat and power (CHP), and/or combined cooling, heat
and power (CCHP) and district heating. Consideration
is being given to a more criteria-based approach for a
heat network e.g. use, type and density and a review of
the heat hierarchy that expects the use of renewable
heat sources and discourages fossil fuelled heating and
non-renewable electric heating.

CP5 Flood Risk Management The approach to flood risk management as set out in
Policy CP5 is consistent with national policy. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose. The supporting will be
updated to align with the revised NPPF.

Environmental Quality

CP6 Environmental Quality Consideration is being given to amending or
disaggregating Policy CP6, a high level policy, to ensure
it is suitably aligned with the related Placemaking Plan
policies (design, historic environment, landscape and
nature conservation) for the purposes of clarity.

CP7 Green infrastructure It is proposed to combine Policies CP7 and NE1 into one
policy and amend, as necessary, to reflect guidance in
the emerging West of England Green Infrastructure
Plan This work will also inform any revisions to
diagrams and to the Policies Map.

Reference will also be made to the River Avon Park and

31 Update to the Bath and North East Somerset renewable energy resource evidence base, Regen SW (May

2016) final version to be issued by the end of October 2018
155

Page 192



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

CORE STRATEGY (JULY 2014)

PROPOSED APPROACH

how best to ensure new development proposals relate
to and complement this asset.

CP8 Green Belt

Policy CP8 ensures that openness of the Green Belt will
be protected from inappropriate development in
accordance with national planning policy. Itis
proposed to amend the policy wording to also refer to
the protecting the permanence of the Green Belt and
the purposes of including land within it. This will help
ensure greater clarity and consistency with national

policy.

CP8a Minerals

Policy CP8A sets out the strategic approach to minerals
in the District and seeks to ensure that mineral
resources within the District continue to be
safeguarded. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

Affordable Housing, Mix of Housing

, Gypsies and Travellers

CP9 Affordable Housing

Policy CP9 will be amended to ensure alignment with
Policy 3 (Affordable Housing) in the West of England
Joint Spatial Plan. Within this context other
amendments will be made to reflect the changes to the
affordable housing elements of the revised NPPF.
Consideration will be given to whether the policy
should include the Council’s approach to Vacant
Building Credit and making the section on sub-division
and phasing clearer.

CP10 Housing mix

Policy CP10 is aimed at ensuring that new residential
development provides for a range of housing types and
needs. Policy CP10 will be reviewed in the light of the
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Part 2.
Guided by the SHMA and local needs assessments,
consideration will be given to whether the policy could
be more specific with regard types of housing mix
needed for different geographical areas.

CP11 Gypsies, travellers
& travelling showpeople

Policy CP11 represents a comprehensive framework for
considering the merits of traveller site proposals. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

A Prosperous Economy

CP12 Centres and Retailing

Consideration is being given to amending/
strengthening wording of Policy CP12 to address the
potential for mixed-use / higher density development;
securing a high quality environment; sustainable
access; embedding the Healthy Streets approach; local

156
Page 193



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

CORE STRATEGY (JULY 2014) PROPOSED APPROACH

identity and sense of place; barrier-free and inclusive
environments; maximising footfall; safety and security.
It is proposed to review the list local centres to ensure
list is up to date.

Infrastructure

CP13 Infrastructure provision Policy CP13 also requires that new development is
supported by the timely delivery of physical
infrastructure necessary to support that development.
No amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

Rural Areas

RA3 Community Facilities Policy RA3 supports the development of community
facilities within and adjoining all villages consistent with
national policy. However, consideration will be given
to absorbing this policy into Policy LCR2 as both policies
cover proposals for the development of community
facilities.

RA4 Rural Exception Sites Revised approach is discussed on page 130

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)  PROPOSED APPROACH

Responding to Climate Change

SCR1 On-site Renewable Energy Revised approach is discussed on page 125
Requirement

SCR2 Roof-Mounted/Building- Policy SCR2 sets out guidance for roof-mounted solar
Integrated Scale Solar PV photovoltaic (PV) panels in cases where planning
permission is required. No amendments currently
proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

SCR3 Ground Mounted Solar Policy SCR3 provides guidance for planning applications
Arrays for ground-mounted solar arrays (solar farms/solar
fields) can make a significant contribution to our
renewable energy target (Policy CP3). Itis proposed
to amend clause (a) to make it clear that proposals
should avoid the best and most versatile agricultural
land and to consider whether it is necessary to make
reference to pre-application engagement in the policy.

SCR4 Community Renewable Policy SCR4 aims to support the delivery of community
Energy Schemes renewable energy schemes and the broader
community involvement that they bring in line with the
approach set out in the Department of Energy &
Climate Change’s Community Energy Strategy. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains

157
Page 194



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)  PROPOSED APPROACH

relevant and fit for purpose.

SCR5 Water Efficiency Policy SCR5 sets out the requirements in respect of
water efficiency in dwellings. It is proposed, for the
purposes of clarity, that policy is amended to confirm
that all new dwellings will be required to meet the
optional standard of 110 litres. The supporting text will
also be amended to make it clear that this requirement
will be implemented via a planning condition and the
imposition of such a condition is the means by which
the Building Regulations are applied.

SU1 Sustainable Drainage Consideration is being given to amending Policy SU1 to
provide greater clarity on the type of SUDS
infrastructure required. To ensure consistency with the
revised NPPF (para 165) the policy also needs to make
it clear that major development should incorporate
SUDs unless there is clear evidence it would be
inappropriate.

Environmental Quality

High Quality Design

D1 General Urban Design Policy D1 sets out the general urban design principles
Principles that will be applied at a high level. These are
particularly relevant for large development sites or
Masterplans, but apply equally to all development
scales. Consideration is being given to amending the
policy to recommend that Masterplans and Design
Codes are developed for major schemes to ensure
delivery of high quality design and place making.
Reference can also be made to the following in the
supporting text:

- Design scrutiny — covering Design and Access
Statements and Design Review.

- Maintaining Design Quality —to ensure the design
quality of development is retained through
permission to completion.

Consideration will also be given to making it clear
(either in the policy or supporting text) that applicants
will be expected to demonstrate that they have
undertaken early, proactive and effective engagement
with the community that will be affected by their
proposals and show that their views have been taken
into account in evolving designs.

D2 Local Character and Consideration is being given to amending Policy D2 to
Distinctiveness give greater detail on maximising densities; potential
158

Page 195



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

PROPOSED APPROACH

restrictions such as excessive building heights (in
particular, referencing the Building Heights Strategy
which is likely to be absorbed into an emerging Design
SPD) and to cross refer to the green infrastructure
policies and local food growing/allotment policies.

D3 Urban Fabric

Consideration is being given to amending Policy D3 to
refer to the importance (in design terms) of providing a
range/mix of housing typologies and tenures on
development sites; minimum space standards for
residential development; dual aspect versus single
aspect dwellings; cross-referring to Policy CP4 and the
‘thermal masterplanning approach’.

D4 Streets and Spaces

Consideration is being given to amending Policy D4 by
renaming the policy ‘Healthy Streets and Spaces’ and
reflects the Healthy Streets approach; requiring form
and layout should facilitate efficient servicing and
maintenance of buildings and public realm;
emphasising the importance of delivering the highest
standards of accessible and inclusive design.

D5 Building Design

Consideration is being given to whether Policy D5
needs amending to refer to fire safety considerations
within buildings or whether this is sufficiently covered
by Building Regulations (e.g. post Grenfell). See also D4
above.

D6 Amenity

Consideration is being given to amending Policy D6 (or
alternatively Policy PCS2) to introduce an ‘Agent of
Change’ requirement whereby existing businesses and
facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions
placed on them as a result of development permitted
after they were established as per the revised NPPF,
para 182.

The Council’s Waste Services have encountered
operational issues associated with providing refuse and
recycling collection for new developments in the
district. It is therefore proposed that the policy text is
amended to make more explicit reference to
developments being required to address these issues.
Consideration will also be given to updating the policy
to refer to access arrangements for waste collection,
appropriate highways design, developer responsibility
for provision of waste facilities on new development
and operational arrangements for waste collections
during the construction phase for larger developments.
The policy could be accompanied by updated Waste
Planning Guidance currently being produced.

159
Page 196



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

D7 Infill and Backland
Development

PROPOSED APPROACH

Policy D7 relates specifically to infill and backland
development. It applies to all parts of the district both
urban and rural, and emphasises the importance of an
approach based on a sound understanding of character
and context. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

D8 Lighting

A minor amendment will be proposed to Policy D8 to
reflect guidance in the ‘WaterSpace Design Guidance -
Protecting bats in waterside development (June 2018)’

D9 Advertisements & Outdoor
Street Furniture

It is proposed that Policy D9 will amended to apply to
all advertisements requiring consent rather than just
commercial premises to align with national planning

practice guidance on advertisements.

D10 Public Realm

Consideration is being given to amending Policy D10 to
give more detail on public realm considerations /
requirements and whether this policy should refer to
designing out risks to public realm, such as deterring
terrorism.

Historic Environment

HE1 Historic Environment

Policy HE1 sets out the circumstances in which
development proposals affecting the historic
environment will be considered. It reflects national
policy and guidance and supports the Core Strategy’s
strategic policies for the historic environment and its
positive approach to the conservation of the District’s
heritage assets. Consideration will be given to
including reference to settings of historic assets in the
policy especially in respect of the World Heritage Site.

HE2 Somersetshire Coal Canal and
the Wansdyke

Policy HE2 seeks to protect the physical remains of the
Somersetshire Coal Canal and the Wansdyke and their
settings from the adverse effects of development
proposals within the context of Policy H1. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

Landscape

NE2 Conserving and Enhancing the
Landscape and Landscape
Character

It is proposed to amend Policy NE2 so that it also
relates to Areas of Outstanding Beauty and
consideration will be given to whether it is necessary to
include the reference to the Landscape and Visual
Impact Assessment as a requirement in the policy as
this is already covered in the supporting text and is a
matter for the Local Validation Checklist.

Consideration is also being given to the requirement for

160
Page 197


http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Environment/ba306_bath_bats_and_lighting_guide_10_june_2018.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Environment/ba306_bath_bats_and_lighting_guide_10_june_2018.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)  PROPOSED APPROACH

landscape sensitivity assessments for certain
development proposals pending publication of Natural
England’s Landscape Sensitivity Assessment guidance
and for photomontages to be required in accordance
with the forthcoming Landscape Institute guidance.

Table 6 (Key Factors which Contribute to the District’s
Distinct Character) will be amended to make reference
to other assets including the AONBs and the WHS
attributes.

Supporting text to be updated to include reference to
‘Bathscape Landscape Character Assessment’.

Given the increasing concerns over the cumulative
impact of development on the landscape setting of
Bath and the World Heritage Site and its setting
consideration will be given to making reference to
addressing this through the relevant policies in the
Local Plan, such as NE2, NE2A and B4.

NE2A Landscapes setting of Policy NE2A seeks to protect, conserve and enhance
settlements the landscape setting of settlements as defined on the
Policies Map. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

NE2B Extension of residential Policy NE2B provides specific control over the
curtilages In the countryside enlargement of residential gardens in the countryside.
No amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

Nature Conservation

NE3 Sites, Species and Habitats It is proposed to either move Policy NE5 to follow Policy
NE3 or to incorporate the NE5 text within Policy NE3.
Other minor amendments to Policy NE3 may be
necessary for the purposes of clarity, in particular, to
make it clear in clause 4. (d) ( ii) that ‘provision is made
for the management of and reporting of retained and
created habitat features.

Within the context of the emerging Wests of England
Green Infrastructure Plan it will necessary for the Local
Plan to respond to recommendations and guidance on
how to address the impacts from increased
recreational pressures and habitat fragmentation
resulting from new housing provision on ecological
sites, in particular on European sites. Strategic
mitigation solutions are being developed and will need
to be addressed through the Local Plan.

In view of the changes to the NPPF regarding
strengthening the protection of irreplaceable habitats it

161
Page 198



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)  PROPOSED APPROACH

will be necessary to review the precise wording of NE3
and consider amending clause 1 to add “and
irreplaceable habitats” after “their habitats”. It may
also be necessary to review the development capacity
of existing site allocations where irreplaceable habitat
is known to occur.

NE4 Ecosystem Services Consideration is being given to reframing Policy NE4 so
that it clearer what is meant by Ecosystem Services and
what would be required in order to deliver Ecosystem
Services in an effective way.

NE5 Ecological Networks See NE3 above.
NEG6 Trees and woodland Policy NE6 seeks to protect trees and woodland from
conservation the adverse impact of development by setting out

criteria against which proposals will be assessed. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

Green Infrastructure

NE1 Development and Green See CP7 and NE3 above.
Infrastructure

Green Belt

GB1 Visual Amenities of the Green | It is proposed to delete Policy GB1 on the basis that
Belt visual amenities of the Green Belt are protected by
other policies (NE2, D1, D2, HE1, etc.).

GB2 Development in Green Belt Revised approach is discussed on page 138
Villages

GB3 Extensions and Alterations to | Policy GB3 will only allow the extension or alteration of
Buildings in the Green Belt a building in the Green Belt provided that it does not
result in disproportionate additions over and above the
size of the original building. The justification for this
approach is the significant number of householder
applications in the Green Belt in B&NES. Where
planning permission is required to extend buildings a
balance should be taken between the accommodation
needs of householders and business against the desire
to avoid the gradual erosion of the countryside and
identity and character of settlements, contrary to the
purposes of the Green Belt.

Consideration will be given to reframing the policy to
provide greater clarification regarding matters such as
percentage above which extensions are deemed
disproportionate additions, and how to deal with
detached outbuildings.

162
Page 199



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

PROPOSED APPROACH

Pollution, contamination and safety

PCS1 Pollution and nuisance

This suite of policies is consistent with the NPPF in

PCS2 Noise and vibration

seeking to prevent new and existing development from

PCS3 Air quality

contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from,
or adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air,

PCS4 Hazardous substances

water or noise pollution. No amendments currently

PCS5 Contamination

proposed (other than in respect of Policy PCS2, see D6
above and a minor amendment to Policy PCS1 to insert

PCS6 Unstable land

‘and/or’ between clauses 1 and 2 for clarification

PCS7 Water Source Protection
Zones

purposes) - these policies remain relevant and fit for
purpose.

PCS7A Foul sewage infrastructure

The supporting text to Policy PCS6 will be updated to
make greater reference to the issue of landslip and

PCS8 Bath Hot Springs

development.

Building Strong and Vibrant Communities

Meeting Housing Needs

H1 Housing and Facilities for the
Elderly, People with Other
Supported Housing or Care Needs

Revised approach is discussed on page 135

H2 Houses in Multiple Occupation

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) given the large
student population. Policy H2 sets out criteria for
determining applications for the change of use from
residential to a HMO and will be aligned with adopted
SPD. Consideration is being given whether policy
should apply to new HMOs or extensions to existing
HMOs.

H3 Residential Uses in Existing
Buildings

Policy H3 sets out the circumstances in which the sub-
division of existing residential properties will be
acceptable. Itis proposed to update clause 1) to refer
to the proposal not having unacceptable impact on
highways safety or a severe impact upon residual
cumulative impact on the road network instead of
referring to a severe transport impact to bring the
policy into line with the NPPF.

H4 Self-build

Revised approach is discussed on page 134

H5 Retention of Existing Housing
Stock

Given the high demand for housing in B&NES, Policy H5
seeks to protect existing housing stock from change of
use, where possible. However, it is proposed to
provide clarification in the policy as to what is meant by
‘residential accommodation’ in the context of this
policy i.e. the loss residential dwellings.

H6 Moorings

Policy H6 guides proposals for new and additional

163
Page 200



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

H7 Housing Accessibility

H8 Affordable Housing
Regeneration Schemes

PROPOSED APPROACH

moorings to the most sustainable locations where
there is easy access to necessary services and facilities.
No amendments currently proposed - policy remains

relevant and fit for purpose.

Revised approach is discussed on page 137

Revised approach is discussed on page 132

Meeting Local Community & Recreational Needs

LCR1 Safeguarding Local
Community Facilities

Policy LCR1 seeks to safeguard against the loss of
valued community facilities. No amendments currently
proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

LCR1A Public houses

Policy LCR1A sets out the circumstances in which the
loss of a public house to another use might be
considered acceptable. Within the context of national
policy consideration will be given to whether the policy
should apply to all pubs rather than just pubs which are
‘valued community facilities” and whether the policy
should also be extended to cover developments which
directly threaten the viability of a public house.

LCR2 New or Replacement
Community Facilities

Consideration is being given to amending Policies LCR2
and LCR6 to make clear that new facilities should be
easily accessible by public transport, cycling and
walking. Policy LCR2 will also be reviewed in the
context of the revised NPPF, para 84 in considering
sites beyond existing settlements, and in locations that
are not well served by public transport.

LCR3 Land Safeguarded for
Primary School Use

It is proposed that Policy LCR3 is updated to ensure the
list of sites safeguarded for primary school purposes is
correct at the time the Draft Local Plan is published.

LCR3A Primary School Capacity

It is proposed that the approach to determining
proposals for residential development as set out in
Policy LCR3A will be reviewed once the spatial strategy
for non-strategic development is established.

LCRA4 Allocation of land for
cemeteries

Policy LCR4 safeguards land for the extension of
cemeteries at Haycombe Cemetery and the cemetery
at Eckweek Lane to ensure future needs are met. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

LCR5 Safeguarding Existing Sport &
Recreational Facilities

Policy LCR5 safeguards against the loss of recreational
space, land and buildings used for sport and recreation
as shown on the Policies Map. No amendments
currently proposed to the policy wording which

164
Page 201



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

PROPOSED APPROACH

remains relevant and fit for purpose. However,
consideration will be given to restricting what is shown
on the Policies Map to just those areas subject to the
standards set out in the Green Space Strategy used for
assessing needs and deficiencies.

LCR6 New and Replacement Sports
and Recreational Facilities

It is proposed to amend Policy LCR6 to ensure
reference to natural open space is added to link with
the standards in the Green Space Strategy. Add title
before final paragraph to ensure developers are clear
when contributions are required. See also LCR2 above.

LCR6A Local Green Spaces

Consistent with the NPPF, Policy LCR6A provides special
protection to qualifying Local Green Spaces as shown
on the Policies Map. No amendments currently
proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.
However, there is an opportunity for communities to
submit further green spaces that are demonstrably
special to the local community to be designated as LGS.

LCR7 Recreational development
proposals affecting waterways

Policy LCR7 sets out the circumstances in which
recreational development affecting waterways would
be acceptable. Recreational development proposals
should be carefully controlled to avoid the gradual
erosion of the inherent character of the River, Canal
and Lakes and their immediate environment and are
either within the Green Belt and/or the AONBs. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

LCR7A Telecommunications
development

Consideration is being given to amending Policy LCR7A
to cover 5G infrastructure. It is also proposed that the
policy and/or supporting text is updated to reflect the
revised NPPF, para 115.

LCR7B Broadband

The purpose of Policy LCR7B is to ensure that the
suitable broadband infrastructure is incorporated at
the design stage of a proposal so that it is fully
integrated alongside other service provision. This will
not only ensure that the development is able to accept
and adopt future technological improvements but also
obviate the need to upgrade at a later date.
Compliance with Part R of the Building Regulations, on
the other hand, will ensure that a new building (or
major renovation works to a building) is equipped with
a high-speed- ready in-building physical infrastructure
(from the service provider’s access point to the
occupier’s network termination point) up to a network
termination point for high-speed electronic
communications networks.

165
Page 202


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/517789/BR__PDF_AD__R__2016.pdf

B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)  PROPOSED APPROACH

It is proposed to amend the policy to provide greater
clarity of what is required of developers.

Consideration is also being given to whether a guidance
note is needed.

LCR7C Commercial riding Policy LCR7C sets out the requirements for considering
establishments proposals for commercial riding establishment whilst
seeking to prevent to ensure that equestrian activities
do not have an adverse impact on the appearance of
the countryside. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

LCR8 Protecting allotments Policy LCR3 seeks to protect against the loss of
allotment land. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

LCR9 Increasing the Provision of Policy LCR9 will be amended to remove references to
Local Food Growing the B&NES Allotment Design Guide and consideration
will be given to providing high level design
requirements/ guidance within the policy to reflect
best practice. Consideration will also be given to
making simplifying clause 3 less prescriptive by
replacing ‘will be expected to incorporate...” with
‘should provide opportunities for informal food
growing, wherever possible’.

A Prosperous Economy

Economic Development

ED1A Office Development Policy ED1A will allow office development proposals
within city and town centre boundaries, or on sites
allocated for this use in principle. No amendments
currently proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for
purpose.

ED1B Change of Use & Revised approach is discussed on page 143
Redevelopment of B1(a) Office to
Residential Use

ED1C Change of Use and Policy ED1C allows the change of use of office space to
Redevelopment of B1(a) Office Use | A1, A2 and A3 uses subject to the terms of Policy ED1B
to Other Town Centre Use but resists the change of use or redevelopment of

office space to other town centre. Policy ED1C will be
amended to reflect any changes to Policy ED1B (see
page 143).

ED2A Strategic and Other Primary LGV E oo e o NG V= ReTy o E (i 2 K
Industrial Estates

ED2B Non-strategic Industrial Revised approach is discussed on page 141
Premises

166
Page 203



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

PROPOSED APPROACH

Sustaining a buoyant rural economy

RE1 Employment Uses in the
Countryside

It is proposed that Policy RE1 is amended to ensure
make it clear that it also covers the conversion of
existing buildings in the countryside and to ensure
consistency with the revised NPPF, para 84. This may
include a review of Policy RE6 to avoid any ambiguity.

RE2 Agricultural development

Policy RE2 sets out the local circumstances within
which proposals for agricultural development would be
acceptable. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

RE3 Farm diversification

Policy RE3 sets out the circumstances within which
proposals for farm diversification would be acceptable.
It seeks to prohibit activities that lead to the
fragmentation or severance of a farm holding or
compromise agricultural function. No amendments
currently proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for
purpose.

RE4 Essential dwellings for rural
workers

Policy RE4 provides the parameters within which
Essential Dwellings for Rural Workers will be allowed in
line with the NPPF. The policy will be amended to
reflect the revised NPPF, in particular, to make
reference to those taking majority control of a farm
business. Consideration will also be given to whether it
is necessary to provide clarity on how successors taking
over from retiring famers will be dealt with.

RE5 Agricultural land

Policy RE5 exists to protect the best and most versatile
agricultural land as well as supporting development
that enhances local food production and processing.
No amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

RE6 Re-use of Rural Buildings

See RE1 above. Policy RE6 applies to proposals for the
reuse of rural buildings that require planning
permission. It is proposed that clarify definition of a
rural building (location or use).

RE7 Visitor Accommodation

Consideration is being given to clarify whether the
change of use from a dwelling to visitor
accommodation relates to the sub-division of a
dwelling to create visitor accommodation.

Centres and Retailing

CR1 Sequential Test

Policy CR1 reflects the requirements for Local Plan to
apply the Sequential Test for retail developments
outside centres. It is proposed to amend the policy to

167
Page 204



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

PROPOSED APPROACH

reflect changes in the revised NPPF to make it clear
that ‘availability’ in terms of the sequential test is now
based on a ‘reasonable period’ of time.

CR2 Impact Assessments

Policy CR2 is compliant with the NPPF by requiring an
impact assessment for development over a
proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold when
assessing applications for retail, leisure and office
development outside of town centres. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

CR3 Primary Shopping Areas and
Primary Shopping Frontages

Policy CR3 introduces a flexible approach in relation to
Primary Shopping Frontages by allowing the Local
Planning Authority to maintain a primary shopping
function in the defined frontages whilst allowing other
Class A uses which can also add to the attractiveness of,
and vitality within, a town centre. Policy CR3 applies to
all centres within the hierarchy identified in Policy
CP12.

Consideration will be given to whether there is

sufficient justification to continue defining primary
frontages.

CR4 Dispersed Local Shops

Policy CR4 supports proposals for appropriately located
small-scale local needs shops and prevents the change
of use of an existing local shop unless it can be justified.
It is proposed that this policy is amended so that it only
relate to small-scale local shops (A1l Use Class).

Promoting Sustainable Transport

ST1 Promoting Sustainable Travel

Consideration is being given to updating Policy ST1 to
reflect the Healthy Streets Approach. This puts people,
and their health, at the heart of decision making and
results in healthier, more inclusive places where people
choose to walk, cycle and where possible use public
transport.

ST2 Sustainable Transport Routes

Policy ST2 seeks to prevent development which
prejudices the use of routes for sustainable transport
purposes as shown on the Policies Map. It will also be
clarified that the term ‘prejudices’ in this context will
also include enabling/facilitating the delivery of routes.

Consideration is also being given to removing specific
reference to former railway land as this is only one type
of route. This could be replaced by referring to routes
suitable for sustainable transport purposes to align
with the definition of Sustainable Transport in the
Glossary which refers to ‘Any efficient, safe and

168
Page 205



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)  PROPOSED APPROACH

accessible means of transport with overall low impact
on the environment, including walking and cycling, low
and ultra-low emission vehicles, car sharing and public
transport’. Other key routes such as Kennet & Canal
towpath and Bath River Line are also likely to be
safeguarded under this policy.

ST2A Recreational Routes Policy ST2A seeks to ensure that any publicly accessible
routes are not adversely affected by development
proposals. No amendments currently proposed - policy
remains relevant and fit for purpose.

ST3 Transport infrastructure Policy ST3 seeks to ensure that transport infrastructure
is designed to the highest standards possible. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

ST4 Rail freight facility Policy ST4 safeguards land at Westmoreland Station
Road, Bath as a rail freight facility and interchange
consistent with the NPPF. No amendments currently
proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

ST5 Traffic Management Proposals | Policy ST5 provides specific guidance for traffic
management proposals and sets the high level
principles within which more tailored traffic
management schemes may be devised. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

ST6 Park and Ride Policy ST6 will be used to assess any future Park and
Ride schemes, both extensions to existing sites and
new schemes. No amendments currently proposed -
policy remains relevant and fit for purpose.

ST7 Transport Requirements for Revised approach is discussed on page 147
Managing Development

ST8 Airport and Aerodrome Policy ST8 will not allow development that would
Safeguarding Areas prejudice air safety or the optimum use of the facility
within the airport/ aerodrome safeguarding areas as
defined by the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA). No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

Minerals

M1 Mineral Safeguarding Areas Policy M1 clarifies how applications for non-mineral
development within Mineral Safeguarding Areas will be
considered as required by the NPPF. No amendments
currently proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for
purpose.

169
Page 206



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

PLACEMAKING PLAN (JULY 2017)

M2 Minerals Allocations

PROPOSED APPROACH

Policy M2 allocated sites for mineral extraction and sets
out the approach for mineral proposals outside these
areas and their respective areas of search. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

M3 Aggregate Recycling Facilities

Policy M3 clarifies the policy approach to considering
proposals for aggregate recycling facilities. No
amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

M4 Winning and working of
minerals

Policy M4 sets out the framework for considering
proposals for the winning and working of minerals and
ancillary minerals development. No amendments
currently proposed - policy remains relevant and fit for
purpose.

M5 Conventional and
unconventional Hydrocarbons

Policy M5 employs the precautionary principle in
setting out a stringent framework within which
Development involving the exploration and/or
appraisal of oil and gas resources will be considered.
No amendments currently proposed - policy remains
relevant and fit for purpose.

Saved Local Plan Policies (2007)

GDS.1 Site requirements

Policy GDS.1 is the parent policy for the site allocations
listed. It is proposed that this policy is retained to
support the delivery of the sites listed below.

Site K2. South West Keynsham

Site NR2. Radstock Railway Land,
Norton-Radstock

Site V3. Paulton Printing Factory

An element(s) of these schemes are still to be
completed. These site allocations will be retained until
such time they are competed to ensure the remaining
development of the site takes place in accordance with
the site requirements.

Site V8. Former Radford Retail
System’s Site, Chew Stoke

This scheme is now complete and therefore it is
proposed to delete the allocation in the Draft Local
Plan.

170
Page 207



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Glossary

Advertisement

For planning purposes, ‘advertisement’ as:

‘any word, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, awning, blind, device or representation, whether
illuminated or not, in the nature of, and employed wholly or partly for the purposes of, advertisement,
announcement or direction, and (without prejudice to the previous provisions of this definition)
includes any hoarding or similar structure used or designed, or adapted for use and anything else
principally used, or designed or adapted principally for use, for the display of advertisements.’ (Section
336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

Active Frontage

Making frontages ‘active’ adds interest, life and vitality to the public realm. This means:

e Frequent doors and windows, with few blank walls;

e Narrow frontage buildings, giving vertical rhythm to the street scene;

e Articulation of facades, with projections such as bays and porches incorporated, providing a
welcoming feel; and on occasion,

e Lively internal uses visible from the outside, or spilling onto the street.

Active Ground Floor Use (within designated centres)

Active ground floor uses within designated centres (defined in Policy CP12) are generally considered
those falling within Use Classes Al to A5 but can also include other town centre uses which are visited
by large numbers of people. Residential uses and offices (Use Class B1) would not normally be
considered as active uses for ground floors in this context (but could contribute to the active frontage
by having a front door to a residential or office use on upper floors).

Aggregates
Sand, gravel, crushed rock and other bulk materials which are suitable for use in the construction
industry as concrete, mortar, finishes or roadstone or for use as a constructional fill or railway ballast

Allowable Solutions

This is a mechanism for developers to pay into a carbon reduction fund via the S106 process to install
offsite carbon saving measures if it is not viable to deliver the full carbon savings onsite. These funds
can be used to retrofit existing housing stock, tackling fuel poverty, or for renewable energy projects.

Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR)

The requirement for a local authority to produce an Authority Monitoring Report is set out in Section
113 of the Localism Act 2011. The Act requires every authority to produce a series of reports containing
information on the implementation of the Local Development Scheme, the progress and effectiveness
of the Local Plan, and the extent to which the planning policies set out in the Local Plan documents are
being achieved.

171
Page 208



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Brownfield land or site
See previously developed land.

Commercial Leisure

The term ‘commercial leisure’ generally applies to multiplex cinemas, bingo halls, nightclubs, tenpin
bowling, indoor sports facilities including health and fitness centres, pubs, restaurants and casinos. It
includes commercial providers of sporting and leisure opportunities but generally excludes public and
voluntary sectors and professional sports clubs. These types of commercial developments tend to
attract large numbers of people, which can give rise to traffic, parking, environmental and amenity
problems.

Community facilities
For the purposes of the Local Plan community facilities comprise a wide range of social, cultural
facilities and services necessary to sustain community needs and support healthy lifestyles.

Community Strategy

Prepared by a Local Strategic Partnership to co-ordinate the actions of local organisations within the
public, private, voluntary and community sectors with the aim of improving the social, environmental
and economic well-being of its area.

Conservation Area
An area of special architectural and/or historical interest, the character or appearance of which it is
desirable to preserve or enhance.

Coal bed Methane

Methane that is extracted from unworked coal seams. The extraction of coal bed methane is usually
from one of two sources most commonly directional drilling along a coal seam or drilling vertically into
a coal seam (making use of pre-existing fracture patterns). The water in the coal seam is pumped out
to the surface with the methane following. Coal bed methane doesn’t usually involve fracking as the
coal seams are less dense than the shale rock. However, fracking would be required if the gas could not
be extracted solely by pumping. To date in the UK there has been no commercial exploitation of coal
bed methane.

Core Strategy
The long-term spatial vision and strategy for the area, including the key strategic policies and proposals
to deliver that vision.

Developer Contributions

Contributions from development proposals towards the provision of infrastructure or services
necessary to serve the development. This is now commonly a standard planning requirement which is
typically secured by legal agreements. Contributions may be either financial or by direct provision of
works or land by the developer towards facilities such as schools, affordable housing and transport
improvement etc. Often referred to as Planning Obligations or Section 106 Agreements.

172
Page 209



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Embodied energy

Embodied energy is the amount of resources consumed to produce a material. Production includes the
growing or mining and processing of the natural resources and the manufacturing, transport and
delivery of the material.

Edge of Centre
For retail purposes, edge of centre relates to a location that is well connected and up to 300m of the

Primary Shopping Area (where defined). This means that locations within a centre but outside the
Primary Shopping Area are considered to be edge of centre. For all other main town centre uses it
relates to a location within 300m of a town centre boundary. For office development, this includes
locations outside the town centre but within 500m of a public transport interchange, which includes
railway and bus stations.

‘Fracking’
See hydraulic fracturing.

Green Belt

Areas of land where development is particularly tightly controlled. The purposes of Green Belt are to
check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; to prevent neighbouring towns from merging into
one another; to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; to preserve the setting and
special character of historic towns; and to assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of
derelict and other urban land.

Green Infrastructure

The network of protected sites, nature reserves, greenspaces and greenway linkages. The linkages
include river corridors, waterways and flood plains, migration routes and features of the landscape
which are important as wildlife corridors. Green infrastructure should provide for multi-functional uses
i.e. wildlife, recreational and cultural experience, as well as delivering ecological services such as flood
protection and microclimate control. It should also operate at all scales from urban centres through to
open countryside.

Gross Internal Area (GIA)
Broadly speaking the whole enclosed area of a building within the external walls taking each floor into
account and excluding the thickness of the external walls.

Gross Retail Floorspace

The total built floor area measured externally which is occupied exclusively by a retailer or retailers,
excluding open areas used for the storage, display or sale of goods.

Habitat Mosaic
An area or site comprised of multiple habitat types

Heritage Asset
A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance
meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes

173
Page 210



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing).
[Source: NPPF]

Housing Development Boundary (HDB)

The boundary which defines that part of certain settlements within which the principle of residential
development will usually be acceptable subject to compliance with policies in the Development Plan
and other material considerations.

Hydraulic fracturing or ‘fracking’

This process involves opening and/or extending existing narrow fractures or creating new ones
(typically hairline in width) by pumping a mixture of water, sand and additives at a very high pressure
down a borehole to induce fractures in the shale rock bed allowing gas (or oil) to be captured.

Infilling

The filling of small gaps within existing development e.g. the building of one or two houses on a small
vacant plot in an otherwise extensively built up frontage. The plot will generally be surrounded on at
least three sides by developed sites or roads.

Local Needs Shops

Local Needs shops provide goods which need to be purchased on a regular and routine basis for which
shoppers would not expect to travel further than their nearest centre. Examples of types of goods and
services that would be expected to be available in a local needs shop can include beverages, bread,
dairy produce, fish, fruit and vegetables, meat, newspapers, pharmaceuticals, post office services and
toiletries. These shops may be operated by multiple or independent traders, and would include market
stalls. Local needs shops will vary in size, depending on the characteristics of the local area including
the nature of competing facilities. Local needs shops will often be larger in built-up areas in order to
meet the day-to-day shopping needs of the local community. Local needs shops are essentially defined
by their function as opposed to any rigid size threshold.

Main Town Centre Uses

Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure, entertainment
facilities the more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through
restaurants, bars and pubs, night-clubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres,
and bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums,
galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities).

Material consideration

A factor which will be taken into account in reaching a decision on a planning application. It must have
relevance to the purpose of planning legislation which is to regulate the development and use of land
in the public interest.

Morphology
The structure of urban form or its spatial configuration (Kropf, 2015)

174
Page 211



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
A framework which sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are
expected to be implemented.

National Planning Policy Guidance (PPG)

Web based government guidance for England intended to assist practitioners. Ultimately the
interpretation of legislation is for the Courts but this guidance is an indication of the Secretary of
State’s views.

Net Internal Area (NIA)
Broadly speaking the usable area within a building measured to the face of the internal finish of
perimeter or party walls ignoring skirting boards and taking each floor into account.

Out of centre
A location which is not in or on the edge of a centre but not necessarily outside the urban area.

Peri-urban
Adjoining an urban area; between the suburbs and the countryside.

Policies Map

Previously referred to as the Proposals Map and illustrates geographically the policies and proposals in
the Development Plan Documents (DPD) on an Ordnance Survey map. Inset Maps show policies and
proposals for specific parts of the district. It will need to be revised each time a new DPD is adopted.

Previously developed land

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land
(although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any
associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or has been occupied by agricultural
or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill
purposes where provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures;
land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments;
and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed
surface structure have blended into the landscape in the process of time. [Source: NPPF]

Primary shopping area
Defined area where retail development is concentrated (generally comprising the primary and those
secondary frontages which are adjoining and closely related to the primary shopping frontage).

Primary and secondary frontages
Primary frontages are likely to include a high proportion of retail uses which may include food, drinks,
clothing and household goods.

Proposals Map
See Policies Map

175
Page 212



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Riparian
Relating to or situated on the banks of a river.

Safeguarded Land
A greenfield site not allocated for development but excluded from the Green Belt to provide for
development needs well beyond the Plan period.

Self-build and custom-build housing: Housing built by an individual, a group of individuals, or persons
working with or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such housing can be either market or
affordable housing. A legal definition, for the purpose of applying the Self-build and Custom
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended), is contained in section 1(A1) and (A2) of that Act. [Source:
NPPF]

Setting of a heritage asset

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the
asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution
to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.
[Source: NPPF]

Settlement
Collective term for towns, villages and hamlets.

Shale Gas

Methane found in rocks deep below the earth’s surface which had previously been considered too
impermeable (‘tight’) to allow for economic recovery. The method of extraction involves hydraulic
fracturing or ‘fracking’.

Site Allocations
Allocation of sites for specific or mixed uses or development to be contained in Development Plan
Documents. Policies will identify any specific requirements for individual proposals.

S/P ratio

Ratio of the luminous output of a light source evaluated according to the CIE scotopic spectral
luminous efficiency function, V’(A), to the luminous output evaluated according to the CIE photopic
spectral luminous efficiency function, V(A. (Source: BS 5489-1:2013)

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)

The SFRA is a high-level assessment of the flood risk and provides essential information for the
allocation of land for development and the control of development in order to limit flood risk to people
and property where possible and manage it elsewhere. It provides the information needed to apply the
sequential risk-based approach required in Planning Policy Statement 25 'Development and Flood Risk'.

176
Page 213



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)
A study intended to assess overall potential for housing development in an area, including the
identification of specific housing sites with development potential over a 15 year time span.

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
A study intended to review the existing housing market in an area, consider the nature of future need
for market and affordable housing and to inform policy development.

Sui generis

In a class by itself or unique. Certain uses do not fall within any use class and are considered 'sui
generis', such as betting offices/shops, theatres, houses in multiple occupation, scrap yards, petrol
filling stations and retail warehouse clubs.

Sustainability Appraisal (SA)/Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)

A systematic and iterative appraisal process, incorporating the requirements of the Strategic
Environmental Assessment Directive. The purpose of sustainability appraisal is to appraise the social,
environmental and economic effects of the strategies and policies in a local development document
from the outset of the preparation process. This will ensure that decisions are made that accord with
sustainable development.

Sustainable transport

Any efficient, safe and accessible means of transport with overall low impact on the environment,
including walking and cycling, low and ultra-low emission vehicles, car sharing and public transport.
[Source: NPPF]

Town Centre

Area defined on the local authority’s proposal map, including the primary shopping area and areas
predominantly occupied by main town centre uses within or adjacent to the primary shopping area.
References to town centres or centres apply to city centres, town centres, district centres and local
centres (as identified in the hierarchy in Policy CP12) but exclude small parades of shops of purely
neighbourhood significance. Unless they are identified as centres in Local Plans, existing out-of-centre
developments, comprising or including main town centre uses, do not constitute town centres.
[source: NPPF]

Trade Draw

The proportion of trade that a development is likely to receive from customers within and outside its
catchment area. It is likely that trade draw will relate to a certain geographic area (i.e. the distance
people are likely to travel) and for a particular market segment (e.g. convenience retail). The best way
of assessing trade draw where new development is proposed is to look at existing proxies of that type
of development in other areas.

Transport assessment
A comprehensive and systematic process that sets out transport issues relating to a proposed
development. It identifies what measures will be required to improve accessibility and safety for all

177
Page 214



B&NES Local Plan 2016-2036: Options Consultation November 2018 (version for Cabinet 31 October 2018)

modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the car such as walking, cycling and public transport and
what measures will need to be taken to deal with the anticipated transport impacts of the
development. [Source: NPPF]

Transport statement
A simplified version of a transport assessment where it is agreed the transport issues arising out of
development proposals are limited and a full transport assessment is not required. [source: NPPF]

Travel plan

A long-term management strategy for an organisation or site that seeks to deliver sustainable
transport objectives through action and is articulated in a document that is regularly reviewed.
[Source: NPPF]

178
Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10

Bath & North East Somerset Council

Planning, Housing & Economic Development Policy Development &

MEETING Scrutiny Panel
EXECUTIVE FORWARD
PLAN REFERENCE:
MEETING | 6" November 2018
TITLE: HOMELESSNESS & ROUGH SLEEPING
WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report: None

1 THEISSUE

1.1 The Council delivers support and assistance to people at risk of becoming
homeless and people who are homeless by commissioning services, developing
effective partnerships with the voluntary sector and having an effective Housing
Options & Homelessness Team. This report provides an update on these
services including some proposed enhancements.

2 RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is asked to;

2.1 Note the contents of the report.

Printed on recycled paper Page 217




3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 This report is for information only, and as such, there are no direct financial
implications arising from this report.

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 The, Housing Act 1996, the Homelessness Act 2002 and the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017, all place significant statutory duties on local housing
authorities (the Council) to ensure that advice, assistance and other housing
duties are available to households who are homeless or threatened with
homelessness.

4.2 In addition the delivery of services for homeless people has implications for
corporate statutory considerations such as equalities, crime and disorder,
safeguarding and public health and inequalities.

5 THE REPORT

Background

5.1 The Council delivers support and assistance to homeless people by providing
services directly, working in partnership with the voluntary sector and the
commissioning of specialist services. The term homelessness is wide and
includes: households threatened with imminent homelessness; those living in non-
settled accommodation, such as “sofa surfing”, bed & breakfast or other types of
temporary accommodation; or people sleeping on the streets/tents/cars etc.

5.2 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, which came into effect in April 2018 and
which was the biggest change to homelessness legislation for 15 years, has
added two new duties, these being:

a) a duty to prevent homelessness; and

b) a duty to relieve homelessness.

5.3 These duties preface the existing statutory rehousing duty. The effect is that the
Council is required to provide enhanced homelessness support to all households
who are homeless, or threaten with homelessness within 56 days. In particular
the Council must now provide anyone who is threated with homelessness with
bespoke housing advice, including a supported Personal Housing Plan (PHP),
regardless of whether they have a local connection or are intentionally homeless.
There is also now a statutory duty for a range of organisations, such as probation,
prisons, hospitals, youth offending teams, job centre and social services, to refer
homelessness cases to the Council.

5.4 The statutory duty to provide temporary accommodation to eligible clients has not
changed significantly, albeit the need to provide a relief duty prior to a statutory
rehousing duty has meant that the time some clients spent in temporary has
increased. To be eligible for temporary accommodation a client must be
homeless, have a local connection, be in priority need and did not become
homeless intentionally. People with a priority need include people with dependent
children, pregnant women, 16/17 year olds, care leavers and anyone who is

Printed on recycled paper Page 218


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/7/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents

vulnerable because of old age, mental illness, handicap or physical disability or
other special reason.

5.5 Temporary accommodation (TA) provided by Bath and North East Somerset
Council includes:

a) Hostel accommodation occupied on a licence;
b) Flats occupied on an assured shorthold tenancy;
c) Bed & Breakfast accommodation.

5.6 Both the hostel accommodation and the flats are commissioned through Curo
Housing. The hostel provides high quality accommodation suitable for singles and
couples and small families of up to 3 people in 17 rooms with some shared
communal facilities. The dispersed flats comprise 6 self-contained two bedroom
properties and one, self-contained one bedroom property. These are family units
and are for people with more than two children.

5.7 The Council tries not to use Bed and Breakfast accommodation (B&B) but if we
have no alternative or it is an emergency, we aim to accommodate households in
B&B within district for the shortest time possible. We have TA placement
agreements with two Bath based B&B providers. However, Bath is a popular
tourist destination and sometimes B&B in the district is not available at short
notice. As such we therefore also have a TA placement agreement with a Bristol
B&B provider.

Current Situation

5.8 The Council’s Housing Options & Homelessness Team has, for a number of
years, taken a preventative approach to homelessness. As such the impact of the
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, reinforces this preventative approach, has
been relativity modest for the Council, at least compared to other Councils. Whilst
the team have not seen a significant increase in demand, at least at this stage,
there have been other implications. Firstly, the time taken to support each client
has increased significantly, placing increased demand upon the team. Indeed it is
not uncommon for initial interviews to now take 2/3 hours per client. Secondly, the
need to provide a relief duty prior to a statutory rehousing duty has meant that the
time some clients spent in temporary has increased. This has the overall effect of
increasing the number of households in TA.

5.9 At the time of writing there are 30 households in TA. Whilst this is above our self-
imposed target of 27, it remains extremely low when compared to local and
national comparators, as shown in the table below. Indeed if the rate of
households in TA replicated the national rate then B&NES would need to
accommodate around 200 households in TA, rather than the current 30. The
financial savings that this success creates are very high.

510 See over

Printed on recycled paper Page 219



Households in temporary accommodation at the end of March 2018 (Rate
per thousand households)

4.00
3
5 3.00
-=
[-7]
<]
L
E 1.00
3 o0 — [ ] ]
80 T ‘ T T
b England Bath & NE Bristol North Somerset South
a Somerset Gloucestershire
L]
2
= I Rate per 1000 households WoE Average

Rough Sleepers

5.11  Whilst rough sleeping is only a relatively small part of the wider homelessness
agenda it is the most visible element and the most challenging. High levels of
specialist support are required to provide positive outcomes. Working with local
partners, including health, welfare, housing and employment the following
services are provided to help rough sleepers make a transition into safer and
healthier lives:

a) Provision of 29 units of modern high quality accommodation with on-site
medical provision. (20 direct access & 9 move-on units)

b) Assertive outreach provided in partnership by Julian House, DHI and AWP —
supports individual rough sleepers into accommodation and other services
by working with them on the street.

c) A drop-in centre —providing help, healthcare, advice & assistance, hot
meals, showers, laundry facilities and meaningful activities services etc.

d) A Reconnection Service. Some rough sleepers arrive from other parts of the
country, having left accommodation and support networks behind. Wherever
possible, contact will be made to ascertain that accommodation is still
available and that appropriate support can continue. Where this is the case,
travel costs are covered and the person offered the opportunity to return
home. If there is any suggestion of violence or any other threat, this is not
implemented.

e) Supported Housing Gateway — web-based single access point for supported
housing schemes.

f) Priority on Homesearch Scheme for people in supported housing, and in
some cases rough sleepers. This helps release bed-spaces that can then be
allocated to rough sleepers.

g) A Task & Targeting multi-agency group that shares information on and
identifies solutions for named, entrenched rough sleepers.

5.12 In 2017 the official count estimated that there were 33 people sleeping

rough on a single night in B&NES, of which one in three did not have a local
Printed on recycled paper Page 220



connection with the area. The numbers for years 2016 to 2012 were 25, 22, 27,
33 & 22 respectively. In 2012 the assessment methodology changed and so
previous figures are not comparable. Importantly only 4 rough sleepers who were
identified in 2017 had also been identified in 2016. This confirms that move-on
support is effective. The 2018 count is scheduled within the next few weeks and it
is expected to show a modest decrease.

5.13 In August 2018 the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government
launched their Rough Sleeper Strategy. As part of this strategy B&NES have
recently successfully secured around £660k of funding over the period of 2018/19
to 2019/20 to provide the following additional services:

a) Safesleep - 20 additional bed-spaces for rough sleepers between November and
February

b) Advice and support within the Emergency Department at the RUH to divert patients
from sleeping rough

c) A Rapid Assessment & Reconnection Service working across local authority
boundaries to prevent ‘drift’ into Bath from areas without provision.

d) A tailored approach to Housing First, targeting an entrenched rough sleeper with a
high profile within criminal justice and anti-social behaviour statistics.

e) A wider Housing First project for rough sleepers, providing 5 units of
accommodation.

f) Mental Health Clinicians embedded within the outreach team. Working alongside
outreach workers, these specialists will be able to assess any mental health needs
and enable access to services, both of which have previously proved to be a barrier
to treatment.

g) A Flexible Support Pot will allow a wide range of services to provide specialist
support at the Safesleep service in the evenings. This will mean rough sleepers are
able to speak in person to agencies such as the Council’s Housing Options team,
Bath Mind, Citizens’ Advice, DHI, Curo and the Homeless Healthcare team as they
arrive.

h) Rent in advance will be available to ensure that offers of accommodation can be
accepted quickly and will not be missed out on due to lack of funds.

i) A Rough Sleeping Co-ordinator has been appointed to monitor these initiatives and
report within the Council, to MHCLG and partners on progress against targets.

6 RATIONALE

6.1 None. No recommendations, other than noting of report, made.
7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 None. Report for information only.

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 None. Report for information only.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

Printed on recycled paper Page 221



A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been undertaken, in
compliance with the Council's decision making risk management guidance.

Contact person

Graham Sabourn (01225 477949) & Ann Robins (01225 337975)

Background
papers

None

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an

alternative format

Printed on recycled paper

Page 222




Bath & North East
Somerset Council

PLANNING, HOUSING AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT POLICY
DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY PANEL

This Forward Plan lists all the items coming to the Panel over the next few months.

Inevitably, some of the published information may change; Government guidance recognises that the plan is a best
Qtjassessment, at the time of publication, of anticipated decision making. The online Forward Plan is updated regularly and

Q - .
gcan be seen on the Council’'s website at:

N
w

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1

The Forward Plan demonstrates the Council’'s commitment to openness and participation in decision making. It assists the

Panel in planning their input to policy formulation and development, and in reviewing the work of the Cabinet.

Should you wish to make representations, please contact the report author or, Democratic Services (01225 394458). A

formal agenda will be issued 5 clear working days before the meeting.

Agenda papers can be inspected on the Council’s website and at the Guildhall (Bath), Hollies (Midsomer Norton), Civic

Centre (Keynsham) and at Bath Central, and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

TT way epusaby


http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1

Ref Decision . Report Author .
Date Maker/s e Contact DIEEREr LEEE
6TH NOVEMBER 2018
31 Oct 2018 Cabinet
6 Nov 2018 PHED PDS BANES New Local Plan Options Consultation Simon De Beer Director Development
E3068 Tel: 01225 477616
6 Nov 2018 PHED PDS
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Graham Sabourn Dlrectorgrfol\Ethﬁnomy &
Tel: 01225 477949
15TH JANUARY 2019
15 Jan 2019 PHED PDS
S Director of Economy &
Q Housing Choices for Vulnerable People Graham Sabourn Growth
N Tel: 01225 477949
N
12TH MARCH 2019
12 Mar 2019 PHED PDS
Joint Spatial Plan Lisa Bartlett Director Development
Tel: 01225 477281
ITEMS YET TO BE SCHEDULED
PHED PDS
Local Industrial Strategy (WECA) John Wilkinson | DIrector ot Beonomy &
Tel: 01225 396593

The Forward Plan is administered by DEMOCRATIC SERVICES: Mark Durnford 01225 394458 Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk




	Agenda
	7 MINUTES - 11th September 2018
	9 BANES New Local Plan Options Consultation
	Attachment1
	0. Title page & contents.pdf
	1. Introduction.pdf
	2. Vision & Spatial Priorities.pdf
	3. Spatial Strategy including the rural areas.pdf
	4. Bath.pdf
	5. Keynsham & North Keynsham SDL.pdf
	6. Whitchurch SDL.pdf
	7. Somer Valley.pdf
	8. Development Management policies.pdf
	9. Glossary.pdf


	10 Homelessness & Rough Sleeping
	11 Panel Workplan

